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Bermuda Company No.: EC 24140
ARBN: 081 028 337
Malaysia Foreign Company Registration No.: 202002000012 (995782-P)

13. ACCOUNTANTS’ REPORT (Cont'd)

Reporting accountant’s opinion on the consolidated
financial statements contained in the accountant’s report
of OM Holdings Limited

The Board of Directors

OM Holdings Limited

10 Eunos Road 8

#09-03A Singapore Post Centre
Singapore 408600

Dear Sirs,

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial staternents of OM Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position
as at 31 December 2020, 2019, 2018 and 2017, and the consolidated statements of comprehensive
income, consolidated statements of changes in equity and consolidated statements of cash flows for the
years then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant

accounting policies.

These consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared for inclusion in the prospectus
of OM Holdings Limited in connection with the secondary listing of the entire issued and paid-up share
capital of the Company, by way of introduction, on the Main Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad

(“Bursa Securities”) and for no other purposes.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group gtve a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2020, 2019, 2018 and 2017,
and of the consolidated financial performance, consolidated changes in equity and consolidated cash
flows of the Group for the years ended on these dates, in accordance with International Financial

Reporting Standards (IFRSs).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Reporting Accountant’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Financial Statements secuon of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Professional
Conduct and Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Reporting accountant’s opinion on the consolidated
financial statements contained in the accountant’s report
of OM Holdings Limited (Cont’d)

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Statements

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and faw view in
accordance with IFRSs, and for such mnternal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or

error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The responsibilities of the Directors include overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Reporting Accountant’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arse from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

. Identfy and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulung from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override
of internal control.

. Obrain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are approprate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
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ACCOUNTANTS’ REPORT (Cont'd)

Reporting accountant’s opinion on the consolidated
financial statements contained in the accountant’s report
of OM Holdings Limited (Cont’d)

Reporting Accountant’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (Cont’d)

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accountng
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify cur opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group
to cease Lo continue as a going concern,

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal

control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,

related safeguards.
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Restriction on Distribution and Use

This report has been prepared solely to comply with the Prospectus Guidelines — Equity issued by the
Securities Commission Malaysia and for inclusion in the prospectus of OM Holdings Limited in
connection with the secondary listing of the entire 1ssued and paid-up share capital of the Company, by
way of introduction, on the Main Market of Bursa Securities and should not be relied upon for any other
purposes. We do not assume responsibility to any other person for the contents of this report.

H’DMW\,LL‘D

Foo Kon Tan LLP

Firm Number: T101.L0002B
Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants

Ho Teik Tiong
Member Number: 01593
Public Accountant, Singapore

Dated: 30 April 2021
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13. ACCOUNTANTS’ REPORT (Cont’d)

Bermuda Company No.: EC 24140
ARBN: 081 028 337
Malaysia Foreign Company Registration No.: 202002000012 (995782-P)

OM Holdings Limited
and its subsidiaries

Consolidated statements of financial position
as at 31 December 2020, 2019, 2018 and 2017

The Group
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2020 2019 2018 2017
Note A$'000 A$'000 A$000 A$'000

Assets
Non-Current
Property, plant and equipment 4 612,684 698,406 660,743 608,915
Land use rights 5 8,922 9,920 10,070 9,370
Exploration and evaluation costs 6 2,326 963 1,808 2,167
Mine development costs 7 16,726 23,363 23,988 32,026
Investment property 8 574 642 - -
Right-of-use assets 9 1,992 7,131 - -
Deferred tax assets 10 13,788 11,392 - 24,076
Interest in associates 12 126,832 116,358 126,339 116,544
Other investments 13 1,888 - - -

785,732 868,175 822,948 793,098
Current
Inventories 14 216,307 228,275 267,042 252,480
Trade and other receivables 15 62,992 37,809 90,570 91,025
Capitalised contract costs 16 1,856 1,015 2,759 -
Prepayments 3,528 3,754 3,035 6,076
Cash and bank balances 17 63,031 63,712 91,819 34,376

347,714 334,565 455,225 383,957

_Total assets 1,133,446 1,202,740 1,278,173 1,177,055

Equity
Capital and Reserves
Share capital 18 36,931 36,931 36,931 36,671
Treasury shares 19 (2,330) (2,330) (2,330) (2,330)
Reserves 20 365,042 390,277 354,016 193,625

399,643 424,878 388,617 227,966
Non-controlling interests 68,596 82,990 62,508 59,782
Total equity 468,239 507,868 451,125 287,748
Liabilities
Non-Current
Borrowings 21 288,279 385,549 436,120 468,859
Lease liabilities 22 - 415 1,102 ~ -
Trade and other payables 23 54,791 60,230 112,879 139,725
Provisions 24 10,869 14,453 9,931 6,032
Deferred tax liabilities 10 1,229 1,237 3,301 1,677
Deferred capital grant 25 10,730 12,605 13,315 12,776

366,313 475,176 575,546 629,069
Current
Trade and other payables 23 155,760 113,168 164,288 213,600
Provisions 24 1,806 - - -
Contract liabilities 26 6,064 4,859 3,011 -
Borrowings 21 126,766 88,369 76,806 41,822
Lease liabilities 22 1,255 5,990 - -
Deferred capital grant 25 736 809 803 726
Income tax payables 6,507 6,501 6,594 4,090

298,894 219,696 251,502 260,238
Total liabilities 665,207 694 872 827,048 889,307

1,133,446 1,202,740 - 1,278,173 1,_177,055

_Total equity and liabilities

The annexed notes form an integral part of and should be read 1n conjuncuon with these financial statements.
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Bermuda Company No.: EC 24140
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13. ACCOUNTANTS’ REPORT (Cont'd)

OM Holdings Limited
and its subsidiaries

Consolidated statements of comprehensive income
for the financial years ended 31 December 2020, 2019, 2018 and 2017

Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2020 2019 2018 2017
Note A$'000 A$'000 A%$'000 A%'000
Revenue 3 784,633 1,026,454 1,510,416 988,182
Cost of sales (688,371) (874,001) (1,157,128) (778,597)
Gross profit 96,262 152,453 353,288 209,585
Other income 27 6,756 4,334 2,356 10,194
Distribution costs (41,661) (47,692) (54,566) (44,250)
Administrative expenses (15,924) (20,383) (35,244) (23,647)
Other operating expenses (37,787) (27,952) (30,984) (56,501)
Finance costs 28 (28,827) (32,220) (44,881) (43,902)
(Loss)/profit from operations (21,181) 28,540 189,969 51,479
Share of results of associates 16,525 30,381 46,958 21,138
(Loss)/profit before income tax 28 (4,656) 58,921 236,927 72,617
Income tax 29 1,718 (2,849) (52,270) 18,757
{Loss)/profit for the year (2,938) 56,072 184,657 91,374
Other comprehensive (loss)/income, net of
tax:
Items that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss
Currency translation differences arising from
foreign subsidiaries (attributable to owners of
the Company) (24,160) 412 19,693 (5.427)
Cash flow hedges 30 1,253 919 461 1,360
(22,907) 1,331 20,154 (4,067)
Items that will not be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss
Currency translation differences arising from
foreign subsidiaries (attributable to
non-controlling interests) (6,417) (427) 4,716 (2,032)
(6,417) (427) 4,716 (2,032)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income for
the year, net of tax (29,324) 904 24,870 (6,099)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the
year B (32,262) 56,976 209,527 85,275
Profit/(loss) attributable to:
Owners of the Company 5,352 56,641 161,722 92,656
Non-controlling interests (8,290) (569) 22,935 (1,282)
- - (2,938) 56,072 184,657 91,374
Total comprehensive (loss)/income
attributable to:
Owners of the Company (17,868) 57,742 181,761 88,249
Non-cortrolling interests (14,394) (766) 27,766 (2,974)
- I - - _ (32.262) 56,976 209,527 85,275
Profit per share Cents Cents Cents Cents
- Basic 31 0.73 7.69 22.05 12.67
- Diluted 31 0.73 7.69 21.79 12.06

The annexed notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjuncuon with these financal statements.
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Bermuda Company No.: EC 24140
ARBN: 081 028 337
Malaysia Foreign Company Registration No.: 202002000012 (995782-P)

13. ACCOUNTANTS’ REPORT (Contd)

OM Holdings Limited
and its subsidiaries

11

Consolidated statements of cash flows
for the financial years ended 31 December 2020, 2019, 2018 and 2017

Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
31 31 31 31
December December December December
2020 2019 2018 2017
Note A$'000 A$'000 A$'000 A$'000
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
(Loss)/profit before income tax (4,656) 58,921 236,927 72,617
Adjustments for:
Amortisation of land use rights 5,28 206 204 193 186
Amortisation of deferred capital grant 25,28 (817) (814) (760) (737)
Amortisation of mine development costs 7,28 6,505 5,147 9,052 11,143
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 4,28 43,285 42,369 36,751 32,985
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 9,28 5,644 6,156 - -
Depreciation of investment property 8,28 11 1 - -
Write off of exploration and evaluation costs 6, 28 - 2,706 932 211
Write off of goodwill from acquisition of subsidiary 11,28 - - 2,550
Write off of property, plant and equipment 28 36 121 116 586
Fair value gain on other investment 27 (1,388) - - -
Write off of warrants 20, 28 - 620 - -
Write back of inventories - - - (1)
Loss on deemed disposal and re-purchase - - - 505
Loss/(Gain) on disposal of property, plant
and equipment 27,28 - 121 - (53)
Lease modification 28 296 - - -
Gain on early debt settlement 27 - - - (3,955)
Unwinding of discount on non-current trade payables 27,28 268 1,128 2,464 (1,508)
Reclassification from hedging reserve to profit or loss 30 1,253 919 461 1,360
Write-down of inventories to net realisable value 14, 28 3,397 - - -
Impairment loss on trade and other receivables 15, 28 - 278 - -
Interest expense 28 28,827 32,220 44,881 43,902
Interest income 27 (691) (898) (405) (187)
Share of results of associates (16,525) (30,381) (46,958) (21,138)
Operating profit before working capital changes 65,651 118,828 286,204 135,906
Decrease/(Increase) in inventories 4,196 38,994 (13,163) 50,981
(Increase)/Decrease in trade receivables (11,397) 44,860 1,034 (5,963)
(Increase)/Decrease in capitalised contract costs (534) 1,754 (2,759) -
(Increase)/Decrease in prepayments, deposits and
other receivables (631) 7,208 2,573 (9,647)
Increase in contract liabifities 765 1,859 3,301 -
Increase/(Decrease) in trade payables 28,605 (71,576) (53,426) (48,838)
(Decrease)Increase in other payables (2,049) (17,548) (38,184) 15,826
(Decrease)/increase in provisions (1.646) 4,522 3,899 37)
Cash generated from operations 82,960 128,901 189.479 138,228
Income tax paid (6.401) (30.199) (9,886) (4,437)
Net cash generated from operating activities 76,559 98,702 179,593 133,791
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Payments for exploration and evaluation costs 6 (1.363) (1,861) (573) (512)
Payments for mine development costs 7 - (4,522) (1,014) -
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 4 (15,490) (76,564) (29,172) (45,242)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant
and equipment - 95 - 86
Acquisition of a subsidiary 11 - - (2,550) 375
Purchase of other investment (500) - - -
Loan repayment and dividend received from
an associate 6,048 40,362 35,623 18,457
Interest received 27 691 898 405 187
Net cash (used in)/generated from investing activities (10,614) (41,592) 2,719 (26,649)

The annexed notes {form an integral parr of and should be read 1 conjuncuon with thesc financial statements
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Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2020 2019 2018 2017
A$'000 A$'000 A$'000 A$'000
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Repayment of bank and other loans (Note A) (33,185) (67,594) (41,960) (74,973)
Proceeds from bank and other ioans (Note A) 12,972 23,081 - -
Principal repayment of lease liabilities (Note A) (6.241) (6,415) - -
Repayment to finance lease creditors (Note A) - - (921) (975)
Buy-back of warrants - - (641) -
Issue of ordinary shares, net of issue costs - - 2,060 -
Capital contribution by non-controlling interest shareholder - 22,476 - -
Acquisition of irredeemable convertible preference shares in
subsidiary from non-controlling interest shareholder - - (25,040) -
(Increase)/Decrease in cash collateral (2,268) (2,039) (8.310) 4,301
Dividend paid (7.367) (23,329) (22,101) -
Interest paid (Note A) (30,013) (33,664) (38,252) (24,487)
Net cash used in financing activities (66,102) (87,484) (135,165) (96,134)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivatents (157) (30,374) 47,147 11,008
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 48,900 79,046 29,913 20,571
Exchange difference on translation of cash and cash
equivalents at beginning of the year (2,792) 228 1,986 (1,666)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year (Note 17} _ 45,951 48,900 79,046 29,913

The anncxed notes form an integral part of and should be read 1 conjuncrion with these financial statements.

218



194

"SJUDWISIEIS [EIDUEUN 35341 I UONSUN{UOd Ul pear aq pjnoys pue Jo 11ed [1321UT UL WIOY $2I0U PIXIUUL YT,

i ZLL'. 629'L€ - - - (c20'ce) J - - 965'8 sejgeked 1saieyu| - sejqeded Jayjo pue epei |
8LE'CLY - L6S'9 - - - (¥65°'£9) 180°cZ Pe8'LLS SUBO| 180 pue yueq
- - - - (z60°1) - - - Z60'L seses| adueul
A Z60'L L6S 8y #96'9 S6v'9 (169) (S1v'9) - - sanliqel| 8ses
000.$v 000.8v 000.3V 000.3V 0003V 0003V 000.%3V 0003V 000.$v
6102 asuadxa aoualaylp s8ses| 9l Sy pred SMono SMoyul 6102 [
18quwadeq 1S918u| abueyoxa MaN jo pEIENTT yse) ysen Aenuep
LE | uBtaiog uondopy |
SWa) Yseo-uoN
2WodUT oimc@Luu&EoU JO JuSWIaIE]S PIJEPIOSUOT) 9Y] Ul JSOD IDUBULJ, SE PIJISSE[D SJSOD wcS/OEOQ JO UONESTIIOWE Y3 O PIIB[IT SI ST ()
[ z269°¢ 282'92 - - - (202'62) - - ZhL sa|qefed Jsala)u) - ss|geAed Joyl0 pue apel )
SY0'SLy DR 2 A (y68'0F) - - - (s81'ee) 7.6'C) 816'cLy sueo] Jay)o pue yued
0.9't a0¢ (22) 096 (v9) (90¢) (1¥2'9) - z60'L saniigel| ases A
000,V 000.3V 000.%Y 000.3Y 000.3Y 000.$V 000.3v 000.3V 000.$V ‘
0202 asuadxa aousIaylp sases) uoyeoyipow | pred SMopINo Smopul 0202
J1aqua0aQ 1S813)U| abueyoxa M3AN asean 188181U| usep ysen Aenuep i
L ﬁ ubaio4 L ,
SWwa})l yses-uoN |
“wEui \ﬁﬂjvu wcmuﬂ:uxu nmu.ﬁfwﬁum MCMUCNCC Se Tumﬂmwﬁu Auﬁ ZH)D 10 ncuwvﬁ v>m£ mBOG meu Luﬁﬂkx uO.w mEvu.mmO COUNEUCOUUH ULH mO uuﬂmoﬂuﬂ@ uﬁu md MCSzC:Cm ULF
saijiai3oe Buioueuly woay Buisue saljijiqel] JO uoj3ei|Iouods3ay Y 330N
{ {
/102 pue 8107 ‘6102 ‘020z 1oqwasds( |£ papus siesA [eioueul) auy Joj
APEOOV SMO|} |sed Jo sjusauiajels pajepljosuo)
saleipisqns sj1 pue
g

pajiwi sbulpjod WO

(d-z8.666) 210000200202 : ON uoensiBay Auedwon ublaio eiskeley
/€€ 820 180 ‘NgYY
Ovl¥z O3 'oN Auedwod epnuiag

(P.1t00) 140d3Y SINVINNODOVY

€l



0cce

SIU3UWIALE]S [RIDUBUTY 22Ul Yllm COUUCSMEOU Ut peadt oq p[noys pue jo uum& ﬁﬂumUuCA ue w110y $310U CUXUCC« UL

899'80S (gs6'e) 60Y'L (9g¥'vE) (e26'vL) - €¥9' 19 sbuimouiog
€10 - - - (cz6) - 886°C $8sed| doueUl
000.%3v 000.%v 0003V 000.3v 000.8v 000.$v 000.3v 4
4102 Ueo| uo [eniooy soualaylp SMOYINO SMOJjul yse)) 2102 _
19qWadaq g uswiedus| abueyoxa ysepn Aenuer | _
| ubialo4
SWwia)l YsSeo-UoN \\
966’8 €8.'vp - (¥S1'8e) - - 126°1L se|qeked 1sala1u] - sa|gqeAed Jayl0 pue apel| ‘
‘ pe8LLS - ozl'sy - (096'Lt) - 899'805 SUEO] J8Y10 pue jued |
; Z60°L 86 - (86) (12z6) - €L0'C $9sB9| BoUEUI4 ‘
0008V 000.$v 000.$v 0008V 000.$v 000.8v 000.8v _
8102 asuadxa 9oUBIBYIP pled jsaioyu| SMOIINO SMOJJUI yseD) 8102
Jsqwsdaq Lg 18818)U| aBueyoxs ysen Aenuep | _
uba104
_‘ SWwia)l Yseo-UoN

144

(P3uo)) sayiaoe Buidueuly wouiy Buisiie saljijigel] 0 UOEI|IDU0DDY Y 930N

/102 pue 8107 ‘6102 ‘020z 18quwsoaq L§ pepus sieah jeloueul) syj 1o}
(p,Ju09) SMO[} YSeD Jo SjusLuale}s pajepl|osuon

sauelpisqns s3jl pue
pajiwiy sbuipjoy WO

(P3u0D) 1H0dIY SINVINNODIOY ‘€L

(d-28.566) 210000200202 "ON uonensiBay Auedwo) ublosod eiskeiepy

LE€ 820 L8O ‘NGYVY
oviyz 03 oN Auedwon epnulag




Bermuda Company No.: EC 24140
ARBN: 081 028 337
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13. ACCOUNTANTS’ REPORT (Contd)

OM Holdings Limited 15

and its subsidiaries

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the financial years ended 31 December 2020, 2019, 2018 and 2017

1 General information

These consolidated financial statements of OM Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectvely, the “Group™) have been prepared for inclusion in the prospectus of OM Holdings Limited in
connection with the secondary listing of the entire issued and paid-up share capital of the Company, by way
of introduction, on the Main Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa Securities”) and for no

other purposes.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the financial years ended 31 December 2020, 2019,
2018 and 2017 were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the directors of the Company on

30 Apul 2021.

The Company is incorporated as a limited lability company listed on the Australian Securities Exchange and
1s domuciled 1n Bermuda.

The registered office is located at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street Hamilton, HM11 Bermuda.

2(a) Basis of preparation

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRSs”), which collectively includes all applicable individual IFRSs and Interpretations approved by the
International Accounting Standard Board (“IASB”), and all applicable individual International Accounting
Standards (“IASs”) and Interpretations as originated by the Board of the International Accounting Standards

Committee and adopted by the IASB.

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except as disclosed in the

accounting policies below.

The financial statements are presented in Australian Dollar which is the Company’s functional currency. All
financial information 1s presented in Australian Dollar, unless otherwise stated.

Impace of COVID-19 in the financial year ended 31 December 2020
The ongoing and evolving Coronavirus Disease (“COVID-19”) pandemic has had a significant impact on the
global economy and the economies of the countries in which the Group operates. There is significant
uncertainty as to the duration of the pandemic and its impact on those economies. In regard to the Group,
the consideration of COVID-19 has been in the following areas:

* Impairment of non-financial assets (Notes 4, 5, 6, 7 and 9)

* Recognition of deferred tax assets (Note 10)

* Allowance for expected credit losses of trade and other receivables (Note 15)

Significant accounting estimates and judgements
The preparauon of the financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of judgements,

esumates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and habilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues
and expenses during the financial year. Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge
of current events and actions, actual results may differ from those estimates.

The cntcal accounting esumates and assumpuons used and areas involving a high degree of judgement are

described below.
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OM Holdings Limited 16
and its subsidiaries
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the financial years ended

31 December 2020, 2019, 2018 and 2017

2(a) Basis of preparation (Cont’d)

Significant accounting estimates and judgements (Cont’d)

Sionificant judpements in applving accounting policies

Income taxes (Note 29)
The Group has exposures to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions. Significant judgement is 1involved in

determining the group-wide provision for income taxes. There are certain transactions and computations for
which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group
recognises labilities for expected tax issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due.

Where the final tax outcome of these matters 1s different from the amounts that were initially recognised,
such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such a

determination is made.

Determination of functional currency

The Group measures foreign currency translation in the respective currencies of the Company and its
subsidiaries. In determining the functional currencies of the entities in the Group, judgement is required to
determine the currency that mainly influences sales prices for goods and services and of the country whose
competitive forces and regulations mainly determines the sales prices of its goods and services. The
functional currencies of the entities in the Group are determined based on management’s assessment of the
economic environment in which the entities operate and the entities’ process of determining sales prices.

Allowance for expected credit losses (ECL) of trade and other receivables (Note 15)

Allowance for ECL of trade and other receivables are based on assumptions about risk of default and
expected Joss rates. The Group uses judgement in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the
ECL calculation, based on the Group’s past collection history, existing market conditions as well as forward
looking estimates at each reporting date. Probability of default constitutes a key input in measuring ECL.
Probability of default is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon, the calculation of
which includes historical data, assumptions and expectations of future conditions.

The Group adopt a simplified approach and uses a provision matrix to calculate ECL for receivables which
are trade in nature. The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of various customer
segments that have similar loss patterns. The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust historical credit loss experience with
forward-looking information. The assessment of the correlation between historical observed default rates,
forecast economic conditions and ECL is a significant estimate. The amount of ECL is sensitive to changes
in circumstances and forecast economic conditions.

The Group apply the 3-stage general approach to determine ECL for receivables which are non-trade in
nature. ECL 1s measured as an allowance equal to 12-month ECL for stage-1 assets, or lifetime ECL for
stage-2 or stage-3 assets. An asset moves from stage-1 to stage-2 when its credit risk increases significantly
and subsequendy to stage-3 as it becomes credit-impaired. In assessing whether credit risk has significantly
increased, the Group considers qualitative and quantitative reasonable and supportable forward looking
information. Lifetime ECL represents ECL that will result from all possible default events over the expected
life of a financial instrument whereas 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifeume ECL expected to
result from default events possible within 12 months after the reporting date.

Allowance for impaument of trade and other receivables (Note 15) (before 1 January 2018)

Allowance for impairment of trade and other receivables are based on the assessment of the recoverability of
trade and other receivables. Allowances are applied to wrade and other receivables where events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the balances may not be collecuble. The i1denufication of impairment of trade
and other receivables requires the use of judgement and esnmates. Where the expected outcome is different
from the original estimate, such difference will impact the carrving value of trade receivables and impairment

allowance in the period in which such estimate has been changed.
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2(a) Basis of preparation (Cont’d)

Significant accounting estimates and judgements (Cont’d)

Signifreant judgements tn applying accounting policies (cont'd)

Deferred tax assets (Note 10)

The Group reviews the carrying amount of deferred tax assets at the end of each reporung period. Deferred
tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable income will be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilised. This involves judgement regarding future financial
performance of the partcular legal entity or tax group in which the deferred tax asset has been recognised.
Management has assessed that it is reasonable to recognise deferred tax assets based on probable future

taxable income.

Determination of cash-generating units (CGU) for non-financial assets

A CGU 1s defined as the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows that are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets. In determining appropriate CGU
level, the Group has considered whether there are: active markets for intermediate products; external users
of the processing assets; mining or smelting operations through the use of shared infrastructure; stand-alone
mines or smelung plants operated on a portfolio basis. Significant judgement 1s required by management to
determine whether multiple assets should be grouped to form a CGU. Management has identified the
appropriate CGU level to be the mine or smelting plant together with their direct processing assets at the

same location.

Critical assumptions used and accounting estimates in applying accounting polictes

Impairment of non-financial assets

Non-financial assets comprise property, plant and equipment (Note 4), land use rights (Note 5), exploration
and evaluation costs (Note 6), mine development costs (Note 7) and rght-of-use assets (Note 9).
Determining whether the carrying value is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-
generating units. This requires the Group to estmate the future cash flows expected from the cash-
generating units and an appropriate discount rate in order to calculate the present value of cash flows.
Management has performed the impairment test and assessed that no impairment was required. The carrying
amount is disclosed in the statement of financial position.

Net realisable value of inventories (Note 14)

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the
estimated cost necessary to make the sale. These estumates are based on the current market conditons and
historical experiences of selling products of similar nature. It could change significantly as a result of
competitor actions in response to changes in market conditions. Management reassesses the esumatons at
the end of each reporting date. The carrying amount of the inventories as at 31 December 2020 is
A$216,307,000 (2019 - A§228,275,000; 2018 - A§267,042,000; 2017 - A§252,480,000).
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2(a) Basis of preparation (Cont’d}

Significant accounting estimates and judgements (Cont’d)

Critical assumptions used and accounting estimates in applving accounting policies (cont'd)

Estimation of the incremental borrowing rate (“IBR”)

For the purpose of calculating the right-of-use asset and lease hLability, an entity applies the interest rate
implicit 1n the lease (“IRIIL”) and, if the IRIIL is not readily determinable, the entity shall use its IBR
applicable to the lease asset. The IBR s the rate of interest that the entity would have to pay to borrow over
a similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the
right-of-use asset i1 a similar economic environment. For most of the leases whereby the Group is the
lessee, the IRIIL is not readily determinable. Therefore, the Group estimates the IBR relevant to each lease
asset by using observable inputs (such as market interest rate and asset yield) when available, and then
making certain lessee specific adjustments (such as a group entity’s credit ratng). The carrying amounts of
the Group’s right-of-use assets and lease labilites are disclosed in Note 9 and 22 respectively. An
increase/decrease of 50 basis points in the estimated IBR will not significantly decrease/increase the
Group’s right-of-use assets and lease liabilities.

2(b) Interpretations and amendments to published standards

The Group has adopted all the new and revised IFRS, IFRS interpretations (“IFRS INT”) and amendments
to IFRS, effecuve for the financial years that are relevant to them.

Effective date
(Annual periods
beginning on

Reference Description or after)
Amendments to [FRS 3 Definition of a Business 1 January 2020
Amendments to IAS 1 and LAS 8  Definztion of Materia! 1 January 2020
Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform 1 January 2020
and IFRS 7
Revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 1 January 2020
IFRS 16 Leases 1 January 2019
IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments 1 January 2019
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 1 January 2018
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 1 January 2018
Amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows 1 January 2017
Amendments to [AS 12 Recogrition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrecognised Losses 1 January 2017

The adoption of these new and revised IFRS pronouncements does not result in significant changes to the
Group’s accounting policies and has no material effect on the amounts or the disclosures reported for the

current or prior reporting periods, except as discussed below.
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2(b) Interpretations and amendments to published standards (Cont’d)

IFRS 16 Leases
IFRS 16 Leases supersedes LAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease, SIC-15

Operating L eases-Incentives and SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease, and
pronounces new or amended requirements with respect to lease accounting. For lessee accounung, IFRS 16
introduces significant changes by removing the distinction between operating and finance leases and
requiring the recognition of a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at commencement for all leases, except
for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets when such recognition exemptons are adopted. For
lessor accounting, the requirements have remained largely unchanged. The impact of the adopton of IFRS
16 on the Group’s financial statements are discussed below.

The date of initial application of IFRS 16 for the Group was 1 January 2019. The Group has elected to
transition to IFRS 16 using the cumulative catch-up (or modified retrospective) approach which requires the
Group to recognise the cumulative effect of initially applying IFRS 16 as an adjustment to the opening
balance of retained earnings at the date of initial application, without restatement of comparatives under IAS

17.

(a) Definition of a lease

The new definiuon of a lease under IFRS 16 mainly relates to the concept of ‘control’ that determines
whether a contract contains a lease on the basis of whether the customer has the right to control the use of
an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration, which is in contrast to the concept of

'risks and rewards' under TAS 17.

The Group has elected to apply the practical expedient available on transition to IFRS 16 not to reassess
whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. Accordingly, the superseded definition of a lease under 1AS 17
continues to be applied to those leases entered into, ot modified, before 1 January 2019, and the Group
applies the new definiton of a lease and related guidance set out in IFRS 16 only to those lease contracts
entered into, or modified, on or after 1 January 2019. After the transition to IFRS 16, the Group shall
reassess whether a contract is, or contains, a lease only if the terms and conditions of the contract are

changed.

The new requirements for identifying a lease under IFRS 16 do not change significantly the scope of
contracts that will meet the definition of a lease for the Group.

(b) Lessee accounting
() Former gperating leases

Before the adopuon of IFRS 16, the Group’s non-cancellable operating lease payments in future reporting
periods for leaschold buildings and office equipment, were not tecognised as habilities 1n the statement of
financial position but were disclosed as commitments in the notes to the financial statements, and these lease
payments were reported as rental expenses in the profit or loss over the lease term on a straight-line basis
and presented under operatng activities in the statement of cash flows. Under IFRS 16, the Group
recognises right-of-use assets and lease liabilities in the statement of financial position for these outstanding
lease payments, reports depreciation of right-of-use assets and interest expense on lease labilities in the
profit or loss, and presents these lease payments as principal repayment and interest paid separately under
financing activities in the statement of cash flows.

Under IFRS 16, lease incentives are recognised as part of the measurement of the right-of-use assets and
lease habilives whereas under IAS 17, they resulted in the recognition of a lease incentive hiability, amortsed
as a reducuon of rental expenses on a straight-line basis.

The Group has clected, as a practical expedient of IFRS 16, not to separate non-leasc components from
lease components for all classes of underlying assets and instead account for each lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single lease component, except if the non-lease component is an
embedded derivauve according to IFRS 9.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the financial years ended
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2(b) Interpretations and amendments to published standards (Cont’d)

IFRS 16 Leases (Cont’d)
(b) Lessee accountng (Cont’d)

(z) Former operating leases (vont'd)
For short-term leases and leases of low-value assets, the Group has elected for exempton under IFRS 16

from recognising their right-of-use assets and lease Labilities, and to report lease expenses in the profit or

loss on a straight-line basis.

On 1 January 2019, the Group has applied the following IFRS 16 transition provisions under the cumulative
catch-up approach for each lease, or each portfolio of leases with reasonably similar characteristics, formerly

classified as operating lease under IAS 17:

. recognises a lease liability at the present value of the remaining lease payments using the lessee’s
incremental borrowing rate for the undetlying lease asset;
e recognises a rght-of-use asset, on a lease-by-lease basis, for leasehold buildings and office

equipment, at an amount equal to the lease liability, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or
accrued lease payments relating to that lease recognised in the statement of financial position
immediately before the date of initial application;

. applies LAS 36 Impairment of Assets to perform an impairment review of the right-of-use asset; and

o adjusts any difference berween the carrying amounts of the nght-of-use asset and the lease liability
to the opening balance of retained earnings.

The Group has adopted the following IFRS 16 pracucal expedients when applying the cumulative catch-up

transition approach to leases formerly classified as operating lease under IAS 17:

] applies a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar characteristics;

o adjusts the right-of-use asset at the date of initial application by the amount of provision for
onerous leases recognised under IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets in the
statement of financial position immediately before the date of inital application, as an alternative to
performing an impairment review under IAS 36;

o elects not to recognise the right-of-use asset and lease Lability for a lease with a lease term ending
within twelve months of the date of initial application;

o excludes initial direct costs from the measurement of the right-of-use asset at the date of initial
application; and

. uses hindsight for determining the lease term when the contract contains options to extend ot

terminate the lease.

(1) Former finance leases
On 1 January 2019, with regards to the Group’s leases of plant and machinery and motor vehicles that were

formerly classified as finance leases under 1AS 17, the carrying amounts of the leased assets (in property,
plant and equipment) and obligations under finance leases immediately before the date of initial application
become respectively the opening balance of the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets and lease liabtlities
under IFRS 16. Subsequently, the Group accounts for these right-of-use assets and lease liabilities in
accordance with IFRS 16.

(i) Land use rights
The Group had made prepayments for the usage of land in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) and

Malaysia under formerly known operating leases, which were presented as land use rights in the statement of
financial position. Under IFRS 16, these prepaid land use rights form part of the Group’s right-of-use assets.
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2(b) [Interpretations and amendments to published standards (Cont’d)

IFRS 16 Leases (Cont’d)
{0 Lessor accounting

The Group contracts (as a lessor) with tenants to rent out office premises for which the Group has
continued to classify as an operating lease using similar principles as in JIAS 17. Therefore, IFRS 16 does not
impact the operating leases where the Group is the lessor.

(d) Deferred tax effects on adoption of [FRS 16

In certain jurisdictions that the Group operates in, tax deductions are available only for the lease payments
as they are paid, and no tax deduction is allowed for the leased assets depreciation or finance cost. On 1
January 2019, these tax circurnstances gave rise to temporary differences on initial recognition of both the
rght-of-use asset and lease liability. However, these deferred tax effects are not significant and therefore not

recognised.

() Financial impact of initial application of IFRS 16

The weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied to measure the Group’s lease liabilities recognised
in the statement of financial position on 1 January 2019 was 3.82%.

A reconciliation of the differences between the Group’s operating lease commutments previously disclosed
in the financial statements as at 31 December 2018 and the Group’s lease labilities recognised in the
statement of financial position on 1 January 2019 was as follows:

A$’000
Operating lease commitments as at 31 December 2018 6,943
(Less)/Add effects of:
Short-term leases exempted from recognition (982)
Leases of low-value assets exempted from recognition (55)
Discounting based on the weighted average incremental borrowing rate (503)
Obligations under finance lease at 31 December 2018 reclassified to lease liabilities 1,092
6,495

Lease liabilities as at 1 January 2019

The effects of adoption of IFRS 16 on the Group’s financial statements as at 1 January 2019 were as follows:

Increase/
(Decrease)
A$’000
Assets:
Property, plant and equipment (848)
Right-of-use assets 6,251
5,403
Liabilities:
Borrowings — obligations under finance leases (1,092)
Lease liabilities 6,495
5,403

Equity:
Reserves — Retained profits
Non-controlling interests
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2(b) Interpretations and amendments to published standards (Cont’d)

IFRIC 23 Uncertainty of Income Tax Treatments

This Interpretation provides guidance on how to determine an enuty’s taxable profits (or tax losses), tax
bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates where there is uncertainty over income tax to be
accounted for under IAS 12. The Interpretation is effectve for annual reportng periods beginning on or
after 1 Januvary 2019. Management has reassessed all deferred and current income tax assets and liabiliues
and there 1s no matertal impact on the consolidation financial statements of the Group

The Group has adopted IFRIC 23 for the first time in the curtent year. IFRIC 23 sets out how to determine
the accountng tax position when there is uncertainty over income tax treatments. The Interpretauon
requires the Group to:
. determine whether uncertain tax positions are assessed separately or as a group; and
° assess whether it is probable that a tax authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment used, or
proposed to be used, by an entity in its income tax filings, as follows:
- if yes, the Group should determine its accounting tax position consistently with the tax
treatment used or planned to be used in its income tax filings; or
- if no, the Group should reflect the effect of uncertainty in determining its accounting tax
positon using either the most likely amount or the expected value method.

There 1s no material umpact to the Group’s financial statements.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

IFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive princdiple for determining whether, how much and when revenue 1s
recognised. It replaced IAS 18 Revenxe, IAS 11 Construction Contracts and related interpretations. The core
principle of IFRS 15 is that an entty recognises revenue related to the transfer of promised goods or
services when control of the goods or services passes to the customer. The amount of revenue recognised
should reflect the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or
services. The Group has adopted IFRS 15 using the modified retrospective method.

The Group sells a significant proportion of its products on Cost and Freight (CFR) or Cost, Insurance &
Freight (CIF) Incoterms, where the total sales price is allocated to the separate performance oblbgations; the
first being the product and the second being the other costs, insurance and freight. The sales price allocated
to the product is recognised at the point in time at which control of the goods passes to the customer at the
loading port, which does not differ significantly from the current standard, IAS 18. The sales price for the
costs, Insurance and freight are required to be accounted for as separate performance obligations with
revenue recognised over time as the service is rendered whereas under IAS 18, the Group recognises such
shipping and other freight revenue and accrues the associated costs in full on loading.

The Group has not restated the comparative information as the impact to the Group Is insignificant. The
Group has quantified the amount to be A$1,729,000 affecting the opening retained profits as at 1 January

2018.

228



Bermuda Company No.: EC 24140
ARBN: 081 028 337
Malaysia Foreign Company Registration No.: 202002000012 (995782-P)

13. ACCOUNTANTS’ REPORT (Cont’d)

OM Holdings Limited 23
and its subsidiaries

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the financial years ended

31 December 2020, 2019, 2018 and 2017

2(b) Interpretations and amendments to published standards (Cont’d)

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

IFRS 9 sets out requirements for recognising and measuring financal assets, financial Labilites and some
contracts to buy or sell non-financial items. This standard replaces IAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement. The Group has adopted IFRS 9 using the modified retrospective method.

Classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities

IFRS 9 largely retains the existing requirements in IAS 39 for the classification and measurement of financial
liabilities. However, it eliminated the previous IAS 39 categories for held-to-maturity investments, loans and
receivables and available-for-sale financial assets.

The adoption of IFRS 9 has not had a significant effect on the Group’s accounting policies related to
financial liabilities and derivative financial instruments. The impact of IFRS 9 on the classification and
measurement of financial assets is set out below.

Under IFRS 9, on initial recognition, a financial asset is classified and measured at: amortised cost; fair value
through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) — debt instrument; FVOCI — equity instrument; or fair
value through the profit or loss (“FVTPL”). The classification of financial assets under IFRS 9 is generally
based on the business model in which a financial asset is managed and its contractual cash flow
characteristics. Derivatives embedded in contracts where the host is a financial asset in the scope of the
standard are never separated. Instead, the hybrid financial instrument as a whole is assessed for classification.

A debt instrument is measured at amorused cost if it meets both of the following conditons and is not
designated as at FVTPL:

- it is held within a business model whose objectve 1s to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows;

and
- its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal

and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

A debt instrument is measured at FVOCI if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated

as at FVIPL:
it 1s held within a business model whose objecuve is achieved by both collecting contractual cash

flows and selling financial assets; and
- its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal

and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

On inital recognition of an equity instrument that is not held for trading, the Group may irrevocably elect to
present subsequent changes in the investment’s fair value in OCI. This election is made on an investment-

by-investment basis.

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or FVOCI as described above are measured
at FVTPL. This includes all derivatve financial assets. On iniual recognition, the Group may isrevocably
designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at
FVOCI as at FVIPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would

otherwise arise.

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing component that is initially
measured at the transaction price) is initially measured at fair value plus, for an item not at FVTPL,
transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition.
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2(b) Interpretations and amendments to published standards (Cont'd)

1ERS 9 Financial Instruments (Cont’d)

The following accounting policies apply to the subsequent measurement of financial assets.

. financial assets at FVTPL

. debt instrument at amortised

COost

° debt instrument at FVOCI

. equity instrument at FVOCI

The following table and the accompanying notes below explain the original measurement categories under
IAS 39 and the new measurement categories under IFRS 9 for each class of the Group’s financial assets as at

1 January 2018.

The Group

Financial assets
Trade and other receivables

Cash and cash equivalents
(including cash collateral)
Total financial assets

The Group has adopted IFRS 9 and has conclude_d that the impacts to the Group’s financial statements are

insignificant.

these assets ate subsequently measured at fair value. Net
gains and losses, including any interest or dividend income,
are recognised in the profit or loss.

these assets are subsequendy measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method. The amortised cost is
reduced by impairment Josses. Interest income, foreign
exchange gains and Josses and impatrment are recognised in
the profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is
recognised in the profit or loss.

these assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest
income calculated using the effective interest method, foreign
exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised in
the profit or loss. Other net gains and losses are recognised
in OCI. On derecognition, gains and losses accumulated in
OCI are reclassified to the profit or loss.

these assets are subsequently measured at fair value.
Dividends are recognised as income in the profit or loss
unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of
the cost of the investment. Other net gains and losses are
recognised in OCI and are never reclassified to the profit or
loss.

New carrying
amount under

Original carrying
amount under

—

Original New IAS 39 IFRS 9

classification classification as at as at

under IAS 39 under IFRS 9 1 January 2018 1 January 2018
A$'000 A$’000

Loans and

receivables Amortised cost 91,025 91,025

Loans and

receivables Amortised cost 34,376 34,376

S 25401 125401
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2(b) Interpretations and amendments to published standards (Cont’d)

Amendments to YAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows

The amendments to [AS 7 Statement of Cash Flows required enuties to reconcile cash flows arising from
financing activides as reported in the statement of cash flows — excluding conuibuted equity — to the
corresponding liabilities in the opening and closing statements of financial position and to disclose on any
restrictions over the decisions of an entty to use cash and cash equivalent balances, in particular way - e.g.
any tax labilives that would arise on repatriation of foreign cash and cash equivalent balances. These
amendments are effective beginning on or after 1 January 2017. As this is a disclosure standard, it will have
no impact to the financtal position and performance of the Group when applied in.

Amendments to IAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrecognised Losses

The amendments to IAS 12 Recagnition of Deferred Tase Assets for Unrecognised Losses clarify the accounting for
deferred tax assets for unrealised losses on debt instruments measured at fair value. The amendments to [AS
12 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017. Management has reassessed all
unrealised losses on debt instruments measured at fair value and there is no material impact.

2(c) New and revised standards not yet effective

The new or amended IFRS and Interpretations issued but not yet effective are not expected to have any
material impact to the Group’s financial statements:

Effective date
(Annual periods
beginning on

Reference Description or after)
Amendments to IFRS 16 COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions 1 June 2020
Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39,  Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2 1 January 2021
IFRS 7, IFRS 4, [FRS 16
Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds before Intended 1 January 2022
Use
Amendments to IAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contrat 1 January 2022
Amendments to IFRS 9 Fees in the ‘10 per cent’ Test for Derecognition of Financial 1 January 2022
Liabilities
Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Curvent 1 January 2022
Amendments to 1AS 1 and IFRS  Disclosure of Accounting Policies 1 January 2023
Practice Statement 2
Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates 1 January 2023
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2(c) New and revised standards not yet effective (Cont’d)

Amendments to IFRS 16 COVID-19 Related Rent Concessions

The amendments provide relief to lessees from applying IFRS 16 guidance on lease modification accounting
for rent concessions arising as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic. As a practical expedient, a
lessee may elect not to assess whether a COVID-19 related rent concession from a lessor is a lease
modification. A lessee that makes this election accounts for any change in lease payments resulting from the
COVID-19 related rent concession the same way it would account for the change under IFRS 16 if the
change were not a lease modification. The amendments are applicable on a modified retrospective basis for
annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020. Early application 1s permitted.

Amendments to IFRS 9, 1AS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 Interest Rate Beachmark Reform —
Phase 2

The amendments address i1ssues that might affect financial reporting after the reform of an interest rate
benchmark, including its replacement with alternative benchmark rates. The changes relate to the
modification of financial assets, financial liabilites and lease lhabilities, specific hedge accounting
requirements, and disclosure requirements applying IFRS 7 to accompany the amendments regarding

modifications and hedge accounting,

On modifications of financial assets, financial liabilives and lease liabilites, a practical expedient is available
to allow for modifications required by the IBOR reform as a direct consequence and made on an
economically equivalent basis to be accounted for by updating the effective interest rate prospectively. All
other modifications are accounted for using current IFRS requirements. A similar practical expedient is
provided for lessee accounting applying IFRS 16. IFRS 4 is also amended to require insurers that apply the
temporary exemption from IFRS 9 to apply the amendments in accounting for modifications directly

required by the reform.

On hedge accounting, certain amendments are made to generally permit hedge accounting continuation
solely because of the IBOR reform provided that the amended hedging relationships meet all the qualifying
crteria to apply hedge accounting including effectiveness requirements. The amendments enable entities to
amend the formal designation and documentation of a hedging relatonship to reflect changes required by the
IBOR reform without discontinuing the hedging relationship or designating a new hedging relationship.
Permitted changes include designating an alternative benchmark rate (contractually or non-contractually
specified) as a hedged risk, amending the description of the hedged item, including the description of the
designated portion of the cash flows or fair value being hedged, or amending the description of the hedging
instrument to refer to an alternauve benchmark rate, and for those applying IAS 39, amending the
description of how the entity shall assess hedge effectiveness.

Amendments to IFRS 7 outline disclosure requirements to allow users to understand the nature and extent of
risks arising from the IBOR reform to which the entity is exposed to and how the entity manages those risks
as well as the entity’s progress in transitioning from IBOR to alternative benchmark rates, and how the entity

is managing this transition.

The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021 with early application
permitted. The amendments apply retrospectively but provide relief from restating comparative information.
An entity may restate prior period figures if, and only if, it is possible to do so without the use of hindsight.
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2{(c) New and revised standards not yet effective (Cont’d)

Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds before Intended Use

The amendments prohibit deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment any proceeds
from selling items produced before that asset is available for use, 1.e. proceeds while bringing the asset to the
location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.
An entity shall recognise such sales proceeds and related costs in profit or loss and measure the cost of those
items in accordance with TAS 2 Inventorzes.

The amendments also clarify the meaning of ‘testing whether an asset is functioning properly’ and specify
this as assessing whether the technical and physical performance of the asset is such that it is capable of being
used in the production or supply of goods or services, for rental to others, or for administrative purposes.

The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022, with early application
permitted. The amendments are applied retrospectively, but only to items of property, plant and equipment
that are brought to the location and condition necessary for them to be capable of operating in the manner
intended by management on or after the beginning of the earliest period presented in the financial statements
in which the entity first applies the amendments. The entity shall recognise the cumulative effect of initially
applying the amendments as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings (or other component
of equity, as appropriate) at the beginning of that earliest period presented.

Amendments to 1AS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

The amendments specify that the ‘cost of fulfilling’ a contract comprises the ‘costs that relate directly to the
contract’. Costs that relate directly to a contract consist of both the incremental costs of fulfdling that
contract (e.g. direct labour or materials) and an allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfiling
contracts (e.g. depreciation charge for an item of property, plant and equipment used in fulfiling the
contract).

The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022, with early application
permitted. The amendments apply to contracts for which the entity has not yet fulfilled all its obligations at
the beginning of the annual reporting period in which the entity first applies the amendments. Comparatives
are not restated. Instead, the entity shall recognise the cumulative effect of initially applying the amendments
as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings (or other component of equity, as appropriate)
at the date of initial application.

Amendments to IFRS 9 Fees in the ‘10 per cent’ Test for Derecognition of Financial Liabilides

The amendments clarify that in applying the ‘10 per cent’ test to assess whether to derecognise a financial
liability, an enuty shall include only fees paid or received between the entity (the borrower) and the lender,
including fees paid or received by either the entity or the lender on the other’s behalf. The amendments are
applied prospectively to modifications and exchanges that occur on or after the date the enuty first applies
the amendments. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022,

with early application permitted.
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2(c) New and revised standards not yet effective (Cont’d)

Amendments to YAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

The amendments affect only the presentation of liabilities as current or non-current in the statement of
financial position and not the amount or timing of recognition of any asset, labiity, income or expenses, or
the information disclosed about those items.

The amendments clarify that the classification of liabiities as current or non-current is based on the rights
that are in existence at the end of the reporting period, specify that classificaton is unaffected by
expectations about whether an entity will exercise the right to defer settlement of a liabiity, explain that
dghts are in exstence if covenants are complied with at the end of the reporting period, and introduce a
definition of ‘settlement’ to make clear that settlement refers to the transfer of cash, equity instruments, other

assets or services to the counterparty.

The amendments are applied retrospectively for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023, with
early application permitted.

Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting Policies

The amendments change the requirements in IAS 1 with regard to disclosure of accounting policies.
Applying the amendments, an entty discloses its material accounting policies instead of its significant
accounting policies. Accounting policy information is material if, when considered together with other
informaton included in an enuty’s financial staterments, it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions
that the primary users of general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those financial

statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy information that relates to immaterial transactions, other
events or conditions 1s immaterial and need not be disclosed. However, accounting policy information may
be material because of the nature of the related transactions, other events or conditions, even if the amounts
are irnmatetdal. In addition, if an entity discloses immaterial accounting policy informaton, such information
shall not obscure material accounting policy information. In support of the amendments to TAS 1,
amendments are also made to IFRS Practice Statement 2 to illustrate how an entity could judge whether
information about an accounting policy is material to its financial statements.

The amendments to IAS 1 are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and are
applied prospectively. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments to IFRS Practice Statement 2 do not
contain an effective date or transition requirements.

Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

The amendments replace the definition of a change in accounting estimates with a definition of accounting
estimates. Under the new definition, accounting estimates are “monetary arnounts in financial statements that
are subject to measurement uncertainty”. Accordingly, an entity develops accounting esumates if the
accounting policies require items in financial statements to be measured in a way that involves measurement

uncertainty.

The amendments clanfy that a change in accountng estimate that results from new informauon or new
developments is not a correction of an exror, and that the effects of a change in an input or a measurement
technique used to develop an accounting estimate are changes in accounting estimates if they do not result
from the correction of prior period errors. Ilustrative examples are also added to help entities understand

and apply the amendments.

The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and are applied

. 4 . P ganing B PP
prospectively to changes in accounung policies and changes in accounting estumates that occur on or after
the start of that period. Earlier application is permitted.
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2(d) Summary of significant accounting policies

Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries

as at the end of the reporting period. The tinancial statements of the subsidiaries vsed in the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements ate prepared for the same reporting date as the Company. Consistent
accounting policies are applied to like transactions and events in simuilar circumstances.

All intra-group balances, income and expenses and unrealised gains and losses resulting from intragroup
transactions and dividends are eliminated in full.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains
control and continues to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Losses and other comprehensive income are attributable to the non-controlling interest even if that results

in a deficit balance.

Subsidiaries
A subsidiary 1s an investee that is controlled by the Group. The Group controls an investee when it is

exposed, or has rights to variable retumns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the investee.

Thus, the Group controls an investee if and only if the Group has all of the following:

- power over the investee;
- exposure, or rights to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
- the ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it has power over the investee
when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practcal ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee unilaterally. The Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not
the Group’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power, including:

the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the
other vote holders;

- potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote holders or other parties;

- rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Group has, or does not have, the
current ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including
voting patterns at previous shareholders’ meetings.

Transacuons with non-controlling interest

Non-controlling interest represents the equity in subsidiaries not attributable, directly or indirectly, to owners
of the Company, and are presented separately in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income and
within equity In the consolidated statement of financial positon, separately from equity attributable to

owners of the Company.
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2(d) Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

Subsidiaries (Cont’d)

Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries_without change of control

Changes in the Company owners’ ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions. In such circumstances, the carrying amounts of the controlling and
non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any
difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interest is adjusted and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and atuibuted to owners of the Company.

Changes 1n ownership interests in subsidiaries resulting in loss of control

When the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it:

- de-recognises the assets (including goodwill) and liabdities of the subsidiary at their carrying
amounts as at that date when control is lost;

- de-recognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest;

- de-recognises the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;

- recognises the fair value of the consideration received,

- recognises the fair value of any investment retained,;

- recognises any surplus or deficit in the profit or loss; and

- re-classifies the Group’s share of components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income to the profit or loss or retained earnings, as appropriate.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is recognised in the profit or loss and 1s
calculated as the difference between (1) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the
fair value of any retained interest and (i) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interest. All amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to the profit or loss or transferred to
another category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable IFRSs). The fair value of any investment
retained in the former subsidiary at the date when the control is lost is regarded as the fair value on the initial
recognition for subsequent accounting under IFRS 9, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or a joint venture,

Business combinatons
Business combinaton is accounted for using the acquisition method when the acquired set of activities and

assets meets the definition of a business and control i1s transferred to the Group. In determining whether a
particular set of activities and assets 1s a business, the Group assesses whether it includes, as a minimum, an
input and substantive process, and whether the acquired set has the ability to produce outputs.

From 1 January 2020, the Group has an option to apply a ‘concentration test’ that permits a simplified
assessment of whether an acquired set of activities and assets is not a business. The optional ‘concentration
test’ is met, and the acquired set of acuvities and assets 1s not a business, if substantially all of the fair value of
the gross assets acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable asset or group of simular identifiable assets.
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2(d) Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

Subsidiaries (Conc’d)

Business combinations (Cont’d)

The consideration for each acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the acquisition date fair values of
assets given, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree, and equity interests
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are recognised in the

profit or loss as incurred.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration which is deemed to be
an asset or Lability, will be recognised in the profit or loss. The Group elects for each individual business
combination, whether non-controlling interest in the acquiree (if any), that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation, is recognised on the
acquisition date at fair value, or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. Other components of non-controlling interests are measured at their acquisition date
fair value, unless another measurement basis is required by another IFRS.

Any excess of the sum of the fair value of the consideration transferred in the business combination, the
amount of non-controlling interest in the acquiree (if any), and the fair value of the Group’s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree (if any), over the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities
1s recorded as goodwill. In instances where the latter amount exceeds the former, the excess is recognised as
a gain on bargain purchase in the profit or loss on the acquisition date.

Associates
An associate is an entity over which the Group has the power to participate in the financial and operating

policy decisions of the investee but not control or joint control over those policies.

The Group accounts for its investments in associates using the equity method from the date on which it

becomes an associate.

On acquisition of the investment, any excess of the cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net
fair value of the investee’s identifiable assets and liabilities is accounted as goodwill and is included in the
carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the investee’s
identifiable assets and liabtlities over the cost of the investment is included as income in the determination of
the entity’s share of the associate’s profit or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.

Under the equity method, the investments in associates are carried in the Group’s statement of financial
position at cost plus post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the associates. The profit
or loss reflects the share of results of operations of the associates. Distributions received from associates
reduce the carrying amount of the investment. Where there has been a change recognised in other
comprehensive income by the associates, the Group recognises its share of such changes in other
comprehenstve income. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transaction berween the Group and the
associate are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the associates.

When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, the Group
does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the

assoclate.
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Associates (Cont’d)

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an
additional impairment loss, on the Group’s investment in the associate. The Group determines at the end of
each reporting period whether there is any objective evidence that the investment in the associate 1s impaired.

If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable
amount of the associate and its carrying value and recogruses the amount in the profit or loss.

The financial statements of the associates are prepared as the same reporting date as the Company. Where
necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group.

Upon loss of significant influence or joint control over the associate, the Group measures any retained
interest at fair value. Any difference between the fair value of the aggregate of the retained interest and
proceeds from disposal and the carrying amount of the investment at the date the equity method was
discontinued is recognised in the profit or loss.

The Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that
assoclate on the same basis as would have been required if that associate or joint venture had directly

disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

When an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture, the Group continues to apply
the equity method and does not re-measure the retained interest.

If the Group’s ownership interest in an associate is reduced, but the Group continues to apply the equity
method, the Group reclassifies to the profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss that had previously
been recognised in other comprehensive income relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain
or loss would be required to be reclassified to the profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets orx

liabilities.
Intangible assets
Intangible assets are accounted for using the cost model with the exception of goodwill. Capitalised costs are

amortised on a straight-line basis over their esumated useful lives for those considered as finite useful lives.
After initial recognition, they are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accurnulated impairment
losses, if any. In addition, they are subject to annual impairment testing. Indefinite life intangibles are not
amortised but are subject to annual impairment testing.

Intangible assets are written off where, in the opinion of the Directors, no further future economic benehts

are expected to arise.

Goodwill

Goodwill on the acquisiion of subsidiaries on or after 1 January 2010 represents the excess of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date
fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the net identifiable assets

acquired.

Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries prior to 1 January 2010 and on acquisition of joint ventures and
associated companies represents the excess of the cost of the acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s

share of the net identifiable assets acquired.

Goodwill on subsidiaries and joint ventures 1s recognised separately as intangible assets and carried at cost

less accumulated impairment losses.

Goodwill on associated companties i included in the carrving amount of the investments.
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Intangible assets (Cont’d)
Goodwill (Cont’d)

Gains and losses on the disposal of subsidiaries, joint ventures and associated companies include the carrying
amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold, except for goodwill ansing from acquisition prior to 1 January
2001. Such goodwill was adjusted against retained profits in the year of acquisition and is not recognised in
the profit or loss on disposal.

Exploration and evaluation costs
Exploration and evaluation costs relate to mineral rights acquired and exploration and evaluation

expenditures capitalised in respect of projects that are at the exploration/pre-development stage.

Exploration and evaluation assets are initially recognised at cost. Subsequent to initial recognition, they are
stated at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. These assets are reclassified as mine development
costs upon the commencement of mine development, when technical feasibility and commercial viability of

extracting mineral resources becomes demonstrable.

Exploration and evaluation expenditures in the relevant area of interest comprises costs which are directly
attributable to acquisition, surveying, geological, geochemical and geophysical, exploratory drilling, land
maintenance, sampling, and assessing technical feasibility and commercial viability.

Exploration and evaluation expenditures also include the costs incurred in acquiring mineral rights, the entry
premiums paid to gain access to areas of interest and amounts payable to third partes to acquire interests in
existing projects. Capitalised costs, including general and administrative costs, are only allocated to the
extent that these costs can be related directly to operational activities in the relevant area of interest, where
the existence of a technically feasible and commercially viable mineral deposit has been established.

The carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation assets is reviewed annually and adjusted for

impatrment in accordance with IAS 36 Impairment of Assets whenever one of the following events or changes

in facts and circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable (the list is not

exhaustive):

(a) the period for which the Group has the right to explore in the specific area has expired during the
period or will expire in the near future, and is not expected to be recovered,;

(b) substantive expenditure on further exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources in the
specific area is neither budgeted nor planned;
(9 exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources in the specific area have not led to the discovery

of commercially viable quantities of mineral resources and the Group has decided to discontnue

such acuvities in the specific area; or
(d) sufficient data exists to indicate that, although a development in the specific area is likely to proceed,
the carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation asset is unlikely to be recovered in full from

successful development or by sale.

An impairment loss is recognised in the profit or loss whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its

recoverable amount.

Mine development costs

Costs arising from the development of the mine site (except for the expenditures incurred for buiding the
mine site and the purchase of machinery and equipment for the mining operation which are included in
property, plant and equipment) are accumulated in respect of each identifiable area of interest and are
capitalised and carried forward as an asset to the extent that they are expected to be recouped through the

successful mning of the areas of interest.
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Intangible assets (Cont’d)

Mine development costs (Cont’d)

Accumulated costs 1n respect of an area of interest subsequently abandoned are written off to the profit or
loss In the reporting period in which the Directors' decision to abandon is made.

Amortisation is not charged on the mine development costs carried forward in respect of areas of interest
untll production commences. Where mining of a mineral deposit has commenced, the related exploration
and evaluation costs are transferred to mine development costs. When production commences, carried
forward mine development costs are amortised on a unit of production basis. The unit of production basis
results in an amortsation charge proportional to the depletion of the estimated economically recoverable

mineral resources.

Pre-production operating expenses and revenues were accumulated and capitalised into the Booru Creek
mine development costs untl 31 August 2006 as the mine was involved in the commissioning phase which
commenced in November 2005. Subsequent to 31 August 2006, the Directors of the Company determuined
that the processing plant was in the condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner
intended so as to seek to achieve design capacity rates. These costs were carried forward to the extent that
they are expected to be recouped through the successful mining of the area of interest.

The amorusation of capitalised mine development costs commenced from 1 September 2006 and continues
to be amortised over the life of the mine according to the rate of depletion of the economically recoverable

mineral resources.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than “construction in progress” (“CIP”), are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any. Depreciation is computed using the
straight-line method to allocate the depreciable amount of these assets over their estimated useful lives as

follows:

Buildings and infrastructure _ 3 to 20 years

Plant and machinery 3 to 20 years

Computer equipment, office equipment 1 to 10 years
and furniture

Motor vehicles 5 to 10 years

Plant and equipment - Process facility, stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses, if any. Depreciation is computed using the unit of production method to allocate the
depreciable amount of these assets over the estimated useful lives as follows:

Plant and equipment - Process facility Life of mine

CIP represents assets in the course of construction for production or for its own use purpose. CIP is stated
at cost less any impairment loss and is not depreciated. Cost includes direct costs incurred during the periods
of construction, installation and testing plus interest charges arising from borrowings used to finance these
assets during the constructon period. CIP is reclassified to the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment and depreciation commences when the construction work is completed and the asset is ready for

use.

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition
of the items. Dismantlement, removal or restoratuon costs are included as part of the cost of property, plant
and equipment if the obligation for dismantlement, removal or restoration 1s incurred as a consequence of

acquiring or using the asset.

240




Bermuda Company No.: EC 24140
ARBN: 081 028 337
Malaysia Foreign Company Registration No.: 202002000012 (895782-P)

13. ACCOUNTANTS’ REPORT (Contd)

OM Holdings Limited 35
and its subsidiaries

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the financial years ended

31 December 2020, 2019, 2018 and 2017

2(d) Summary of significant accounting policies {Cont’d)

Property, plant and equipment (Cont’d)

Subsequent expenditures relating to property, plant and equipment that have been recognised are added to
the carrying amount of the asset when it 1s probable that [uture economic benefits, in excess of the standard
of performance of the asset before the expenditure was made, will flow to the Group and the cost can be
reliably measured. Other subsequent expenditure is recognised as an expense during the financial period in

which it is incurred.

For acquisitons and disposals during the financial year, depreciagon is provided from the month of
acquisition and to the month before disposal respecuvely. Fully depreciated property, plant and equipment
are retained in the books of accounts unul they are no longer in use.

The residual values, estimated useful lives and depreciation method of property, plant and equipment are
reviewed, and adjusted as appropriate, at the end of each reporting period. The effects of any revision are
recognised in the profit or loss when the changes arise.

Investment property .
Investment property comprises leasehold property that is held for long-term rental yields and for capital

appreciation. Investment property is not occupied by the Group.

The Group applies the cost model. Investment property is mnitially recognised at cost and subsequently
carried at cost less accumulated depreciation, less any impairment in value similar to that for property, plant
and equipment. Such costs include cost of renovation or improvement of the existing investment property at
the time that cost is incurred if the recognition criteria are met; and excludes the costs of day to day servicing
of an investment property. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated
useful lives of the investment property of 73 years.

Investment property is de-recognised when either it has been disposed of or when the investment property
is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal. On
disposal or retirernent of an investment property, the difference between any disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount is recognised in the profit or loss.

The carrying value of imnvestment property is reviewed for impairment when events or changes in
circamstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. If such indicatdon exists and where the
carrying values exceed the estimated recoverable amounts, the assets are written down to their recoverable

amounts.

Transfers are made to investment property when, and only when, there is a change in use, evidenced by
ending of owner-occupation or commencement of an operating lease to another party. Transfers are made
from the investment property when and only when, there is a change in use, evidenced by the
commencement of owner-occupation or commencement of development with a view to sell.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs include ali direct expenditure and

production ovetheads based on the normal level of acuvity. The costs 1ncurred in bringing each product to
its present location and conditions are accounted for as follows:

(@) Raw materials at purchase cost on a weighted average basis; and
(b) Finished goods and work in progress at cost of materials and labour and a proportion of
manufacturing overheads based on normal operating capacity.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the esumated costs

necessary to make the sale.
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Financial instruments
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial hability

or equity instrument of another enuty.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when and only when the Group becomes a party to
the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial
position when, and only when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised
amounts; and intends either to settdle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the lLability

simultaneously.

Financial assets (from 1 January 2018)

Classification
Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, in the following measurement categories: amortised cost;

fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI); and fair value through the profit or loss (FVTPL).
The classificaton depends on the Group’s business model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of their cash flows determining whether those cash flows represent ‘solely payment of

prncipal and interest’ (SPPI).

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in the profit or loss or other
comprehensive income (OCI). For invesiments in equity instruments that are not held for trading, this will
depend on whether the Group has made an irrevocable election at the time of inital recognition to account
for the equity instruments at FVOCI. The Group reclassifies debt instruments when and only when its
business model for managing those assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-date, the date on which the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive
cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred
substanually all the risks and rewards of ownership.

Measurement

At inital recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at FVITPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.
Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVIPL are expensed in the profit or loss. Financial assets
with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining whether their cash flows are

SPPL

Trade receivables are measured at the amount of consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in
exchange for transferring promised goods or services to a customer, excluding amounts collected on behalf
of a third party, if the tade receivables do not contain a significant financing component at initial

recognition.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s business model for managing the

asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are three measurement categories into which the

Group classifies its debt instruments:

. Amortised cost. Financial assets that are held for the collection of contractual cash flows where those
cash flows represent SPPI are measured at amortised cost. Financial assers are measured at
amortsed cost using the effective interest method, less impairment. Gains and losses are recognised
in the profit or loss when the assets are derecognised or impaired, and through the amorusation
process. The Group’s debt mstruments at amorused cost include trade and other receivables, and
cash and cash cquivalents (including cash collateral).
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Financial assets (from 1 January 2018) (Cont’d)

Measurement (Cont’d)

Debt instruments (Cont'd)

. F1’OCI: Financial assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the
financial assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent SPPI, are measured at FVOCI. Financial
assets measured at FVOCI are subsequently measured at fair value. Any gains or losses from
changes in fair value of the financial assets are recognised in other comprehensive income, except
for tmpairment losses, foreign exchange gains and losses and interest calculated using the effecuve
interest method are recognised in the profit or loss. The cumulative gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to profit or loss as a
reclassification adjustment when the financial asset 1s de-recognised.

. FUTPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at fair
value through the profit or loss. A gain or loss on a debt instruments that is subsequently measured
at fair value through the profit or loss and is not part of a hedging relationship is recognised in the
profit or loss in the period in which it anises.

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value. Where the Group has elected to
present fair value gains and losses on equity investments in OCI, there is no subsequent reclassification of
fair value gains and losses to the profit or loss following the derecognition of the investment. Dividends
from such investments continue to be recognised in the profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive
payments is established. Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment losses) on equity investments
measured at FVOCI are not reported separately from other changes in fair value.

Impairment
The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit losses (ECL) associated with its debt

instruments carried at amortised cost and FVOCI. ECL are based on the difference between the contractual
cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash Hows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include
cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual

terms.

The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk.
ECL are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, ECL are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are
possible within the next 12-months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is recognised for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

For receivables which are trade in nature, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECL.
Therefore, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on
lifeume ECL at each reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix that iIs based on its
historical credit loss experence, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the

economuic environment.

Stontficant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since iniual
recogntuon, the Group compares the dsk of a default occurning on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of iniual
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers both quantirative and qualitauve informaton
that 15 reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking information that 1s
avatlable wathout undue cost or effort. The Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has
increased significantly since inttal recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due,
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information that demonsirates otherwise.
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Financial assets (from 1 January 2018) (Conv’d)
Impairment (Cont’d)

Significant increase in credit risk (Cont'd)
In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has

increased significantly since initial recognition:

° existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor;

. significant increases in credit risk on other financial instuments of the same debtor; and

° an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations.

Credit-impaired financial asset
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have 2 detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired

includes observable data about the following events:

° significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;
° a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;
° the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s

financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider;

° it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or
° the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties.
Definition of default

The Group considers the following as consturuting an event of default for internal credit risk management
putposes, as historical experience indicates that receivables that meet either of the following criteria are

generally not recoverable:

° when there is a breach of financial covenants by the counterparty; or

° information developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

The Group considers that default has occurred when a financial asset 1s more than 90 days past due unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion

is more appropriate.

Measurement of expected credit losses

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of
the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of default and
loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information. As for the exposure at
default, for financial assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting date; for
loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts, the exposure includes the amount drawn down as at
the reporting date, together with any additional amounts expected to be drawn down in the future by the
default date determined based on historical rend, the Group’s understanding of the specific future financing
nceds of the debtors, and other relevant forward-looking mformauon.
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Financial assets {(from 1 January 2018) (Cont’d)
Impairment (Cont’d)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the counterparty is in scvere
financial difficulty and there 1s no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the counterparty has been placed
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off may stll be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in the profit or loss.

Financial assets (before 1 January 2018)

Financial assets, other than hedging instruments, can be divided into the following categories: financial assets
at fair value through the profit or loss, held-to-maturity investments, loans and receivables and avatable-for-
sale financial assets. Financial assets are assigned to the different categories by management on inital
recognition, depending on the purpose for which the assets were acquired. The designation of financial
assets is re-evaluated and classification may be changed at the reporting date with the exceptuon that the
designation of financtal assets at fair value through the profit or loss is not revocable.

All financial assets are recognised on their trade date - the date on which the Group commit to purchase or
sell the asset. Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value, plus directly attributable transaction costs
except for financial assets at fair value through the profit or loss, which are recognised at fair value.

De-recognition of financial assets occurs when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets
expire or are transferred and substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred.
An assessment for impairment is undertaken at least at the end of each reporting period whether or not
there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets 1s impaired.

Non-compounding interest and other cash flows resulting from holding financial assets are recognised in the
profit or loss when received, regardless of how the related carrying amount of financial assets is measured.

|
3

Loans and recetvables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not

quoted in an active market. They arise when the Group provides money, goods or services directly to a
debtor with no intention of trading the receivables. They are included in current assets, except for maturities
greater than 12 months after the end of the reporting period. These are classified as non-current assets.

Loans and recetvables include trade and other receivables. Loans and receivables are recognised initially at
fair value, plus any directly attributable costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment. If there is objectuve
evidence that the asset has been impaired, the financial asset is measured at the present value of the
estmated future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate. Impairment losses are reversed
in subsequent periods when an increase in the asset’s recoverable amount can be related objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, subject to a restriction that the carrying amount of the
asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had
the impairment not been recognised. The impairment or write-back is recognised in the profit or loss.

Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets include non-derivative financial assets that do not qualify for inclusion in

any of the other categories of financial assets. They are included in non-current assets unless managernent
intends to dispose of the investments within 12 months of the end of reporting period.
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Financial assets (before 1 January 2018) (Cont’d)

Available-for-sale financial assets (Cont’d)

All financial assets within this category are subsequently measured at fair value with changes in value
recognised in other comprehensive income, net of any effects arising from income taxes, until the financial
assets are disposed of or is determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative gains or losses
previously recognised in other comprehensive income are included in the profit ox loss for the period.

When a decline in the fair value of an avatable-for-sale financial asset has been recognised directly in other
comprehensive income and there is objective evidence that the asset 1s impaired, the cumulative loss that
had been recognised directly in other comprehensive income shall be removed from other comprehensive
income and recognised in the profit or loss even though the financial asset has not be de-recognised.

The amount of the cumulative loss that 1s removed from other comprehensive income and recognised in the
profit or loss shall be the difference between the acquisition cost (net of any principal repayment and
amortsation) and current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised in

the profit or loss.

Impairment losses recognised in the profit or loss for equity investments classified as avaiable-for-sale are
not subsequently reversed through the profit or loss.

Impairment losses recognised in a previous interim period in respect of available-for-sale equity investments
are not reversed even if the impairment losses would have been reduced or avoided had the impairment
assessment been made at a subsequent reporting period or end of reporting period.

Impairment

Objective evidence of impairment of individual financial assets includes observable data that comes to the
attention of the Group about one or more of the following loss events:

- significant financial difficulty or probable bankruptcy of the investee;

- a breach of contract;

- structural changes in the industry in which the investee operates, such as changes in production
technology or the number of competitors;

- changes in the political or legal environment affecting the investee’s business;

- changes in the investee’s financial condition evidenced by changes in factors such as liquidity, credit
ratings, profitability, cash flows, debt/equity ratio and level of dividend payments; and

- whether there has been a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value below cost.

Determination of fair value of financial assets

The fair values of quoted financial assets are based on quoted market prices. If the market for a financial
asset is not actve, the Group establishes fair value by using valuation techniques. These include the use of
recent arm’s length transactions, reference to other instruments that are substantially the same, discounted
cash flow analysis, and option pricing models, making maximum use of market puts. Where fair value of
unquoted mstruments cannot be measured reliably, fair value is determined by the transaction price.

Financial liabilities
The Group's financial liabilities include borrowings, lease Labilities, trade and bill payables, accruals and

other payables.
All mrterest-related charges are recognised as an expense In “finance cost” in the profit or loss. Financial

liabiliies are de-recognised if the Group’s obligations specified in the contract expire or are discharged or

cancelled.
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Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised wnitially at the fair value of proceeds received less attributable transaction costs, if
any. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amorused cost which is the initia] fair value less any principal
repayments. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is
taken to the profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method. The interest
expense is chargeable on the amortised cost over the pertod of the borrowings using the effective interest

method.

Gains and losses are recognised in the profit or loss when the Labilities are de-recognised as well as through
the amortisation process.

Borrowings which are due to be settled within 12 months after the end of the reporting period are included
in current borrowings in the statements of financial position even though the original terms were for a
period longer than twelve months and an agreement to refinance, or to reschedule payments, on a long-term
basis is completed after the end of the reporting period. Borrowings to be settled within the Group’s normal
operating cycle are classified as current. Other borrowings due to be settled more than twelve months after
the end of reporting period are included in non-current borrowings in the statements of financial position.

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying
asset are capitalised as part of the cost of the related asset. Otherwise, borrowing costs are recognised as
expenses when incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other financing charges that the Group
incur in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Capitalisation of borrowing costs commences when the actvities to prepare the qualifying asset for its
intended use are in progress and the expenditures for the qualifying asset and the borrowing costs have been
incurred. Capitalisation of borrowing costs ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare
the qualifying assets are substantially completed for their intended use.

Foreign exchange differences arising from foreign currency borrowings are capitalised to the extent that they
are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs.

Trade and bill payables/accruals and other payables

Trade and bill payables/accruals and other payables are initially measured at fair value, and subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

5% Convertible Note
Convertible notes are initially recorded at fair value. The fair value of the liability portion is determined using

a market interest rate for an equivalent non-converuble bond; this amount is then recorded as a non-current
liability on an amortised cost basis unul extinguished on conversion, redemption or maturty of the
bonds. The remainder of the proceeds is allocated to the conversion option, which is recognised and
included as a current liability as the converuble note 1s issued in a currency that is not the functional
currency of the issuer and hence, cannot be classified as equity. As the economic characteristics and risks of
the redemption option are closely related to the host contract, the redemption option is not accounted for

separately from the host contract.

Financtal guarantees

The Group has issued corporate guarantees to banks for bank borrowings of its subsidiaries. These
guarantees are financial guarantee contracts as thev require the Group to reumburse the banks if the
subsidiaries fail to make principal or interest pavments when duc in accordance with the terms of their

borrowings.
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Financial guarantees {Cont’d)

Financial guarantee contracts are initially recognised at their fair value plus transaction costs in the statement
of finanaial positon. The fair value of financial guarantees is determined based on the present value of the
difference in cash flows between the contractual payments required under the debt instrument and the
payments that would be required without the guarantee, or the estimated amount that would be payable to a

third party for assuming the obligations.

Financial guarantee contracts are subsequently measured at the higher of the amount determined in
accordance with the ECL model under IFRS 9 and the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
the cumulative amount of income recognised in accordance with the principles of IFRS 15.

Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities

Derivatives are initally recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are
subsequently re-measured at their fair value. The method of recognising the resulting gain or loss depends
on whether the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being

hedged.
There are 3 types of hedges as follows:

(a) hedges of the fair value of recognised assets or liabilities or a firm commitment (fair value hedge);

(b) hedges of a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast
transaction (cash flow hedge); or

(c) hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation (net investment hedge).

However, the Group only designates certain derivatives as cash flow hedge.

The Group documents at the inception of the transaction the relationship between hedging instruments and
hedged items, as well as its risk management objectives and strategy for undertaking various hedging
transactions. The Group also documents its assessment, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of
whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions ate highly effective in offsetting changes in fair
values or cash flows of hedged items.

Movements on the hedging reserve in other comprehensive income are shown in Note 20. The full fair value
of a hedging derivauve 1s classified as a non-current asset or liability when the remaining hedged item is
more than 12 months, and as a current asset or liability when the remaining maturity of the hedged item is
less than 12 months. Trading derivatives are classified as a current asset or liability.

Cash flow hedges

For cash flow hedges, the effecuve portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and
qualify as cash flow hedges are recognised in other comprehensive income. The gain or loss relaung to the
ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the profit or loss. For hedging instruments used to hedge
bank borrowings that finance the construcuon of a subsidiary’s ferrosilicon producton facility, any
ineffective portion is capitalised as part of the cost of the ferrosilicon production facility (“‘construction-in-

progress’”).
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Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities (Cont’d)

Cash flow hedges (Cont’d)

Amounts accumulated in equity are reclassified to the profit or loss in the periods when the hedged item
affects the profit or loss (for example, when the forecast sale that is hedged takes place). The gain or loss
relating to the effective portion of interest rate swaps which hedge variable rate borrowings s recognised in
the profit or loss within ‘finance income/cost’. However, when the forecast transacton that is hedged
results in the recogniuon of a non-financial asset (for example, inventory or fixed assets), the gains and
losses previously defetred in equity are transferred from equity and included in the inital measurement of
the cost of the asset. The deferred amounts are ultimately recogrused in cost of goods sold in the case of
inventory or in depreciaton in the case of the fixed assets.

When a hedging instrument expires or 1s sold, or when a hedge no longer meets the crterda for hedge
accounting, any cumulative gain or loss existing in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised
when the forecast transacuon is ultimately recognised in the profit or loss. When a forecast transaction is no
longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was reported in equity is immediately transferred

to the profit or loss.

Derivative financial instruments not designated as hedging instrument

Derivauve financial instruments are not designated as hedging instruments, in individual contracts or
separated from hybrid financial instruments, are initially recognised at fair value on the date of the derivatve
contract 1s entered into and subsequently re-measured at fair value. Such derivatve financial instruments are
accounted for as financial assets or financial liabilives at fair value through the profit or loss. Gains or losses
arising from changes in fair value are recorded directly in the profit or loss for the year.

The changes in fair value of the dervative financial instruments not designated as hedges are capitalised as
part of the cost of the ferrosilicon production faclity (“constructon-in-progress”) if these dervatives are
used to hedge the bank borrowings that finance the construction of the ferrosilicon production facility.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and balances on hand, demand deposits with banks and

highly liquid investments with original maturities of 3 months or less which are readily convertible to cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Share capital and treasury shares
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of new

ordinary shares are deducted against the share capital account.

When any ennty within the Group purchases the Company’s ordinary shares (“treasury shares”), the
consideration paid including any directly atunbutable incremental cost is presented as a component within
equity attributable to the Company’s equity holders, unul they are cancelled, sold or reissued.

When treasury shares are subsequently cancelled, the cost of treasury shares are deducted against the share
capital account if the shares are purchased out of capital of the Company, or against the retained earnings of
the Company if the shares are purchased out of eamings of the Company.

When treasury shares are subsequently sold or reissued pursuant to the employee share option scheme, the
cost of treasury shares is reversed from the treasury share account and the realised gain or loss on sale or
reissue, net of any directly attributable incremental transaction costs and related income tax, is recognised in

the capital reserve of the Company.

When shares recognised as equity are repurchased, the amount of the consideration paid, which includes
dircerly attributable costs 1s recognised as a deduction from equity. Repurchased shares are classified as
treasury shares and are presented in the treasury share reserve. When treasury shares are sold or refssued
subscquently, the amount received 1s recognised as an mncrease in equity and the resulung surplus or deficit

on the wansaction is presented within share premum.
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Share premium
Any excess of the proceeds received over the par value of the shares 1s recorded in share premium.

Government grants
Government grants are recognised when there 1s reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all

attaching conditions will be complied with. Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is recognised as
deferred capital grant on the statement of financial position and is amorused to the profit or loss over the
expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group have a present obligation {legal or constructive) as a result of a
past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Present obligations

artsing from onerous contracts are recognised as provisions.

The Directors review the provisions annually and where in their opinion, the provision is inadequate or

excessive, due adjustment is made.

Where the time value of money is material, provisions ate discounted using a current pretax rate that reflects,
where approptate, the fsks specific to the liability. Where discounting is used, the increase in provision due
to the passage of time is recognised as finance costs.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contngent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confizmed by the occurrence
or non-occurrence of one or more future uncertain events not wholly within the control of the Group are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the statements of financial position of the Group, except for
contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination that are present obligations and which the fair
values can be reliably measured. Contingent Labilities are recognised in the course of the allocation of the
purchase price to the assets and liabilities acquired in a business combination. They are initially measured at
fair value at the date of acquisition and subsequently measured at the higher of the amount that would be
recognised in a comparable provision as described above and the amount initally recognised less any
accumulated amortisation, if appropriate.

Leases (from 1 January 2019)
6) The Group as lessee

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contamns a lease, at inception of the contract. The Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in
which it is the lessee, except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease term of twelve months or
less) and leases of low value assets. For these leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as an
operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more
representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed.

(a) Lease liability

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the
commencement date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily
determined, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate specific to the lessee. The incremental
borrowing rate is defined as the rate of mterest that the lessee would have to pay to borrow over a similar
term and with a similar securitv the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use

asset in a similar economic environment.
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Leases (from 1 January 2019) (Cont’d)
(1) The Group as lessee (Cont’d)

(a) Lease hability (cont'd)

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease hability compnse:

. fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives;

- variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at
the commencement date;

. the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;

. exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options; and

. payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an opuon to

terminate the lease.

Varable lease payments that are not based on an index or a rate are not included as part of the measurement
and initial recognition of the lease lLiability. The Group shall recognise those lease payments in the profit or
loss in the periods that trigger those lease payments.

For all contracts that contain both lease and non-lease components, the Group has elected to not separate
lease and non-lease components and account these as one single lease component.

The lease habilities are presented as a separate line item in the statement of financial position.

The lease Lability is subsequently measured at amortised cost, by increasing the carrying amount to reflect
interest on the lease liability (using the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to
reflect the lease payments made.

The Group remeasures the lease liability (with a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use asset
or to the profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has already been reduced to nil)

whenever:

. the lease term has changed or there is a significant event or change in circumstances resulting in a
change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the lease liability is
remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate;

. the lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected payment
under a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the
revised lease payments using the initial discount rate (unless the lease payments change is due to a
change in a floating interest rate, in which case a revised discount rate is used); or

. a lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, in
which case the lease Lability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

(b) Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset comprises the initial measurement of the corresponding leasc lLiability, lease payments
made at or before the commencement day, less any lease incentives received and any mital direct costs.
They are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impatrment losses.

\Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore the site
on which it is located or restore the underlyving asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions
of the lease, a provision is recognised and measured under 1AS 37. To the extent that the costs relate to a
right-of-use asset, the costs are included 1o the related right-of-use asset, unless those costs are incurred to
produce inventories.
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Leases (from 1 January 2019) (Conc’d)
0 The Group as lessee (Contr’d)

(b) Right-of-use asset (cont’d)
Depreciation on right-of-use assets 1s calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their depreciable
amounts over the shorter period of lease term and usefu] life of the underlying asset, are as follows:

Leasehold buildings s over lease term of 1 to 2 years
Plant and machinery : 1 to 2 years

Office equipment : 5 years

Motor vehicle : 5 to 10 years

If a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the
Group expects to exercise a purchase opton, the related right-of-use asset is depreciated over the useful life
of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease.

Costs prepaid for the usage of land in the PRC and Malaysia under leasing agreements form part of the
Group’s right-of-use assets (from 1 January 2019) and are presented as land use rights in the statement of
financial position. Amortisation of land use rights is calculated on a straight-line method over the term of

use being 50 to 60 years.

The right-of-use assets, except for land use rights, are presented as a separate line item in the statement of

financial position.

The Group applies IAS 36 to deterrmine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts for any
idenufied impairment loss.

(1) The Group as lessor
Generally, the accounting policies applicable to the Group as a lessor in the comparauve period were not
different from IFRS 16, except for the classification of the sublease entered into that resulted in a finance

lease classification.

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an

operating lease.

To classify each lease, the Group makes an overall assessment of whether the lease tansfers substantially all
of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset. If this is the case, then the lease is a
finance lease; if not, then it is an operating lease. As part of this assessment, the Group considers certain
indicators such as whether the lease is for the major part of the economic life of the asset.

At inception or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Group allocates the
consideration In the contract to each lease component on the basis of their relative stand-alone prices. If an
arrangement contains lease and non-lease components, then the Group applies IFRS 15 to allocate the
consideration in the contract.

The Group applies the derecogniuon and impairment requirements in IFRS 9 to the net investment in the
lease. The Group further regularly reviews esumated unguaranteed residual values used in calculatng the

gross investment in the lease.

The Group recognises lease payments received from investment property under operating leases as income
on a straight- line basis over the lease term within “revenue” in profit or loss. Rental income from leased
property 1s recognised within “other income” 1n the profit or loss.
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Leases (before 1 January 2019)
(1) The Group as lessee

(a) Operating lease

Leases where substantially all risks and rewards incidental to ownership are retained by the lessors are
classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the
lessors) are recognised in the profit or loss on a straight-line basts over the period of the lease. Contingent
rents are recognised as an expense in the profit or loss when incurred.

(b) Finance lease
Leases where the Group assumes substanually all nsks and rewards incidental to ownership of the leased

assets are classified as finance leases.

The leased assets and the corresponding lease liabilities (net of finance charges) under finance leases are
recognised on the statement of financial position as plant and equipment and borrowings respectively, at the
inception of the leases based on the lower of the fair value of the leased assets and the present value of the

minimum lease payments.

Each lease payment is apportioned between the interest expense and the reduction of the outstanding Jease
liability. The interest expense is recognised within “finance costs” in profit or loss on a basis that reflects a
constant periodic rate of interest on the finance lease liability.

(1) The Group as lessor

(a) Operating lease

Leases where the Group retains substantially all risks and rewards incidental to ownership are classified as
operating leases. Rental income from operating leases (net of any incentives given to the lessees) is
recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Initial direct costs incurred by the Group in negotiating and arranging operating leases are added to the
carrying amount of the leased assets and recognised as an expense in the profit or loss over the lease term on
the same basis as the lease income. Contingent rents are recognised as income in the profit or loss when

earned.

Income taxes
Current income tax for current and prior periods is recognised at the amount expected to be paid to or
recovered from the tax authontes, using the tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively

enacted by the end of the reporung period.

Deferred income tax is recognised for all temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements except when deferred income tax arises from
the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination
and affects neither accounting or taxable profit or loss at the ume of the transaction.

A deferred income tax liability is recognised on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, except where the Group is able to contro] the uming of the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable

future.

A deferred income tax asset is recognised to the extent that 1t 1s probable that a future taxable profit will be
avallable against which the deductible temporary differences and tax losses can be utilised.
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Income taxes (Cont’d)
Deferred income tax is measured:
@ at the tax rates that are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asser is realised or

the deferred ncome tax Lability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or
substantvely enacted by the end of reporting period; and

(1) based on the tax consequence that will follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the
end of reporting period, to recover or sette the carrying amounts of its assets and liabilides.

Current and deferred income taxes are recognised as income or expense in the profit or loss, except to the
extent that the tax arises from a business combination or a transaction which is recognised either in other

comprehensive income or directly in equity. Deferred tax arising from a business combination is adjusted
against goodwill on acquisition.

Current tax assets and current rax liabilities are presented net if, and only if,

(a) the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts; and
(b) intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the Lability simultaneously.

The Group presents deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilitles net if, and only if,

(a) the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilites;
and
(b) the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same

taxaton authority on either:

(1)  the same taxable enuty; or

(1)  different taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net
basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in
which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or

recovered.

Royalties and Special Mining Taxes
Other tax expense includes the cost of royalty and special mining taxes payable to governments that are
calculated on a percentage of taxable profit whereby profit represents net income adjusted for cerrain items

defined in applicable legislation.

Employee benefits

Defined contribution plan

Retirement benefits ro employees are provided through defined contribution plans, as provided by the laws
of the countries in which it has operations. The Singapore incorporated companies in the Group contribute
to the Central Provident Fund (“CPF”). The Australian subsidiary in the Group is required to contribute to
employee superannuation plans and such contributions are charged as an expense as the contributons are

paid or become payable.

The Australian subsidiary contributes to individual employee accumulation superannuation plans at the
statutory rate of the employees’ wages and salaries, in accordance with statutory requirements, so as fo
provide bencfits 10 emplovees on reticement, death or disability. Contributions are made based on a

percentage of the employees’ basic salaries.

The emplovees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate in the PRC are required to participate in a central
pension scheme operated by the Jocal municipal government. These subsidiaries are required ro contribute a
certain percentage of its pavroll costs to the central pension scheme.
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Employee benefits (Cont’d)

Defined contribution plan {Cont’d)
These contributions are charged to the profit or loss in the pertod to which the contributions relate. The

Group's obligations under these plans are limited to the fixed percentage contributions payable.

Emplovee leave entitlements
Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. Accrual is made for
the unconsumed leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting period.

Key management personnel
IKey management personnel are those persons having the authority and responsibility for planning, directing

and controlling the activities of the entity. Directors and certain general managers are considered key

management personnel.

Related parties
A related party is defined as follows:

(a) A person or a close member of that person’s farnily is related to the Group if that person:
o) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i)  has significant influence over the Group; or
(i)  is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or of a parent of the Company.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions applies:

@® the entity and the Company are members of the same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others);

()  one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture
of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member);

()  both entities are joint ventures of the same third party;

(iv)  one entity 1s a joint venture of a third endty and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the
Company or an enuty related to the Company. If the Company is itself such a plan, the
sponsoring employers are also related to the Company;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a);

(vit) a person identified in (a) (1) has significant influence over the entity or (i) is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); or

(vi1) the entty, or any member of a group which 1s a part, provides key management personnel
services to the reporting entity ot to the parent of the reporting entity.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets subject to impairment are reviewed at the end of
each reporting period to determine whether there 1s any indication of impairment. If any such indication
exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

If it is not possible to esumate the recoverable amount of the individual asset, then the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit to which the assets belong will be identified.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). As a result, some assets are tested individually for
impairment and some are tested at cash-generating unit level. Goodwill 1s allocated to those cash-generating
units that are expected to benefit from synergies of the related business combinauon and represent the
lowest level within the company at which management controls the related cash flows.
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Impairment of non-financial assets (Cont’d)

Individual assets or cash-generating units that include goodwill and other intangible assets with an indefinite
useful life or those not yet avatlable for use are tested for impairment at least annually. All other individual
assets or cash-generating units are tested for impauwment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the assets or cash-generating units’ carrying
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value, reflecting
market conditions less costs to sell and value-in-use, based on an internal discounted cash flow evaluaton.
Impairment losses recognised for cash-generating units, to which goodwill has been allocated, are credited
initially to the carrying amount of goodwill. Any remaining impairment loss is charged pro rata to the other
assets in the cash-generating unit. With the exception of goodwill, all assets are subsequendy reassessed for
indications that an impairment loss previously recognised may no longer exist.

Any impairment loss is charged to the profit or loss unless it reverses a previous revaluation in which case it
is charged to equity.
With the exception of goodwill,

U An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount or when there is an indication that the impairment loss recognised for the asset
no longer exists or decreases.

U An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined if no impairment loss had been recognised.
. A reversal of an impairment loss on a revalued asset is credited directly to equity under the heading

revaluation surplus. However, to the extent that an impairment loss on the same revalued asset was
previously recognised as an expense in the profit or loss, a reversal of that impairment loss is
recognised as income in the profit or loss.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed, even if it relates to an impairment Joss recognised
in an interim period that would have been reduced or avoided had the impairment assessment been made at

a subsequent reporting or the end of a reporung period.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for
transferring promised goods or services to a customer, excluding amounts collected on behalf of third
parties. Revenue is recognised when the Group satisfies a performance obligation by transferring a promised
good or service to the customer, which is when the customer obtains control of the good or setvice. A
performance obligation may be sausfied at a point in dme or over time. The amount of revenue recognised
is the amount allocated to the satisfied performance obligation.

Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the goods are delivered to the customer and all critena
for acceptance have been satisfied and the customer obtains control of the goods. Control of an asset refers
to an entity’s ability to direct the use of and obrain substanually all of the remaining benefits (that is, the
potential cash inflows or savings in outflows) from the asset. The amount of revenue recognised is based on
the estimated tansaction price, which comprises the contractual price, net of the estmated volume
discounts and adjusted for expected returns.

The Group supplies ores into the China market and international shipments. For the China market, tansfer
of goods and control is passed to the customers upon full payment and notification to take deliveries. For
international shipments, as the Group does not have the right to re-direct shipments and the risk of
shipments loss in transit and at desunation ports is covered by the buyers’ insurance, the transfer of goods
and control 1s passed to the customers upon loading of the goods onto the relevant carrier at the port of
shipment The majority of cusiomers are required to make full pavment before the loading of goods ar the

port of shipment.
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Revenue recognition (Cont’d)

Transportation of goods sold on CFR or CIF Incoterms

Revenue from rendering service for transportation of goods sold is on Cost & Freight (CFR) or Cost,
Insurance & Freight (CIF) Incoterms and is recognised over the period of transportation to the customer. A
significant proporton of the Group’s products are sold under CFR or CIF Incoterms, in which the Group is
responsible for providing transportation of the goods after the date that the Group transfers control of the

goods to the customers at the loading port.

The Group’s provision of transportation service for contracts under CFR and CIF Incoterms is a distinct
service and, therefore, a separate performance obligation. The total sales price or transacuon price is
allocated to the separate performance obligations comprising of: (a) the product sold; and (b) the
transportation service including insurance and freight. Revenue earned from transportation of goods is
recognised over tme as the customer simultaneously receives the benefits provided as the Group performs

the transportation service.

Interest income
Interest income 1s recognised on a time-apportioned basis using the effective interest rate method.

Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive the dividend has been established.

Contract liabilities
Contract liabiities relate to the Group’s obligation to perform services for which the Group has received
advances from customers. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue as the Group performs the service

under the contract.

Capitalised contract costs

Costs to fulfil a contract are capitalised if the costs relate directly to the contract, generate or enhance
resources used in sausfying the contract and are expected to be recovered. Capitalised contract costs are
subsequently amortised on a systematic basis as the Group recognises the related revenue. An impairment
loss is recognised in the profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the capitalised contract costs
exceeds the remaining amount of consideration that the Group expects to receive in exchange for the
services to which the contract costs relate, less the costs that relate directly to providing the services and that

have not been recognised as expense.

Functional currencies

Items included in the financial statements of each entity in the Group are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“functional currency”). The financial
statements of the Company and the Group are presented in Australian Dollar, which is also the functional

currency of the Company.

Conversion of foreign currencies

Transactions and balances

Transactions 1n a currency other than the functional currency (“foreign currency”) are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Currency translation differences
from the settlement of such wansactions and from the translaton of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies at the closing rates at the end of the reporting period are recognised in

the profit or loss.

However, in the consolidated financial statements, currency translation differences arising from borrowings
in foreign currencies and other currency insuruments designated and qualifying as net investment hedges and
net mvestment in foreign operations, are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated 1n the

CUI‘L’CI’IC}' trans lﬂti()l] reseinve.
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Conversion of foreign currencies (Cont’d)

Transactions and balances (Cont’d)

When a foreign operation is disposed of or any borrowings forming part of the net investment of the
foreign operation are repaid, a proportionate share of the accumulated translation differences is reclassified

to the profit or loss, as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

All other foreign exchange gains and losses unpacting the profit or loss are presented in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income within “other operating expenses”.

Non-monetary items measured at fair values in foreign currencies are translated using the exchange rates at
the date when the fair values are determined.

Non-monetary iterns that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the date of the transactions.

Group entities

The results and financial position of all the enuties within the Group that have a functional currency
different from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

) Assets and liabilities are translated at the closing exchange rates at the end of the reporting period,;

() Income and expenses for each statement presenting the profit or loss and other comprehensive
income (i.e. including comparatives) shall be tanslated at exchange rates at the dates of the
transactions; and

(i) All resulting currency translation differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the exchange fluctuation reserve.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of foreign operations are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign operations and are translated at the closing rates at the reporting date. For
acquisitions prior to 1 January 2010, the goodwill and fair value adjustments are translated at the exchange
rates at the dates of acquisition.

Operating segments

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares segment information based on the regular internal
financial information reported to the executive Directors for their decisions about resources allocation to the
Group’s business components and for their review of the performance of those components. The business
components in the internal financial informaton reported to the executive Directors are determined
following a review of the Group’s major products and services.

The Group has identified the following reportable segments:

Mining Exploration and mining of manganese ore

Smelting Production of manganese ferroalloys, ferrosilicon and manganese sinter
ore

Marketing and trading Trading of manganese ore, manganese ferroalloys, ferrosilicon, sinter ore,

chrome ore and tron ore

Each of these operating segments 1s managed separately as they require different resources as well as

operating approaches.

The reporting segment results exclude the change in fair value of derivative financial instruments, finance
income and costs, share of results of associate, income tax and corporatc income and cxpenses which are
not directly attributable ro the business acuviues of any operating segment, and are not included n arriving

at the operating results of the operaung segment
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Operating segments (Cont’d)

Segment assets include property, plant and equipment, land use rights, mine development costs, inventories,
receivables and operating cash and mainly exclude available-for-sale financial assets, deferred tax assets,
Interest in an assoclate, goodwill and corporate assets which are not directly attributable to the business

activities of any operating segment, which primarily applies to the Group’s headquarters.

Segment liabilities comprise operating labilities and exclude corporate Labilities which are not directly
attributable to the business activities of any operating segment and are not allocated to a segment. These
include income tax payables, deferred tax liabilities and corporate borrowings.

3 Principal activities and revenue

The principal activity of the Company is that of investment holding. The principal activities of the
subsidiaries are as stated in Note 11.

Revenue is turnover derived from activities related to the sales of ore and ferroalloy products and related
services which represent the invoiced value of goods or services sold, net of discounts, goods and services

tax and other sales taxes.
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31 December 2020, 2019, 2018 and 2017
4 Property, plant and equipment
The Group Computer
equipment,
office
Buildings equipment
Construction and Plant and and Motor
-in-progress infrastructure  machinery furniture vehicles Total
A$'000 A$'000 A$'000 A$’000 A$'000 A$'000
Cost
At 1 January 2017 17,484 22,862 743,744 3,483 2,217 789,790
Additions 1,663 462 42,128 578 411 45,242
Transfers (17,231) - 17,203 28 - -
Disposal - - - (3) (306) (309)
Written off - (14) (82,296) (322) - (82,632)
Exchange realignment 273 (431) (44,791) (81) (91) (45,121)
At 31 December 2017 2,189 22,879 675,988 3,683 2,231 706,970
Additions 5,611 595 21,344 1,304 318 29,172
Written off - (180) (120) (32) - (332)
Exchange realignment - 1,172 66,010 168 149 67,499
At 31 December 2018 7.800 24,466 763,222 5,123 2,698 803,309
Adoption of IFRS 16
- Reclassification to right-of-
use assets (Note 9) - - (4,755) - (712) (5.467)
At 1 January 2019, as
adjusted 7,800 24,466 758,467 5,123 1,986 797,842
Additions 72,254 35 3,576 565 134 76,564
Transfers (6,210) 82 6,109 68 (49) -
Reclassification to
investment property (Note 8) - (802) - - (802)
Disposals - - (4,758) (69) - (4,827)
Written off - (36) (114) (19) - (169)
Exchange realignment 304 (151) 5,267 15 24 5,459
At 31 December 2019 74,148 23,594 768,547 5,683 2,095 874,067
Additions 14,164 67 549 708 2 15,490
Transfers (65,847) 1,968 63,879 - - -
Written off - - (42) - (5) (47)
Exchange realignment (1,425) (897) (70,337) (368) (121) (73,148)
At 31 December 2020 21,040 24,732 762,596 6,023 1,971 816,362
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4 Property, plant and equipment (Cont’d)
The Group Computer
equipment,
office
Buildings equipment
Construction and Plant and and Motor
-in-progress infrastructure  machinery furniture vehicles Total
AS$'000 A$'000 A$'000 A$’000 A$'000 A3$'000
Accumulated depreciation and impairment loss
At 1 January 2017 344 8,748 136,281 2,906 1,686 149,965
Depreciation for the year
(Note 28) - 1,177 31,371 239 198 32,985
Disposal - - - (3) (273) (276)
Written off - (14) (81,536) (496) - (82,046)
Exchange realignment - (135) (2,344) (30) (64) (2,573)
At 31 December 2017 344 9,776 83,772 2,616 1,547 98,055
Depreciation for
the year (Note 28) - 1,336 34,741 432 242 36,751
Written off - (163) (28) (25) - (216)
Exchange realignment - 518 7,265 87 106 7,976
At 31 December 2018 344 11,467 125,750 3,110 1,885 142,566
Adoption of IFRS 16
- Reclassification to right-of-
use assets (Note 9) - - (4,381) - (238) (4,619)
At 1 January 2019, as adjusted 344 11,467 121,369 3,110 1,657 137,947
Depreciation for
the year (Note 28) - 1.469 40,102 637 161 42,369
Transfers - (3) 19 - (16) -
Reclassification to
investment property (Note 8) - (154) - - - (154)
Disposals - - (4.547) (64) - (4,611)
Written off - (20) (14) (14) - (48)
Exchange realignment - (97) 242 - 13 158
At 31 December 2019 344 12,662 157,171 3,669 1,815 175,661
Depreciation for
the year (Note 28) - 1,292 41,058 861 74 43,285
Transfers (344) - 344 - - -
Written off - - (6) - (5) (11)
Exchange realignment - (500) (14.438) (214) (105) (15,257)
At 31 December 2020 - 13454 184,129 4,316 1,779 203,678
Net book value
At 31 December 2020 21,042 o 11,278 578,467 i 1,707 192 612,684
At 31 December 2019 73,804 10932 611376 2,014 280 698,406
At 31 December 2018 7456 12,999 637472 2,013 803 660.743
At 31 December 2017 1,845 13,103 592,216 1,067 684 608,915

In 2018, the total carrying amount of plant and machinery and motor vehicles acquired under finance lease
for the Group amounted to A$772,000 and A$579,000 (2017 ~ A$2,191,000 and A$428,000) respectively.
From 1 January 2019, these leased assets are reclassified to right-of-use assets in the statement of financial

position (Note 9).
Buildings are located 1n the PRC (2019 — the PRC; 2018 and 2017 - Singapore, Malaysia and the PRC).

As of 31 December 2020, property, plant and equipment with a total carrying amount of A$576,099,000
(2019 - A$645,000,000; 2018 - A$612.000,000; 2017 - A$567,725,000) had been pledged for banking facilites
granted to a subsidiary (Note 21.1).
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4 Property, plant and equipment (Cont’d)

The Group evaluates any indicaton of impairment in the property, plant and equipment at the end of each reporung
period. Cash flow projections used 1n these calculauons are based on financial budgets approved by management
covering the useful life of property, plant and equipment. Cash flows beyond the useful life of the property, plant and
equipment are extrapolated using the estmated growth rates stated below. The growth rate does not exceed the long-
term average growth rate of the industry in which the CGU operates,

These assumptions are used for the analysis of each CGU within the business segment. Management determines
budgeted gross margins based on past performance and its expectauons of market developments. The weighted average
growth rates used are consistent with forecasts included in industry reports. The discount rates used are pre-tax and
reflect specific risks relating to the relevant segments. A further decrease in the budgeted gross margin by 1% (2019 -
1%,; 2018 - 1%,; 2017 - 1%) would not result in indication of impairment of the carrying amount of property, plant and
equipment.

Key assumptions used for value-in-use calculauons:

2020 2019 2018 2017
People’s People's People's People's
Republic of Republic of Republic of Repubtic of Maiaysia
China Malaysia Australia China Mataysia Australia China Malaysia Australia China
Smelting operations Smelting operations Smelting operations Smelting operations
Gross margin' 1% 21% 15% 8% 18% 34% 7% 15% 32% 6.7% 18.3%
Growth rate? 0% before 2%-5% 0% before 2% before 1.5% before 0% before 2.2% before 2% before 0% before 2.5% before 1.6%
2025, before 2025, 2024, 2024, 2024, 2023, 2023, 2023, 0% 2022, 0% before
0% after 2025, 0% after 0% after 0% aiter 0% after 0% after 0% after after 2023 after 2022 2022, 0%
2025 0% after 2025 2024 2024 2024 2023 2023 after 2022
2025
Discount rate® 5.9% 6.1% 12.3% 8.5% 7.6% 9% 6.5% 8.6% 8.3% 1.5% 8.4%

1 Budgeted gross margin. The gross margin differs due to the different operating efficiencies of the various
subsidiaries located in different geographical locations.

2 Weighted average growth rate used to extrapolate cash flows beyond the budget period.

3 Pre-tax discount rates applied to the pre-tax cash flow projections. The discount rates vary due to the
geographical locations of the businesses.
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5 Land use rights
2020 2019 2018 2017
The Group A$'000 A$'000 A$'000 A$'000
At beginning of the year 9,920 10,070 9,370 9,813
Amortisation for the year (Note 28) (206) (204) (193) (186)
Exchange realignment (792) 54 893 (257)
8922 9920 10,070 9,370

_ Atend of the year

The land use nghts, that form part of the Group’s right-of-use assets, are for leasehold land locared in the

PRC and Malaysia.

The land use rights for leasehold land located in Malaysia had a net carrying value of A$7,608,000 (2019 -
A$8,527,000; 2018 - A$8,627,000; 2017 - A$7,953,000) and were pledged as security for borrowings referred

to 1n Note 21.1(c).

Information about the Group’s leasing activities are disclosed in Note 34.

6 Exploration and evaluation costs
2020 2019 2018 2017
The Group A$'000 A$000 A$'000 A$'000
At beginning of the year 963 1,808 2,167 1,866
Costs incurred duning the year 1,363 1,861 573 512
Written off during the year (Note 28) - (2,706) (932) (211)
_Atend of the year 2,326 963 1,808 2,167
7 Mine development costs
2020 2019 2018 2017
The Group A$'000 A$'000 A$'000 A$'000
At beginning of the year 23,363 23,988 32,026 43,169
Costs incurred dunng the year - 4,522 1,014 -
Adjustments to rehabilitation provisions (Note 24) (132) - - -
Amortisation for the year (Note 28) (6,505) (5.147) (9,052) (11,143)
_Atend of the year _ 16,726 23,363 23,988 32,026
8 investment property
2020 2019
The Group A$000 A$'000
Cost
Balance at beginning of year 808 -
Transfer from property, plant and equipment {Note 4) - 802
Exchange realignment (73) 6
_Balance at end of year - . 73 808
Accumulated depreciation
Balance at beginning of year 166 -
Transfer from property, plant and equipment (Note 4) - 154
Depreciation for the year (Note 28) (11) 11
Exchange realignment B (16) 1
_Balance atendofyear N 0 166
574 642

Net book value




13.

Bermuda Company No.: EC 24140
ARBN: 081 028 337
Malaysia Foreign Company Registration No.: 202002000012 (995782-P)

ACCOUNTANTS’ REPORT (Cont’d)
OM Holdings Limited 59
and its subsidiaries
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the financial years ended
31 December 2020, 2019, 2018 and 2017
8 Investment property (Cont’d)
2020 2019
The Group A$000 A$'000
Rental income 126 116
Direct operating expenses arising from investment property that
generates rental income (25) (26)
101 90

Gross profit anising from investment property

In January 2019, a leasehold building in property, plant and equipment with a net carrying value of
A$648,000 was transferred to Investment Property as the Group rented out the office premises to a non-

related tenant.

The following are details of the investment property of the Group:

Total net lettable

Property Name

Location Description area (sq m)

Tenure

Parkway Parade

80 Marine Parade 148

Road, #08-08
Parkway Parade,
Singapore 449269

Office premises

Fair value hierarchy — Recurring fair value measurements

73-year leasehold
commenced from
31 August 2005

Fair value measurements using

Quoted prices in

active markets Significant other Significant
for observable unobservabie
identical assets inputs inputs
{Level 1) (Levei 2) (Level 3)
A$'000 A$'000 A%$'000
2020 - - 2,535
2018 I _ - - 2,593

Valuation techniques used to derive fair values

As of 31 December 2020, the fair value of investment property amounted to approximately A$2,535,000
(2019 - A$2,593,000) as determined by management with reference to recent market transactions of
comparable properties in close proximity, adjusted for differences in key attributes such as property size,
which is based on the property’s highest and best use.

9 Right-of-use assets
Leasehold Plant and Office Motor
The Group Note buildings machinery equipment vehicles Total
A$'000 A$000 A$000 A$'000 A$'000
Cost
Adoption of IFRS 16
- Initial recognition 5,366 - 37 - 5,403
- Reclassification from
property, plant and
equipment 4 - 4,755 - 712 5,467
At 1 January 2019 5,366 4,755 37 712 10,870
Exchange realignment 41 - - - 41
Reclassification - 191 - (191) -
Additions 1,652 5312 - - 6,964
At 31 December 2019 7,059 10,258 37 521 17,875
Exchange realignment (419) (505) (3) (46) (973)
Lease modification (276) (320) - - (596)
Write-off (1.120) - - - (1,120)
Additions ) _ 28 ) 932 - - 960
At 31 December 2020 — __5.272 _10.365, 34 45 16,146
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9 Right-of-use assets (Cont’d)

Leasehold Plant and Office Motor
The Group Note buildings machinery equipment vehicles Total
A$'000 A$'000 A$'000 A$'000 A$000

Accumulated depreciation and impairment
Adoption of IFRS 16
- Reclassification from

property, plant and

equipment 4 - 4,381 - 238 4,619
At 1 January 2019 - 4,381 - 238 4,619
Exchange realignment (23) €2 - (M (31)
Reclassification - 68 - (68) -
Depreciation 3,742 2,358 9 47 6,156
At 31 December 2019 3,719 6,800 9 216 10,744
Exchange realignment (411) (440) (2) (25) (878)
Lease modification (214) (22) - - (236)
Write-off (1,120) - - - (1,120)
Depreciation 2,828 2,750 9 57 5,644

_At 31 December 2020 4,802 9,088 16 248 14,154

Carrying Amount
At 31 December 2020 470 1,277 18 227 1,992
At 31 December 2019 3,340 3,458 28 305 7,131 _
At 1 January 2019 5,366 374 37 474 6,251

Leasehold buildings are located in Malaysia, Singapore and Australia.

Information about the Group’s leasing activities are disclosed in Note 34.

10 Deferred taxation

Deferred tax assets and liabilives are offset when there is a legally enforceable dght to offset deferred
income tax assets against deferred income tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to the
same fiscal authority. The amounts, determined after appropriate offsetting in similar tax legislations, are
shown on the statement of financial positian as follows:

2020 2019 2018 2017
The Group A$000 A$'000 A$000 A$'000
Deferred tax assets
At gross 89,785 85,519 - 36,054
Less: Set off of tax in similar legislations (75,997) (74,127) - (11,978)
_Atnet S— 13,788 11,392 = 24,076
Deferred tax assets
To be recovered within one year - 1,976 - -
To be recovered after one year 13,788 9,416 - 24,076
13,788 11,392 sen 24 076
Deferred tax liabilities
At gross (1,229) (1,237) (9,188) (1,677)
Less: Set off of tax in similar legislations - - 5,887 -
Alnel - _ — (1229) ___ (1.237) ___(3301) __ (1,677)
Deferred tax liabilities
To be settled within one year - - - -
To be settled after one year ~(1,229) (1.237)  (3.301) (1.677)
(1.229) (1.237) (3301  (1,677)
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10 Deferred taxation (Cont’d)
Deterred tax assets (at gross) comprise tax on the following deductible temporary differences:
Northern
Territory
Govemment
Fair value Tax Royalty
losses  Provisions losses Benefit Others Total
The Group A%$000 A$'000 A$'000 A$'000 A$000 A$'000
At 1 January 2017 - - - - - -
Charged to the profit or
loss (Note 29) 3,139 2,228 28,930 1,651 106 36,054
At 31 December 2017 3,139 2,228 28,930 1,651 106 36,054
(Charged)/Credited to
profit or loss (Note 29) (3,139) 1,129 (27,182) (1,651) 676 (30,167)
At 31 December 2018 - 3,357 1,748 - 782 5,887
Credited to
profit or loss (Note 29) - 2,740 76,952 - 474 80,166
Exchange difference on
Translation - - (534) - - (534)
At 31 December 2019 - 6,097 78,166 - 1,256 85,519
Credited/(charged) to
profit or loss (Note 29) 1,186 (448) 12,394 - (1,030) 12,102
Exchange difference on
translation - - (7,836) - - (7,836)
_At 31 December 2020 1,186 5,649 82,724 - 226 89,785
Deferred tax liabiities (at gross) comprise tax on the following taxable temporary differences:
Excess of net book
value over tax written
down value of
qualifying property,
plant and equipment,
and mine Fair value
development costs gains Provisions Others Total
The Group A$'000 A$'000 A$000 A$000 A$'000
At 1 January 2017 - - - - -
(Charged)/Credited to
profit or loss {(Note 29) (967) - (11,548) (1,165) (13,680)
Exchange difference on
Translation - - 25 - 25
At 31 December 2017 (967) - (11,523) (1,165) (13,655)
(Charged)/Credited to
profit or loss (Note 29) (5,368) (452) 10,071 358 4,609
Exchange difference on
Translation - - (142) - (142)
At 31 December 2018 (6,335) (452) (1,594) (807) (9,188)
(Charged)/Credited to
profit or loss (Note 29) (65,691) 452 (1,356) 4 (66,591)
Exchange difference on
Translation 424 - - (9) 415
At 31 December 2019 (71,602) - (2,950) (812) (75,364)
(Charged)/Credited to
profit or loss (Note 29) (11,050) - 2,266 (246) (9.030)
Exchange difference on
__translation a 7,168 2 i - - 7,168
At 31 December 2020 __(7b484) - __ (684)  (1.058) ~ (77,226)
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10 Deferred taxation (Cont'd)

Unrecognised deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets of A§2,914,000 (2019 - A$3,464,000; 2018 - A$13,957,000; 2017 - A$26,898,000) have

not been recognised n respect of the following items:

2020 2019 2018 2017
The Group A$'000 A$’000 A$’000 A%'000
_Tax losses ) _ 12,032 14228 57,493 111,412

The tax losses are subject to agreement by the tax authorities and compliance with tax regulations in the
respective countries in which certain subsidiaries operate. The deductble temporary differences have an
expiry term of 7 years. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these items because it is
not probable that future taxable income will be available against which the Group can recognise the benefits.

11 Subsidiaries

Details of the Group’s material subsidiaries at the end of the reporting period are set out below:

Place of Proportion of ownership
incorporation/ interest and voting rights
Name operation held by the Group Principal activities
2020 2019 2018 2017
% % % %
Held by the Company
OM (Manganese) Ltd. (" Australia 100 100 100 100  Operation of manganese

mine

Held by OM Resources (HK) Limited
OM Materials (S) Pte. Ltd. @ Singapore 100 100 100 100  Investment holding and
trading of metals and

ferroalloy products

Held by OM Materials (S) Pte. Ltd.
OM Materials (Sarawak) Sdn. Bhd. ¥ Malaysia 75 75 75 75  Sales and processing of
ferroalloys and ores

OM Materials (Qinzhou) Co. Ltd. %) PRC 100 100 100 100 Sales and processing of
ferroatloys and ores

Held by OM Matedals Trade (S) Pte. Ltd.
OM Materials Trading (Qinzhou) Co. Ltd. * PRC 100 100 100 100  Sales and processing of
ferroalloys and ores

OM Tshipi (S) Pte. Ltd.*9 Singapore - 100 100 100  Sales and processing of
ferroalloys and ores

Note:

(1) audited by Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd

(2) audited by Foo Kon Tan LLP

(3) audited by Ernst & Young, Malaysia

(4) audited by Guangxi JiaHai Accountant Affairs Office Co. Ltd. for statutory purposes and audited by Foo Kon Tan LLP for

group consolidation
(5) struck off on 9 March 2020
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11 Subsidiaries (Cont’d)

63

At the end of the reporting penod, the Group has other subsidiaries that are not material to the Group. The

princtpal activities of these subsidiaries are summarised as follows:

Place of incorporation/

Principal activities operation Number of subsidiaries
2020 2019 2018 2017
Investment holding The British Virgin Islands 1 1 1 2
Investment holding Mauritius 1 1 1 1
investment holding Hong Kong 1 1 1 1
investment holding Singapore 1 1 1 1

Logistics and trading of metals and

ferroalloy products Malaysia 1 1 1 1
Trading of metals and ferroalloy products Singapore - - 1 1
Trading of metals and ferroalloy products PRC 1 1 1 1
Sales and processing of ferroalloys and ores Malaysia 1 1 1 2
Exploration and mining of minerals Malaysia 2 2 2 2
Engineering services Malaysia 1 - - -
) 10 9 10 12

Exercise of call option on Excess Irredeemable Convertible Preference Shares (“ICPS™)

In 2018, pursuant to the Share Subscripuon Agreement with OM Materials (Sarawak) Sdn. Bhd. (“OM
Sarawak”), OM Materials (§) Pte. Ltd. (“OM Singapore”) exercised its option to call upon the non-
controlling interest shareholder of OM Sarawak to sell 66,309,700 units of Excess ICPS in OM Sarawak to

OM Singapore for a total consideration of A$25,040,000.

Acquisition of subsidiary

On 31 May 2017, the Group acquired 66.67% of the issued share capital of OM Tshipt (S) Pte Ltd for cash

consideration of A$2,880,000. The fair value of the net assets acquired approximated its book value.

The following summarises the recognised amounts of assets acquired and liabilities assumed and the major

classes of consideration transferred at the acquisition date:

2017
The Group A$'000
Trade receivables and other receivables 14,611
Cash and cash equivalents 1,628
Trade and other payables (13,359)
Net identifiable assets o 2,880
Cash consideration transferred ~ _ _ 2,880
The effect on cash flows of the Group is as follows:
Consideration paid 2,880
Less: Cash and cash equivalents in subsidiary acquired (3,255)
Net cash inflow on acquisition o o (375)

In 2018, the Group paid additional cash consideration of A$2,550,000 (US$1,800,000), giving rise to

goodwill of A$2,550,000 (Note 27) which was charged to the profit or loss.
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11 Subsidiaries (Cont’d)

The table below shows details of a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Group that has material non-controlling

interests:

Place of
incorporation
and Proportion of
principal ownership interests and
place voting rights held by (LossYProfit allocated to Accumulated non-
Name of business non-controlling interests non-controlling interests controlling interests
2020 2019 2018 2017 2020 2019 2018 2017 2020 2019 2018 2017
% % % % A$000 A$'000 A$'000 A$'000 A$'000 A$'000 A$'000 A$'000
OM Matenials
(Sarawak) Malaysia 25 25 25 25 (8,139) (273) 21,159 (1.382) 56,967 70,531 52,294 48,478
Sdn. Bhd.

Summarised financial informaton in respect of the above subsidiary that has material non-controlling interests
(“NCI”), nor adjusted for the Group’s percentage of equity interest, is set out below.

2020 2019 2018 2017
A3000 A$000 A$000 A3$'000
OM Materials (Sarawak) Sdn. Bhd.
Summarised Statement of Financial Position
Current assets 228,907 250,295 357,107 295,400
Non-current assets 583,058 665,389 619,331 569,214
Current liabilities (227,511) (187,692) (193,061) (176,148)
Non-current liabilities (352,327) (441,610) (584,717) (590,456)
Equity attnbutable to owners of the Company 175,160 215,851 146,366 49,632
Non-controlling interests 56,967 70,531 52,294 48,478
Summansed Statement of Comprehensive income
Revenue 521,940 673,991 791,977 491,471
Expenses (554,497) (675,083) (707,340) (497,000)
(Loss)/Profit for the year {32,557) (1,092) 84,637 (6.529)
(Loss)/Profit attnbutable to owners of the Company (24,418) (819) 63,478 (4,147)
{Loss)/Profit attributable to NCI (8,139) (273) 21,159 (1,382)
_(Loss)/Profit for the year - (32,557) (1,092) 84,637 ~ (5,529)
Other comprehensive income attributable to
owners of the Company 768 719 704 (6,721)
Other comprehensive income attributable to NCI 256 240 234 (2,240)
Other comprehensive income for the year 1,024 959 938 (8,961)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income attributable to
owners of the Company (23,650) (99) 64,182 (10,868)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income attributable to NCI (7.883) (33) 21,393 (3,622)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year (31,533) (132) 85575  (14,490)
Other summarised information
Net cash inflow from operating activities 77,404 69,035 78,247 57,696
Net cash outflow from investing activities (8,038) (49,969) (39,782) (43,725)
Net cash outflow from financing aclivities (61,585) (40,973) (17,866) (17,206)
_ Net cash inflow/(outflow) 71,781 (21,907) 20,599 (3.235)
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12 Interests in associates
2020 2019 2018 2017
The Group A3'000 A$000 A$'000 A$'000
Cost of investment in associates (" 77,672 77,672 77,613 84,832
Share of post-acquisition profits and reserves,
net of dividends 49,160 38,686 48,726 31,712
126,832 116,358 126,339 116,544

(1) Comprised unquoted equity shares at cost and advances to associates and net of repayments. The advances to associates
represent extension of the investment in associates which are unsecured with indeterminate repayment terms.

Details of the Group’s material associate at the end of the reporting period was as follows:

Proportion of effective

Country of ownership interest and voting
Name incorporation rights held by the Group Principal activities
2020 2019 2018 2017
% % % %
Ntsimbintle Mining Proprietary Limited South Africa 26 26 26 26 Investment holding
("NMPL™) (1
(previously known as Main Street 774
Proprietary Limited)
Held by NML @
Tshipi é Ntle Manganese Mining South Africa 13 13 13 13 Exploration and
Proprietary Limited (“Tshipi Mining")*" exploitation of

minerals
(1) audited by KPMG Inc.

(2) NMPL holds a 50.1% interest joint venture in Tshipi Mining whose results are equity-accounted in NMPL.

Shares in the Group’s material assoctate are held by a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, OMH
(Mauritius) Corp.
All of the Group’s associates are accounted for using the equity method in these consolidated financial

statements.

The financial year end date of Ntsimbintle Mining Proprietary Limited is 28 February. For the purposes of
applying the equity method accounting, the management accounts of Ntsimbintle Mining Proprietary
Limited for the year ended 31 December have been used and appropriate adjustments have been made as

necessary.

Summarised financtal information in respect of the Group’s material associate, not adjusted for the Group’s
percentage of equity interest, is set out below. The summansed financial information below represents
amounts shown in the associate’s financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS.

Nisimbintle Mining Proprietary Limited

2020 2019 2018 2017
The Group _ A3'000 A$000 A$'000 A%$'000
Current assets 3,556 1,990 14,114 2,945
Non-current assets (!} 193,787 178,358 198,053 198,141
Current liabilities (11) (14) (34) (14,607)
Non-current liabilities (368,290) - - -
_Net assets o __(170,958) 180,334 212,133 186,479
Income ! 64,146 116,987 182,364 79,163
Profit for the year 63,649 116,773 180,649 78,327
_Total comprehensive income for theyear 63,649 116,773 180649 78,327
_Dividends received from associate __6048 40,362 33,304 —

(1) Inclusive of equity-accounted results of Tshipi Mining
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12 Interests in associates (Cont’d)

Reconcibation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying amount of the interest in the
associate recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

Ntsimbintle Mining Proprietary Limited Total
2020 2019 2018 2017 2020 2019 2018 2017
A$'000 A$'000 A$'000 A$000 A$'000 A3°000 A$'000 A$'000
Net (liabilities)/assets of the associate (170.958) 180,334 212,133 186,479 (170.958) 180,334 212,133 186.479
Shareholder loans 368.290 - - - 368,290 - - -
197,332 180,334 212133 186,479 197.332 180,334 212,133 186,479
Proportion of the Group's ownership
inlerest in the associate 51,306 46,887 55,155 48,485 $1.306 46.887 55,155 48.485
Goodwill 59.842 59.842 59.842 59,842 58.842 59.842 59,842 59,842
Currency transiation difference 15,655 8,573 11,306 8,174 15,655 9.573 11,306 8,174
Carrying value 126,803 116,302 126,303 116,501 126,803 116,302 126,303 116,501
Add:
Carrying value of individually
immalerial associates 29 56 36 43
Carrying value of Group's interest in
__126.%}_32_ 116,358 — 126,339 116,544

associates

Agoregate information of associates that are not individually material

The summarised financial information of the immatenal associate

equity interest 1s as follows:

not adjusted

for the Group’s share of

2020 2019 2018 2017
The Group A$000 A$'000 A$'000 A$'000
~ (Loss)/Profit for the year 71 60 (21) 24
- Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year (71) 60 (21) 24
The Group's share of profit/{loss) (24) 20 (7) 8
13 Other investment

2020 2019 2018 2017
The Group A$000 A$000 A$'000 A$'000
Non-current
Equity investments at FVTPL
- Quoted equity shares (held for trading) _ 1,888 - - -

The investment in quoted equity shares offer the Group the opportunity for return through dividend income

and fair value gains. They have no fixed maturity or coupon rate.

Fair value hierarchy — Recurring fair value measurements

Fair value measurements using

Quoted prices in
active markets for
identical assets

Significant other
observable inputs

Significant
unobservable inputs

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
A$000 A$'000 A$'000
1,888 - -

2020
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14 Inventories
2020 2019 2018 2017
The Group A$'000 A$'000 A$000 A$'000
At cost
Raw materials 147,354 157,745 215,809 194,875
Work-in-progress 15,561 1,467 1,748 873
Finished goods 45,937 69,063 49,485 56,732
o o o 208,852 228,275 267,042 252,480
At net realisable value
Work-in-progress 898 - - -
Finished goods 6,557 - - -
7,455 - - -
Total . 216,307 228,275 267,042 252,480
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense and
included in cost of sales (Note 28) 688,371 874,001 1,157,128 778,597
Write-down of inventories to net realisable value
_(Note28) = 3,397 — S
15 Trade and other receivables
2020 2019 2018 2017
The Group A$000 A$000 A$'000 A$'000
Trade receivables 48,130 30,167 74,826 75,662
Bills receivable - - 707 813
Net trade receivables (i) 48,130 30,167 75,533 76,475
Other receivables:
Deposits and other receivables:
- third party 15,111 7,155 15,037 14,550
- associate 29 765 - -
15,140 7,920 15,037 14,550
Less: Allowance for impairment of other receivables:
At beginning of the year (278) - - -
Impairment loss (Note 28) - (278) - -
At end of the year (278) (278) - -
Net other receivables (ii) 14,862 7,642 15,037 14,550
62,992 37,809 90,570 91,025

Included in the Group’s deposits and other receivables from third parties 1s tax recoverable of A$6,763,000

(2019 — A$764,000; 2018 — A§Nil; 2017 — A§NL) from the Australian Taxation Office (“ATO”).

Trade and other recetvables are denominated in the following currencies:

The Group

Austratian Dollar

Renminbi

United States Dollar

Malaysian Ringgit
_Others

2020 2019
A$'000 A$'000
9,171 2,015
5277 2,930
44,855 31,047

425 228
3,264 1,589
62,992

|

37,809

2018 2017
A$'000 A$'000
1,877 2,140
7,990 4,209
75,756 83,807
355 358
4,592 511
90,570 91,025
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15 Trade and other receivables (Cont’d)

The credit nsk for trade and other receivables based on the informaton provided by key management is as

follows:

2020 2019 2018 2017
The Group A$'000 A%$'000 A%000 A$'000
By geographical areas
Asia Pacific 52,682 27,280 81,166 76,727
Europe 4,187 1,155 4,031 5,875
Africa 29 835 - 6,803
Others 6,094 8,539 5,373 1,620
3 62,992 . _37_,809 90,570 91,025

Neither past due not impaired
Trade and other receivables that were neither past due nor impaired amounting to A$62,153,000 (2019 —

A$37,535,000; 2018 - A$89,692,000; 2017 - A$87,488,000) for the Group related to a wide range of
customers for whom there was no recent history of default.

Past due but not impaired
The ageing analysis of trade and other receivables past due but not impaired is as follows:

2020 2019 2018 2017
The Group A%'000 A$'000 A$'000 A$'000
Past due 0 to 3 months 643 213 878 2,719
Past due 3 to 6 months - 61 - 19
Past due over 6 months 196 - - 799
839 274 878 3,537

Trade and other receivables that were past due but not impaired related to a2 number of customers that have
a good track record with the Group. Based on historical default rates, the Group believes that no
impairment allowance is necessary in respect of trade and other receivables not past due or past due over 6
months. These receivables are mainly arising from customers that have a good credit record with the Group.

16 Capitalised contract costs
2020 2019 2018 2017
The Group A$°000 A¥'000 A$'000 A$'000
Costs to fulfil service rendered for transportation of goods
sold under CFR and CIF Incoterms . 1,856 1,015 2,759 -
Amortisation recognised as cost of sales during the year 1,015 2,759 - o

The Group’s capitalised contract costs relate to fulfilment costs of freight and insurance for the
transportation of goods sold under CFR and CIF Incoterms. These costs are charged to the profit or loss on
a basis consistent with the pattern of recognition of the associated revenue.
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17 Cash and bank balances

2020 2019 2018 2017
The Group A$'000 A$'000 A$000 A$000
Cash at bank and on hand 58,905 42,598 87,118 28,871
Short-term bank deposits 4,126 21,114 4,701 5,505
Total cash and bank balances 63,031 63,712 91,819 34,376
Less: Cash collateral (17,080) (14,812) (12,773) (4,463)

) Qg_s_h and ga_sh equivalents N 439_5_1 § 48,900 79,046 . _2_%913 N

Included in the cash collateral were amounts of A$2,140,000 (2019 — A$1,436,000; 2018 - A$1,842,000; 2017
- A$1,667,000) and A$14,940,000 (2019 - A$13,376,000; 2018 - A$10,931,000; 2017 - A$2,410,000) which
were pledged to banks as security for banking facilities and the issuance of environmental bonds (Note 35.5)

respectively.

Cash and bank balances are denominated in the following currencies:

2020 2019 2018 2017

The Group A%$'000 A%$'000 A$'000 A$000
Australian Dollar 17,639 13,680 17,030 4,159
Renminbi 15,381 12,776 9,181 9,301
United States Dollar 23,637 35,361 62,435 19,927
Malaysian Ringgit 6,195 1,757 2,868 875
Others 179 138 305 114
63,031 63,712 91,819 34,376

The short term bank deposits have an average maturity of 3 months (2019 - 3 months; 2018 - 3 months; 2017
- 3 months) from the end of the financial year with the following weighted average effective interest rates:

The Group 2020 2019 2018 2017
United States Dollar 0.18% t0 0.92% 1.10% to 2.70% 2.04% 1.14%
Renminbi 1.38% 2.30% 2.30% 2.30%
Malaysia Ringgit 1.15% 1.60% to 2.50% - -

18 Share capital

No. of ordinary shares Amount

The Company and The Group 2020 2019 2018 2017 2020 2019 2018 2017
‘000 ‘000 ‘000 '000 A$000 A$'000 A$'000 A3'000
Authorised:
Ordinary shares of A$0.05 (2019 -
A$0.05; 2018 - A$0.05: 2017 - A$0.05)
each I 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2.000.000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100.000
fssued and fully paid:
Ordinary shares of A$0.05 (2019 -
A$0.05; 2018 - A$0.05: 2017 - A$0.05)
each
Al beginning of the year 738,623 738,623 733,423 733,423 36,931 36,931 36,671 36,671
Issue of ordinary shares - - 5,200 - - - 260 -
Atendoftheyear 738,623 738.623 738623 733.423 36931 36931 36,901 36,671

The holders of ordinary shares (excluding treasury shares) are entitled to receive dividends as declared from
time to time and are entitled 1o one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All shares (excluding treasury
shares) rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets.
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19 Treasury shares
No. of ordinary shares Amount
The Company and The Group 2020 2019 2018 2017 2020 2019 2018
‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000 A$'000 AS'000 A$'000
At beginning and end of year . 1,933 1.933 1.933 1,933 2330 2330 2,330

70

2017
A$'000

2.330

Treasury shares relate to ordinary shares of the Company that are held by the Company. The Company
acquired Nil shares (2019 - Nil shares; 2018 - Nil shares; 2017 - Nil shares) in the Company through on-

market purchase on the Australia Securities Exchange.

20 Reserves
2020 2019 2018 2017
The Group Note A$'000 A$'000 A$000 A$'000
Share premium i) 178,363 178,363 178,363 176,563
Non-distributable reserves (i) 8,868 8,868 8,868 5,552
Capital reserve (iii) 16,064 16,064 15,444 16,513
Hedging reserve (iv) (4,911) (5,851) (6,540) (6,886)
Exchange fluctuation
reserve- (v) 6,021 30,181 29,769 10,073
Retained profits/
(Accumulated losses) (vi) 160,637 162,652 128,112 (8,190)
_ o 365,042 390,277 354,016 193,625
Share premium
At 1 January 178,363 178,363 176,563 176,563
Issue of ordinary shares,
net of issue cosls - - 1,800 -
At 31 December 178,363 178,363 178,363 176,563
Non-distributable reserve
At 1 January 8,868 8,868 5,552 5,534
Transfer-in - - 3,316 18
At 31 December 8,868 8,868 _ 8,868 5552
Capital reserve
At 1 January 16,064 15,444 16,513 16,513
Buy-back of warrants - - (1,069) -
Write off of warrants (Note 28) - 620 - -
At 31 December . - 16,064 16,064 15,444 16,513
Hedging reserve
At 1 January (5,851) (6,540) (6,886) (7,906)
Cash flow hedges 940 689 346 1,020
At 31 December e __(4911)  (5.851)  (6,540)  (6.886)
Exchange fluctuation
reserve
At 1 January 30,181 29,769 10,073 15,493
Currency translation
differences (24,160) 412 19,696 (5,420)
_At31 December 6021 30181 29,768 10,073 _
Retained profits/(Accumulated losses)
At 1 January 162,652 128,112 (8,180) (100,827)
Profit for the year 5,352 56,641 161,722 92,656
Transfer-out - - (3.319) (33)
Dividends paid (vii) (7,367) (22,101) (22,101) -
Dividend forfeited - _ s e == = 14 _
160,637 162,652 128,112 (8.190)

_AL31 December _ -l L Ll
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20
Notes:

®

W)

(i)

(1)

v

(vi)

Reserves (Cont'd)

The share premium comprises the value of shares that have been issued at a premium, meaning the
price paid was in excess of the share’s quotient value. The amount received in excess of the quouent
value was transferred to the share premium reserve.

In accordance with the accounting principles and financial regulations applicable to Sino-foreign
joint venture enterprises, the subsidiaries in the PRC are required to transfer part of their profits
after tax to the “Statutory Reserves Fund”, the “Enterprse Expansion Fund” and the “Staff Bonus
and Welfare Fund”, which are non-distributable, before profit distributions to joint venture
partners. The quantum of the transfers is subject to the approval of the board of directors of these
subsidiaries.

The annual transfer to the Statutory Reserves Fund should not be less than 10% of profit after tax,
unul it aggregates to 50% of the registered capital. However, foreign enterprises may choose not to
appropriate profits to the Enterprise Expansion Fund.

The Statutory Reserves Fund can be used to make good previous years’ losses while the Enterprise
Expansion Fund can be used for acquisition of property, plant and equipment and financing daily
funds required. The Staff Bonus and Welfare Fund is uulised for employees collecuve welfare
benefits and is included in other payables under current liabdities in the staternents of financial

positon.

The capital reserve arose from the capitalisation of various reserves and retained profits in one of
the Sino-foreign joint ventures of the Group. The purpose of the capitalisation is to increase the
registered capital of the joint venture.

In February 2018, the Group undertook a selective buy-back of 26,000,000 unlisted warrants for
A$641,000 (equivalent to US$500,000) that would lapse subsequently on 25 March 2019.

The Group wrote off an amount of A$620,000 (equivalent to US$500,000) as a result of the expiry
of the 26,000,000 unlisted warrants on 25 March 2019.

The hedging reserve represents hedging gains and losses recognised on the effective portion of cash
flow hedges. The cumulative deferred gain or loss on the hedge recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated hedging reserves is reclassified to the profit or loss when the forecast
transacton is ultimately recognised in the profit or loss.

The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising on the translaton of the
financial statements of foreign subsidiaries and associates stated in a currency different from the
Group’s presentation currency.

Retained earnings comprise the distributable reserves recognised in the preceding year less any
dividend declared. The total of such profits brought forward and the profit denved during the
period consutute the total distributable reserves, that is the maximum amount available for
distribution to the shareholders.
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20 Reserves (Cont’d)
Notes: (Cont’d)
(vii)
2020 2019 2018 2017
The Group A3$'000 A$000 A$000 A$'000
Final tax-exempt (one-tier) dividend of 0.01 cents
per share for 2019 7,367 - - -
interim tax~exempt (one-tier) dividend of 0.01 cents
per share for 2019 - 7,367 - -
Final tax-exempt (one-tier) dividend of 0.02 cents
per share for 2018 - 14,734 - -
Interim tax-exempt (one-tier) dividend of 0.03 cents
per share for 2018 - - 22,101 -
- 7,367 22,101 22,101 o
21 Borrowings
2020 2019 2018 2017
The Group A3$'000 A% 000 A$000 A$000
Non-current
Obligations under finance leases (Note 21.1) - - 439 698
Bank loans, secured (Note 21.2) 275,360 357,049 400,562 427,438
5% Convertible Note (Note 21.3) - 15,029 14,441 20,492
Other loans (Note 21.4) 13,893 15,199 23,510 28,270
289,253 387,277 438,952 476,898
Structuring and arrangement fee (974) (1.728) (2,832) (8,039)
288,279 385,549 436,120 468,859
Current
Obligations under finance leases (Note 20.1) - - 653 1,315
Bank loans, secured (Note 21.2) 103,184 80,573 71,684 36,715
5% Convertible Note (Note 21.3) 14,003 - 5,999 5,499
Other loans (Note 21.4) 10,177 9,048 - 906
127,364 89,621 78,336 44,435
Structuring and arrangement fee (598) (1,252) (1,530) (2,613)
126,766 88,369 76,806 41,822
Total Borrowings 415,045 473,918 512,926 510,681
Less:
Total obligations under finance leases - - (1,092) (2,013)
s 415,045 473,918 511,834 508,668
211 Obligations under finance leases
2020 2019 2018 2017
The Group A$000 A$'000 A%$000 A$000
Minimum lease payments payable:
Due not later than one year - - 701 1,390
Due later than one year and not later than five years - - 472 727
- - 1,173 2,117
Less: Finance charges allocated to future periods - - (81) (104)
_Present value of minimum lease payments - - - 1092 0 2013
Present value of minimum lease payments:
Due not later than one year - - 653 1,315
Due later than one year and not later than five years - B - 439 698
: 3 1092 2013
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21 Borrowings (Cont’d)

The Group leases motor vehicles and plant and equipment from non-related partes under finance leases. The
lease agreements do not have renewal clauses but provide the Group with opuons to purchase the leased
assets at nominal values at the end of the lease term. The finance lease obligations are secured by the

underlying assets.

At 31 December 2018, the average interest rate per annum ranged from 5.01% to 7.07% (2017 - 4.87% 1o
7.07%).

Obligatuons under finance leases are reclassified to lease Labilities (Note 22) on 1 January 2019 arising from
the adoption of IFRS 16. The impact of adoption is disclosed in Note 2(b).

21.2 Bank loans

2020 2019 2018 2017
The Group A$000 A$’000 A$'000 A$'000
Bank loans, unsecured 3,796 - - -
Bank loans, secured [Note (a)] 6,764 2,044 - 7,048
Bank loans, secured [Note (b)] 366,362 435,578 472,246 415,464
Bank loans, secured [Note (c)] 1,622 - - 41,641
o I 378,544 437,622 472,246 46:1_.153
Amount repayable not later than one year 103,184 80,573 71,684 36,715
Amount repayable after one year:
Later than one year and not later than five years 275,360 344,392 212,289 277,235
Later than five years - 12,657 188,273 150,203
275,360 357,049 400,562 427,438
o _ . 378,544 437,622 472,246 _ 464,153
Notes:
(a) These loans are secured by charges over certain bank deposits as disclosed in Note 17.
(b) These loans are secured by:
L shares of OM Materials (Sarawak) Sdn Bhd, a company incorporated in Malaysia;
. a charge over certain bank accounts;
. a charge over land use rights;
. a debenture;
. a borrower assignment;
. an assignment of insurances;
. a shareholder assignment;
. an assignment of reinsurances; and
. a corporate guarantee from OM Holdings Limited and Chaya Mata Sarawak Berhad (holds
25% ownership interest in OM Materials (Sarawak) Sdn Bhd).
() These loans are secured by:
. charge over land and buildings and certain bank deposits as disclosed in Note 4 and Note
17; and
. certain subsidiaries and associated compantes and corporate guarantees from the Company

and a subsidiary.
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212  Bank loans (Cont’d)

The Company and a subsidiary signed a Restructuring Faclites Agreement on 23 October 2017,
which amongst the salient terms, deferred the repayment period of the existing loans. The difference
of the net present value of cash flow of the restructured loan is less than 10% from the discounted
present value of the remaining cash flow of the original loans and hence, the loans were accounted
for as modification of Liabihtes during the year. In 2018, the restructured loan balance was repaid in

full.

21.3 5% Convertible Note

2020 2019 2018 2017
The Group A$000 A%’000 A$000 A%000
5% Convertible Note:
Due not later than one year 14,003 - 5,999 5,499
Due later than one year and not later than five years - 15,029 14,441 20,492
- 14003 15029 20,440 25991

— ——

On 7 March 2012, the Company issued to Hanwa Co. Ltd 25,000,000 converuble notes at an aggregate
principal amount of A$19,945,953 (US$21,447,261) with a nominal interest of 5% per annum, due on 6
March 2016 and convertible in accordance with the terms and conditions of issue including an inittal
conversion price of A$0.80 per share. On 4 March 2016, the Company executed an amendment and
restatement agreement with Hanwa Co. Ltd to extend the Convertible Note terms for a further 4 years to 6
March 2020, which has been assessed and accounted for as a non-substantial modification of the original
financial liability. The conversion option has not been recognised as a derivative financial instrument because
the fair value was assessed to be insignificant.

In March 2018, the convertble notes on issue were reduced from 25,000,000 to 20,000,000 following the
redemption of 20% of the convertible notes for US$4,290,000 (equivalent to approximately A$5,500,000).

In April 2018, the convertible notes on issue were reduced further from 20,000,000 to 17,435,500 following
the redemption by the Company of a further 10.26% of the original convertble notes for US$2,200,000

{equivalent to approximately A§2,900,000).

In February 2019, the convertible notes on issue were reduced further from 17,435,500 to 12,500,000
following the redemption by the Company of 19.74% of the original convertible notes for US$4,234,000
(equivalent to approximately A$5,826,000).

In December 2019, the Company executed an amendment and restaternent agreement with Hanwa Co. Ltd
to extend the Convertible Note terms for a further 1 year to 6 March 2021, which has been assessed and
accounted for as a non-substantal modification of the original financial kability. The conversion option has
not been recognised as a derivatve financial instrument because the fair value was assessed to be insignificant.
The Convertible Note was settled after the financial year ended 31 December 2020 (Note 42).
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21.4 Other loans
2020 2019 2018 2017
The Group A$'000 A$'000 A$000 A$'000
Shareholder loan, unsecured [Note (a)] 2,857 3,067 15,009 12,768
Shareholder loan, unsecured [Note (b)] 10,177 9,048 - 7,693
Third party loan, secured [Note (c)] 11,036 12,132 8,501 8,715
. e = 24,070 24,247 23,510 29,176
Amount repayable not later than one year 10,177 9,048 - 906
Amount repayabie after one year:
Later than one year and not later than five years 11,036 12,132 8,501 15,502
Later than five years ) 2,857 3,067 15,009 12,768
13,893 15,199 23,510 28,270
— . 24,070 24247 23510 29176
Notes:
(a) These loans are unsecured. None of the shareholders are entitled to demand or receive payment or

any distribution in respect of any shareholders’ loans from the Group. Repayment may be made
subject to satisfacdon of pre-agreed tests typical for a project financing of this nature.

(b) The loan is unsecured and repayable on demand.

() The loan is secured by a corporate guarantee from OM Holdings Limited. As at 31 December 2019,
the loan was repayable on 4 January 2021. In December 2020, the repayment date was extended to 4

January 2022.

21.5 Currency risk

Total borrowings are denominated in the following currencies:

2020 2019 2018 2017

The Group A$'000 A$'000 A$'000 A$'000

Australian Doflar - - - 675

United States Doliar 337,745 382,591 414,529 419,400

Malaysian Ringgit 75,678 91,327 98,284 90,606

Others 1,622 - 113 -
415,045 473,918 512,926 510,681

21.6 Effective interest rates

The weighted average effective interest rates of total borrowings at the end of the reporting period are as

follows:

The Group 2020
Obligations under finance leases (Note 21.1) -
Bank loans (Note 21.2) 0.41% 10 6.87%
5% convertible note (Note 21.3) 9.00%
Other loans (Note 21.4) 1.53% t0 5.95%
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2019

2.67% to 7.19%
9.00%
3.20% to 5.95%

2018

5.01% 10 7.07%
5.73% 10 6.78%

9.00%

1.55% to 5.26%

2017

4.87% 10 7.07%
3.38% t0 6.91%
9 00%

1.55% to 6.5%
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21.7 Carrying amounts and fair values

76

The carrying amounts of current borrowings approximate their fair value. The carrying amounts and fair

values of non-current borrowings were as follows:

Carrying Fair
amounts values
The Group A$'000 A$000
2020
Obligations under finance leases - -
Bank loans, secured and unsecured 275,360 273,840

5% convertible note
_Other loans N

13,893 13,893

2019
Obligations under finance leases

357,049

334,608

Bank loans, secured

5% convertible note 15,029 15,024
Other loans » - o 15199 15,199
2018

Obligations under finance leases 439 439
Bank loans, secured 400,562 392,268
5% convertible note 14,441 14,437
Other loans 23,510 23,510
2017

Obligations under finance leases 698 698
Bank loans, secured 427,438 406,449
5% convertible note 20,492 20,433
Other loans 28,270 27,981

The fair values above are determined from the discounted cash flow analysis, discounted at market
borrowing rates (per annum) of an equivalent instrument at the end of the reporting period which the

Directors expect to be available to the Group.

22 Lease liabilities
2020 2019
The Group A$'000 A$'000
Undiscounted lease payments due:
- Year 1 1,336 6,296
- Year 2 332 1,045
- Year 3 103 118
- Year 4 and onwards - 2
1,771 7,461
Less: Uneamed interest cost (101) {369)
Lease liabilities _ o L 1670 _ 7,092
Presented as:
- Non-current 415 1,102
- Current 1,255 5,990
. 1,670 7,092

Interest expense on lease habihues of A$306,000 (2019 - A$591.000) is recognised within “finance costs” in

the profic or loss.
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Rental expenses not capitalised in lease liabilities but recognised within “operating expenses” in the profit or

loss are set out below:

2020 2019
The Group A$000 A$000
Short-term leases 9,865 1,397

454 60

Leases of low value asset

Total cash outflows for all leases (including interest paid) in the year amount to A$6,547,000 (2019 -
A$7,006,000).

As at 31 December 2019 and 2020, the Group’s short-term lease commitments at the reporting date are not
substantially dissimtlar to those giving rise to the Group’s short-term lease expense for the year.

The Group’s lease liabilities are secured by the lessors’ title to the leased assets.
Further information about the financial risk management are disclosed in Note 38.

Lease liabilities are denominated in the following currencies:

2020 2019
The Group A$000 A$'000
Australian Dollar 613 3,666
Malaysian Ringgit 730 2,593
Others 327 833
o 1,670 7,092
23 Trade and other payables
2020 2019 2018 2017
The Group A$'000 A$000 A$000 A$'000
Non-current
Trade payables - third party 54,530 53,537 101,419 114,971
Other payables 232 3,617 11,439 24,623
Retention monies 29 3,076 21 131
54,791 60,230 112,879 139,725
Current
Trade payables
- third party 114,433 65,954 94,033 133,256
- associate - 3,964 - -
114,433 69,918 94,033 133,256
Accruals 9,417 6,808 12,798 23,409
Other payables 23,103 27,602 47,352 53,769
Retention monies 2,820 54 180 164
Welfare expense payable 2,295 1,674 1,369 1,075
Interest payables 3,692 7112 8,556 1,927
41,327 43,250 70,255 80,344
155,760 113,168 164,288 213,600
_Total e ———— ] 210,551 173,398 277,167 353,325

Non-current trade payables relate to payables to vendors which bear interest of 5.5% (2019 - 6%; 2018 - 6%;
2017 - 6%) per annum.
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23 Trade and other payables (Cont’d)
Trade and other payables are denominated in the following currencies:
2020 2019 2018 2017

The Group A$'000 A$'000 A$000 A$'000
Austratian Dollar 14,340 7,009 25,492 11,007
Renminbi 11,440 8,851 3,740 9,312
United States Dollar 37,400 37,564 56,074 126,097
Malaysian Ringgit 145,121 119,759 190,907 206,836
Others 2,250 215 954 73

210,551 173,398 277,167 353,325

credit terms.

All wade payables are generally on 30 to 120 (2019 - 30 to 120; 2018 - 30 to 120; 2017 - 30 to 120) days’

The carrying amounts of current trade and other payables approximate their fair value. The carrying
amounts and fair values of non-current trade and other payables are as follows:

Carrying Fair
The Group amounts values
A$'000 A$'000
2020
Trade payables - third party 54,530 54,530
Other payables 232 232
_Retention monies 29 29
2019
Trade payables - third party 53,537 53,537
Other payables 3,617 3,617
Retention monies 3,076 3,076
2018
Trade payables - third party 101,419 101,419
Other payables 11,439 11,439
Retention monies - S— =21
2017
Trade payables - third party 114,971 114,971
Other payables 24,623 24,398
Retention monies 13 131
24 Provisions
2020 2019 2018 2017

The Group A$000 A$'000 A$'000 A$000
Rehabilitation
At beginning of the year 14,453 9,931 6,032 6,069
Addition - 4,522 3,899 -
Adjustments from mine development costs (Note 7) (132) - - -
Provision utilised (1,646) - - (37)
At end of the year 12,675 14,453 9,931 6,032
Non-current 10,869 14,453 9,931 6,032
Current 1,806 - - -

12,675 14453 9931 6,032

According to the Mine Management and Environmental Management Plans submitted to the Northern
Terrtory Government in Australia, the Group is obligated for the rehabilitation and restoration of areas
disturbed arising from muning acuvites conducted by a wholly-owned subsidiary, OM (Manganese) Ltd.
Mine rehabilitaton costs are provided for at the present value of future expected expenditure when the
Labilite s incurred. Although the ulumate cost to be incurred is uncertam, the Group has esumated its costs
based on the rates outlined by the Northern Territory Department of Primary Industrey, Tourism and Trade

using current restorarion standards and techniques.
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25 Deferred capital grant

2020 2019 2018 2017

The Group A$'000 A$000 A$'000 A$'000
_Governmentgrant — 11,466 13,414 14,118 13,502

Non-current 10,730 12,605 13,315 12,776

Current 736 809 803 726

} - 11,466 13,414 14,118 13,502

A government grant was awarded for the construction of certain items of property, plant and equipment.
There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies attached. The movement in the deferred capital grant is
due to amortsation costs of A$817,000 (2019 - A$814,000; 2018 - A$760,000; 2017 - A$737,000) (Note 28)

and foreign currency translation differences.

26 Contract liabilities

2020 2019 2018 2017
The Group A$000 A$'000 A%'000 A$000
Transportation of goods sold under CFR
__and CIF Incoterms o 6,064 4,859 3,011 -

The Group’s contract liabilines relate to the Group’s obligation to transport goods sold to customers under
CFR and CIF Incoterms for which the Group has received advance payments from these customers.

Unsatisfied performance obligations in relation to contract labilities at the end of the reporting period are:

2020 2019 2018 2017
The Group A3'000 A$000 A$'000 A$'000
Aggregate amount of transaction price allocated to
contracts that are partially or fully unsatisfied at end
of the year — 6,064 4,859 3,011 -

The Group expects that 100% of the transaction price allocated to the unsatisfied performance obligations
at the end of the current year may be recognised as revenue during the next reporting period.

27 Other income

2020 2019 2018 2017
The Group A$000 A$000 A$000 A$000
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment - - - 53
Interest income from banks 691 898 405 187
Commission income 2,189 2,395 676 909
Fair value gain on other investment (Note 13) 1,388 - - -
Government grant 735 - - -
Sundry income 1,753 1,041 1,275 3,582
Unwinding of discount on non-current trade payables - - - 1,508
Gain on early debt settlement S - - B - 3,955

6,756 4334 2356 10,194
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28 Profit before income tax
2020 2019 2018 2017
The Group Note A$'000 A$'000 A$'000 A$'000
Profit before income tax has been arrived at after
charging/(crediting):
Amortisation of land use rights 5 206 204 193 186
Amortisation of mine development costs (") 7 6,505 5,147 9,052 11,143
Amortisation of deferred capital grant (2 25 (817) (814) (760) (737)
Fair value gain on other investment 13, 27 (1,388) - - -
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses
and included in cost of sales 14 688,371 874,001 1,157,128 778,597
Write-down of inventories to net realisable value (" 14 3,397 - - -
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment:
- cost of sales 27,630 34,043 29,904 24,098
- other operating expenses 15,655 8,326 6,847 8,887
4 43,285 42,369 36,751 32,985
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (! 9 5,644 6,156 - -
Depreciation of investment property () 8 11 11 - -
Foreign exchange (gain)/loss — net () (574) 3,809 5,249 32,725
Lease modification (" 296 - - -
Write off of exploration and evaluation costs (! 6 - 2,706 932 211
Write off of property, plant and equipment (! 36 121 116 586
Write off of goodwill from acquisition of subsidiary (*) 11 - - 2,550 -
Write off of warrants (1) 20 - 620 - -
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, plant
and equipment - 121 - (53)
Impairment loss on trade and other receivables () 15 - 278 - -
Unwinding of discount on non-current trade
payables (" 268 1,128 2,464 (1,508)
Rental expenses:
- short-term leases 9,865 1,398 - -
- leases of low-value assets 454 60 - -
Finance costs:
- loans 27,309 28,832 43,508 39,1531
- lease liabilities 306 591 - -
- others 1,212 2,797 1,373 4,749
28,827 32,220 44,881 43,902
Operating lease expense - - 5,587 2,333
Employee benefits expenses 32 70,238 81,850 80,552 43,057

(1) These are included under “Other operating expenses” in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income.

(2) This is included under “Cost of sales” in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income.

29 Income tax

A provision for enterprise income tax on the subsidiaries operating in the People’s Republic of China
(“PRC”) has been made in accordance with the Income Tax Law of PRC concerning Foreign Investment
Enterprises and Foreign Enterprises and various local income tax laws.

A Global Trader Programme is granted by the Singapore Ministry of Trade and Industry to a Singapore
subsidiary, OM Materials (S) Pte. Ltd,, for a concessionary rate of 10% valid up to December 2023, subject to

the fulfilment of specific condiuons.

In November 2017, OM Materials (Sarawak) Sdn. Bhd. (“OM Sarawak”) was awarded Pioneer Status by the
Malaysian Investment Development Authortty (“MIDA”), which enutles OM Sarawak exempuon from tax
for a period of 5 years cffective 1 December 2017 to 30 November 2021 on 100% of statutory income
derived from the production of ferro-silicon, silicon manganese and high carbon ferromanganese. OM
Sarawak 1s permitted to apply for an additonal 5 vears exempuon on 70% of tts statutory income on or
before 31 December 2022 subject to the satistaction of MIDA on pre-agreed enterion of this nature.
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29 Income tax (Cont’d)

Taxauon has been provided at the appropriate tax rates prevailing in Australia, Singapore, Malaysia, Hong
Ilong and PRC in which the Group operates on the estimated assessable profits for the year. These rates
generally range from 17% to 30% for the reporting period.

2020 2019 2018 2017

The Group A$'000 A$'000 A$000 A$'000
Current taxation:
- Singapore income tax (concessionary lax rate of 10%) 3,292 2,594 2972 2,786
- PRC tax (tax rate of 25%) (127) 647 1,728 -
- Australia income tax (tax rate of 30%) - 2,856 - -
- others 384 364 42 19
Deferred taxation (Note 10) - net effect (5,765) (13,575) 25,558 (22,374)

(2,216) (7,114) 30,300 (19,569)
(Over)Under provision in prior years:
- current taxation (2,599) 1,134 (260) 264
- deferred taxation 2,693 - - -
Income tax (2,122) (5,980) 30,040 (19,305)
Other taxation:
- withholding tax 406 6,629 19,699 -
- profits-based royalty and special mining taxes (2) 2,200 2,531 548

N (1,718) 2,849 52,270 (18,757)

A reconaliation of the income tax applicable to the accounting profit at the statutory income tax rates to the
income tax expense for the reporting period was as follows:

2020 2019 2018 2017

The Group A$’000 A$000 A$'000 A$'000
{Loss)/Profit before income tax (4,656) 58,921 236,927 72,617
Tax at applicable tax rates (2,960) 9,410 63,538 18,217
Tax effect of non-taxable revenue (317) (118) (1,358) (1,760)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 3,490 2,312 8,362 3,673
Tax effect of allowances and concessions given by

tax jurisdictions (2,392) (2,093) (20,944) (2,058)
Deferred tax assets on temporary difference not

recognised 3,173 30 32 26,550
Utilisation of deferred tax assets on temporary difference

not recognised in previous years (714) (12,088) (12,275) (60,837)
Effects of share of results of associates (2,480) (4,557) (7,046) (3,331)
Tax rebate (16) (10) (9) (23)
Under/{over) provision in prior years 94 1,134 (260) 264

(2,122) ___(5980) 30,040 (19.305)_

1) Non-taxable revenue relates mainly to unrealised exchange gains.
Non-deduclible expenses relate mainly to write off of goodwill, unrealised exchange losses, depreciation and amortisation of

non-qualifying assets, overseas accrued interest expenses and provision of expenses.

30 Cash flow hedges

2020 2019 2018 2017
The Group A$'000 A%$000 A$'000 A$000
Cash flow hedges:
_Gain arising duringtheyear 1253 919 461 1.360
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31 Profit per share
The Group

Basic profit per share is calculated based on the consolidated profit attibutable to owners of the parent
divided by the weighted average number of shares on issue of 736,690,000 (2019 - 736,690,000; 2018 -
733,590,000; 2017 - 731,490,000} shares during the financial year.

Fully dduted profit per share was calculated on the consolidated profit attributable to owners of the parent
divided by 736,690,000 (2019 - 736,690,000; 2018 - 751,026,000; 2017 - 787,690,000) ordinary shares. The
number of ordinary shares was calculated based on the weighted average number of shares on issue during
the financial year adjusted for the effects of all dilutive convertible bonds and warrants. Dilutive potential
ordinary shares are deemed to have been converted into ordinary shares at the beginning of the year or if
Jater, the date of the issue of the potenual ordinary shares.

For calculation of dduted earnings per share in 2019 and 2020, the convertble bonds are not included
because they are anti-dilutive. These convertible bonds can potentially dilute basic earnings per share in the
future.

The following table reflects profit or loss and share data used in the computation of basic and diluted profit
per share from continuing operations for the years ended 31 December:

2020 2019 2018 2017
The Group ‘000 '000 '000 '000

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the
purpose of basic profit per share 736,690 736,690 733,590 731,490

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:

Convertible bonds - - 17,436 25,000
Warrants - - - 31,200
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the
purpose of diluted profit per share 736,690 736,690 751,026 787,690

Profit figures were calculated as follows:

2020 2019 2018 2017
The Group A$’000 A$'000 A$000 A$'000
Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company 5,352 56,641 161,722 92,656
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:
Interest on convertible bonds - - 1,945 2,312
Profit for the purposes of diluted profit per share 5,352 56,641 163,667 94,968
32 Employee benefits expense

2020 2019 2018 2017
The Group A$000 A$'000 A$'000 A$000
Directors’ fees 693 610 610 440
Directors’ remuneration other than fees:
- Directors of the Company 1,540 2,547 4,695 3,451
- Directors of the subsidiaries 1,418 1,314 1,638 1,630
- Defined contributions plans 76 69 57 56
Key management personnel (other than Directors):
- Salaries, wages and other related costs 4,087 4,857 4,540 3,939
- Defined contributions plans 376 350 278 274

8,180 9,747 11,818 9,790
Other than key management personnel:
- Salaries, wages and other related costs 57,145 66,897 64,431 31,385
- Defined contributions plans 4,903 5,206 4,303 1,911

70,238 81,850 80,552 43,086
Capitalised in construction-in-progress - - - (29)
70.238 81,850 80552  43.057



Bermuda Company No.: EC 24140
ARBN: 081 028 337
Malaysia Foreign Company Registration No.: 202002000012 (995782-P)

13. ACCOUNTANTS’ REPORT (Contd)

OM Holdings Limited 83

and its subsidiaries
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the financial years ended

31 December 2020, 2019, 2018 and 2017

33 Related party transactions

In addition to the related party informaton disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the following
amounts are transactions with related parties based upon commercial arm’s length terms and conditions:

2020 2019 2018 2017
The Group A$'000 A$'000 A$'000 A$'000
Consultancy fee charged by an associate - - (235) (439)
Commission charged to an associate 2,665 2,395 - -
Commission charged by an associate (400) (576) (215) -
Sales of goods to an associate 1,691 147 79 21
Purchases of goods from an associate (86,624) (93,831) - -
34 Leases
@ The Group as lessee

(a) Properties
The Group leases several buildings mcluding a warchouse for operation and storage purposes (Note 9).

The Group makes prepayments for usage of land in the PRC and Malaysia under leasing agreements where
the Group constructs buildings and infrastructure for office and operation use.

There are no externally imposed covenants on these property lease arrangements.

(6) Plant and machinery, office equipment and motor vehicles

The Group makes monthly lease payments to acquire plant and machinery and office equipment used for
manufacturing and operation acuvities. The Group also acquires motor vehicles under hire purchase
arrangements to render internal logistics support. These plant and machinery, office equipment and motor
vehicles are recognised as the Group’s nght-of-use assets (Note 9). The lease agreements for plant and

machinery, office equipment and motor vehicles prohibit the Group from subleasing them to third parties.

Information regarding the Group’s right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are disclosed in Note 9 and 22
respectively.

(1) The Group as lessor

Investnient property

Operating leases, in which the Group as the lessor, relate to investment property (Note 8) owned by the
Group with lease term of 13 months. The operatung lease contract contains market review clauses in the
event that the lessee exercises its option to renew. The lessee does not have an option to purchase the

property at the expiry of the lease period.
The Group’s revenue from rental income received on the investment properties are disclosed in Note 8.

The future minimum rental receivable under non-cancellable operating leases contracted for the reporting

date are as follows:

2020 2019
The Group A$'000 A$'000
Undiscounted lease payments to be received:
- Year 1 127 127
- Year 2 and onwards ) - o o 11 10
138 137
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35 Commitments
35.1 Capital commitments
The following table summanses the Group's capital commitments:
2020 2019 2018 2017

The Group A$'000 A$'000 A$'000 A$000
Capital expenditure contracted but not provided for in

the financial statements:
- _acquisition of property, plant and equipment 872 18,856 64,838 1,496

35.2  Operating lease commitments

(A) Where the Group s the lessee

The Group leases office premuses, buildings, plant and machinery from non-related parties under non-
cancellable operating lease agreements. These leases have varying terms, escalaton clauses and renewal

nghts.

In 2018, the furure minimum lease payables under non-cancellable operating leases contracted for at the

balance sheet date but not recognised as liabilities, were as follows:

2018 2017

The Group A$’000 A$'000
Not later than one year 3,877 2,785
Later than one year and not later than five years 3,066 599
Later than five years - -
~ 6,943 3,384

As disclosed in Note 2(b), the Group has adopted IFRS 16 on 1 January 2019. These lease payments have

been recognised as right-of-use assets and lease liabilities on the statement of financial position as at 1

January 2019, except for short-term and low-value leases.

(B) Where the Group is the lessor

At the end of the reporung period, the Group had contracted with tenants for the following furure
minimum rental income receivable under non-cancellable operating leases of office premuses with original

term of more than one year:

2018 2017
The Group A$000 A$'000
Not later than one year 125 -
Later than one year and not later than five years 147 -
Later than five years - -
272 :

The lease on the Group’s office premuse for which rental income 1s receivable will expire on 31 January

2022.

On 1 Januarv 2019, the Group has adopted IFRS 16 and the undiscounted leasc pavments from the

operating leases to be reccived afrer 31 December 2019 are disclosed in Note 34.

290



Bermuda Company No.: EC 24140
ARBN: 081 028 337

Malaysia Foreign Company Registration No.: 202002000012 (995782-P)

13. ACCOUNTANTS’ REPORT (Cont'd)

OM Holdings Limited 85

and its subsidiaries
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the financial years ended

31 December 2020, 2019, 2018 and 2017

35 Commitments (Cont’d)
35.3 Other operating commitments
Other contracted operating commitments represent the provision of processing services, catering, cleaning

and village management, electrical power services, road haulage and rail haulage. These commitments are
contracted for but not provided for in the financial statements.

2020 2019 2018 2017
The Group A%$000 A$'000 A$'000 A$'000
Not later than one year 3,807 14,386 12,113 15,065
Later than one year and not later than five years - 1,883 13,819 2,475
Later than five years - - - -
3,807 16,269 25,032 17,540

354 Mineral Tenements

In order to maintain the mineral tenements in which a subsidiary was involved, the subsidiary was
committed to fulfil the minimum annual expenditures 10 accordance with the requirements of the Northern
Territory Department of Industry, Tourism and Trade for the next financial year, as set out below:

2020 2019 2018 2017
The Group A%$'000 A%'000 A$000 A$000
Mineral tenements annual expenditure commitments 101 210 197 95

35.5 Environmental bonds

A subsidiary had environmental bonds to the value of A$14,553,000 (2019 — A$13,927,000;, 2018 -
A$10,545,000; 2017 - A$9,861,000) lodged with the Northern Territory Government (Department of
Industry, Tourism and Trade) to secure environmental rehabilitation commitments. The A$14,553,000 (2019
- A$13,927,000; 2018 - A$10,545,000; 2017 - A$9,861,000) of bonds are secured by A$12,973,000 (2019 -
A$12,347,000; 2018 - A$8,881,000;, 2017 - A$7,451,000) of bonds issued under financing facilites and
certain cash backed as disclosed in Note 17.

36 Other matters

Sponsor Guarantee issued under the terms of the Power Purchase Agreement with Syarikat Sesco
Berhad

Pursuant to the execution of the Amended Power Purchase Agreement (“PPA”) between a subsidiary, OM
Material (Sarawak) Sdn. Bhd., and Syarikat Sesco Berhad (“SSB”), the Company issued sponsor guarantees
to SSB for its 75% interest of the subsidiary’s oblhgations under the PPA.

The sponsor guarantees disclosed above do not fall into the category of financial guarantees as they do not
relate to debt instruments. The purpose of these guarantees is essentally to enable SSB to provide the
power supply to the subsidiary on the condition that these guarantees are provided by the Company in the
event that there are any unpaid claims arising from the PPA owed to SSB. There are no bank loans involved
in these guarantees. As such, there is no need for the guarantees to be fair valued.
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35 Other matters (Cont’d)

Project Support guarantee issued under the terms of the Facilities Agreement and the Project
Support Agreement

OM Materials (Sarawak) Sdn Bhd, a subsidiary of the Company entered into a project finance Facilities
Agreement (“FA”) for a limuted recourse senior project finance debt facility.

Concurrently, the Company also executed a Project Support Agreement (“PSA”) with OM Materials
(Sarawak) Sdn Bhd (as Borrower), and the ulumate shareholders of the Borrower (as Obligors). The PSA
governs the rights and obligatons of the Obligors. These obligations and lLabilities of the Obligors are
severally liable on the basis of its shareholding proportion in OM Materials (Sarawak) Sdn. Bhd.

The PSA will lapse upon the final payment of the project financing facilities.

37 Operating segments

For management purposes, the Group is organised into the following reportable operating segments as

follows:

Mining Exploraton and mining of manganese ore

Smelting Production of manganese ferroalloys, ferrosilicon and manganese sinter
ore

Marketing and Trading Trading of manganese ore, manganese ferroalloys, ferrosilicon and sinter

ore, chrome ore and iron ore

Each of these operating segments is managed separately as they require different resources as well as

operating approaches.

The reporting segment results exclude the finance income and costs, share of results of associate, income tax
which are not directly attributable to the business activities of any operating segment, and are not included in
arriving at the operating results of the operating segment.

Sales between operating segments are carried out at arm’s length.

Segment performance is evaluated based on the operaung profit or loss which in certain respects, as set out
below, 1s measured differently from the operating profit or loss in the consolidated financial statements.
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37 Operating segments (Cont’d)

Reconciliaton of the Group's reportable segment profit to the profit before income tax is as follows:

2020 2019 2018 2017

The Group A$'000 A$'000 A$'000 A$000

Reportable segment profit 6,955 59,862 234,445 95,194

Finance income 691 898 405 187

Share of results of associates 16,525 30,381 46,958 21,138

Finance costs (28,827) (32,220) (44,881) (43,902)
_(Loss)/Profit before income tax — ___ {4,656) 58,921 236,927 72,617

The Group's revenues from external customers and its non-current assets (other than deferred tax assets) are

divided into the following geographical areas:

Revenue from external customers

Non-current assets

2020 2019 2018 2017 2020 2019 2018 2017

A$'000 A$'000 A$'000 A$'000 A$'000 A$'000 A$’000 A$'000

Asia Pacific 675,954 857,746 1,239,325 761,293 645,141 740,481 696,645 652,622
Europe 42,875 79,622 147,291 120,018 - - - -
Middle East 49,511 39,681 82,599 60,210 - - - -
Africa 3,220 1,911 1.414 7,375 126,803 116,302 126,303 116,500
Others 13.073 47,594 39,787 39,286 - - - -
o 784,633 1,026,454 1,510,416 988,182 771,944 856,783 822,948 769,022

The geographical location of customers is based on the locations at which the goods were delivered. The
geographical location of non-current assets is based on the physical location of the assets.

38 Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group are exposed to financial risks arising from its operations and use of financial instruments. The key
financial risks include credit nsk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk, foreign currency risk and market price risk.
The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and
seeks to minimise adverse effects from the unpredictability of financial markets on the Group’s financial

performance.

Risk management 1s carried out by the Finance Division under policies approved by the Board of Directors.
The Finance Division identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks in close co-operation with the Group’s
operating units. The Board provides written principles for overall risk management, as well as written policies
covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, use of derivative and non-

derivative financial instruments and investng excess hiquidity.

There has been no change to the Group's exposure to these financial aisks or the manner in which it manages

and measures the risk. Market risk exposures are measured using sensitivity analysis indicated below.
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38 Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont’d)

38.1 Credit risk
Credit nsk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligauon and cause

the Group to incur a financial loss. The Group's exposure to credit risk atises primanly from wade
receivables, cash and cash equivalents and other financial assets. For trade receivables, the Group adopts the
policy of dealing only with customers of appropriate credit history, and obtaining sufficient security where
appropriate to mutigate credit risk. For other financial assets, the Group adopt the policy of dealing only

with high credit quality counterparties.

The Group’s objecuve is to seek continual growth while minimising losses incurred due to increased credit

risk exposure.

Credit exposure to an individual counterparty is restricted by credit limits that are approved by management
based on ongoing credit evaluation. The counterparty’s payment profile and credit exposure are
continuously monitored at the entity level by the respective management.

Exposure to credit risk
As the Group do not hold any collateral, the maximum exposure to credit risk for each class of financial

instruments is the carrying amount of that class of financial instruments presented on the statements of

financial position.

The Group’s major classes of financial assets are bank deposits and trade receivables. Cash is held with
reputable financial institetons. Further detatls of credit risks on trade and other receivables are disclosed in

Note 15.

Undrawn credut facilities
The Group has undrawn credit faciliies of approximately A$11,550,000 (2019 — A$39,730,000; 2018 -

A$196,800,000; 2017 - A$158,700,000) at the reporting date.

38.2 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in raising funds to meet commitments
associated with financial instruments that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. Liquidity
risk may result from an inability to sell a financial asset quickly at close to its fair value.

The Group’s exposure to liquidity risk arises primarily from mismatches of the maturities of financial assets
and labilities. The Group’s objective s to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility
through the use of stand-by credit facilities.
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38.2  Liquidity risk (Cont’d)

The table below analyses the matunty profile of the Group’s financial liabilities based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows:

Between Total
Less than 2and 5 Over carrying
1 year years S years Total amount
A%$'000 A%$’000 A$'000 A$’000 A$'000
The Group

As at 31 December 2020
Trade and other payables 155,760 54,874 - 210,634 210,551
Borrowings 128,631 320,346 2,856 451,833 415,045
Lease liabilities 1,336 435 - 1,771 1,670
— 285,727 375655 2,856 664,238 627,266

As at 31 December 2019
Trade and other payables 113,168 60,580 - 173,748 173,398
Borrowings 112,132 444,908 3,067 560,107 473,918
Lease liabilities 6,296 1,165 - 7,461 7,092
— 231,596 506,653 3,067 741,316 654,408

As at 31 December 2018
Trade and other payables 164,288 114,339 - 278,627 277,167
Borrowings 106,004 346,193 245,626 697,823 511,834
270,292 460,532 245,626 976,450 789,001

As at 31 December 2017
Trade and other payables 215,060 142,650 - 357,710 353,325
Borrowings 67,533 371,970 198,030 637,533 508,668
282,593 514,620 198,030 995,243 861,993

The table analyses the derivative financial instruments of the Group for which contractual maturities are
essential for an understanding of the timing of the cash flows into relevant maturity groupings based on the
remaining period from the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the
table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

The Group has various lines of credit with major financial institutions for the purpose of drawing upon
short term borrowings, through the pledging of bills receivables or inventories. Further, management
closely monitors the Group’s capital structure to ensure that there are adequate funds to meet all its
obligations in a timely and cost effective manner.

The Group manages its hquidity risk by ensuring there are sufficient cash and current assets to meet 2ll their
normal operating commitments in a timely and cost-effective manner and having adequate amount of credit
facilides. The Group has the ability to generate additional working capital through financing from financial
institations.
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38.3 Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of the Group's financial instruments will

fluctuate because of changes in marker interest rates.

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk arises primarily from their bank borrowings, cash collaterals and

fixed deposits.

Sensitivity analysis for interest rate risk

At the end of the reporting period, if USD, RMB and MYR interest rates had been 75 (2018 — 75; 2017 —
75) basis points lower/higher with all other variables held constant, the Group’s profit net of tax would
have been higher/lower by the amounts shown below, arising mainly as a result of lower/higher interest
expense on bank borrowings, cash collaterals and fixed deposits.

Profit/ (Loss)

2020 2019 2018 2017
The Group A$ 000 A$000 A$'000 A$000
United States Dollar
- lower 75 basis points (2019/2018/2017 - 75 basis points) 1,822 2,006 2,051 2,385
- higher 75 basis points (2019/2018/2017 - 75 basis points) (1,822) (2,006) (2,051) (2,385)
Renminbi
- lower 75 basis points (2019/2018/2017 - 75 basis points) (57) (72) (52) (52)
- higher 75 basis points (2019/2018/2017 - 75 basis points) 57 72 52 52
Malaysian Ringgit
- lower 75 basis points (2019/2018/2017 - 75 basis points) 396 511 544 512
- higher 75 basis points (2019/2018/2017 - 75 basis points) (396) (511) (544) (512)

38.4  Foreign currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign
exchange rates. Currency risk arises when transactions are denominated in foreign currencies.

The Group operates and sells its products in several countries and transacts in foreign currencies. As a

result, the Group is exposed to movements in foreign currency exchange rates arising from normal trading

transactions, primarily with respect to USD, RMB and MYR.

298



Bermuda Company No.: EC 24140
ARBN: 081 028 337
Malaysia Foreign Company Registration No.: 202002000012 (995782-P)

13. ACCOUNTANTS’ REPORT (Cont'd)

OM Holdings Limited
and its subsidiaries

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the financial years ended
31 December 2020, 2019, 2018 and 2017

38 Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont’d)

38.4  Foreign currency risk (Cont’d)

Sensitivity analysis for foreign currency

risk

93

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the USD, RMB and
MYR exchange rates against AUD, with all other variables held constant, of the Group's profit after income

tax and equity.

2020 2019 2018 2017
The Group (Decrease)/ (Decrease)/ {Decrease)/ {Decrease)/
Profi/ increase Profit/ increase Proft/ Increase Profit/ Increase
{Loss} In Equity (Loss) Equity (Loss) Equity (Loss) Equity
A$'000 A$'000 A$'000 A$'000 A3'000 A$'000 A$'000 A3'000
United States Doltar
- strengthened 5% (2019/2018/2017 - 5%) (15.333) (13.131) (17,687) (17.525) (16.621) (17,865) 32,888 32,296
- weakened 5% (2019/2018/2017 - 5%) 15,333 13,131 17.687 17,525 16,621 17,865 (32,888) {32,296)
Renminbi
- strengthened 5% (2019/2018/2017 - 5%) 380 376 343 341 672 674 1141 1,146
- weakened 5% (2019/2018/2017 - 5%) (380) (376} (343) (341} (672) (674) (1,141) (1,146)
Malaysian Ringgit
- strengthened 5% (2019/2018/2017 - 5%) (10.745) (10,512) (10,585) (10,603) (14,298) (14,441) 14,507 14,674
- weakened 5% (2019/2018/2017 - 5%) 10,745 10,512 10,585 10,603 14,298 14,441 {14,507) {14.674)

38.5  Market price risk
The Group does not hold any quoted or marketable financial instruments, hence, is not exposed to any
movement in market prices.

39 Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are:

o to safeguard the Group's abilities to continue as a going concern;

o to support the Group’s stability and growth;

o to provide capital for the purpose of strengthening the Group's risk management capability; and
o to provide an adequate return to shareholders.

The Group actively and regulatly review and manage its capital structure to ensure optimal capital structure
and shareholders' returns, taking into consideration the future capital requirements of the Group and capital
efficiency, prevailing and projected profitability, projected operating cash flows, projected capital
expenditures and projected strategic investment opportunities. The Group currently do not adopt any
formal dividend policy.

Management reviews its capital management approach on an on-going basis and believes that this approach,
given the relative size of the Group, is reasonable.

The Group morutor capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by total equity:

2020 2019 2018 2017
The Group A$'000 A$'000 A$000 A$'000
Borrowings 415,045 473,918 512,926 510,681
Less: Cash and bank balances (63,031) (63,712) (91,819) (34,376)
Net debt — S— 352,014 410,206 421,107 476,305
Total equity o ) 468,239 507,868 451,125 287,748
Gearing ratio —— e — 0.76 081 093 166

There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management during the year.
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40 Financial instruments
Accounting classifications of financial assets and financial liabilities
Debt instruments Equity instruments
Note (at amortised cost) (at FVTPL) Total
31 December 2020 A3'000 A$'000 A$'000
The Group
Financial assets
Other investments 13 - 1,888 1,888
Trade and other receivables ! 15 56,229 - 56,229
Cash and bank balances 17 63,031 - 63,031
— E— 119,260 1,888 121,148
Other financial liabilities
(at amortised cost) Totai
31 December 2020 Note A$'000 A$'000
Financial liabilities
Borrowings 21 415,045 415,045
Lease liabilities 22 1,670 1,670
Trade and other payables 23 210,551 210,551
__ L 627,266 627,266 _
Debt instruments
(at amortised cost) Total
31 December 2019 Note A$'000 A$'000
Financial assets
Trade and other receivables (" 15 37,045 37,045
Cash and bank balances 17 63,712 63,712
. 100,757 100,757
Other financial liabilities
(at amortised cost) Total
31 December 2019 Note A$'000 A$'000
Financial liabilities
Borrowings 21 473,918 473,918
Lease liabilities 22 7,092 7,092
Trade and other payables 23 B 173,398 173,398
654,408 654,408
Debt instruments
(at amortised cost) Total
31 December 2018 Note A3$'000 A$'000
Financial assets
Trade and other receivables 15 90,570 90,570
Cash and bank baiances 17 91,819 91,819
- 182,389 182,389
Other financial liabilities
(at amortised cost) Total
31 December 2018 Note A$'000 A$'000
Financial liabilities
Borrowings (excluding finance lease liabilities) 21 511,834 511,834
Trade and other payables 23 277,167 277167
- 789,001 789,001
Loans and receivables
(at amortised cost) Total
31 December 2017 Note A$'000 A$'000
Financial assets
Trade and other receivables 15 91,025 91,025
Cash and bank balances 17 34,376 34,376
125,401 125,401
(1) Excluded tax recoverable from the irade and other reccivables of ASG.765000 (2019 AST764000,
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39 Financial instruments (Cont’d)
Accounting classifications of financial assets and financial liabilities (Cont’d)
Other financial liabilities

The Group (at amortised cost) Total
31 December 2017 Note A$'000 A$'000
Financial liabilities
Borrowings (excluding finance lease liabilities) 21 508,668 508,668
Trade and other payables 23 353,325 353,325

: 861 993 861,993
41 Fair value measurement

Definition of fair value
IFRSs define fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an

orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

Fair value hierarchy
Financial assets and financial lLiabiliies measured at fair value in the statements of financial position are
grouped into three Levels of a fair value hierarchy. The three Levels are defined based on the observability

of significant inputs to the measurement, as follows:

. Level 1:  quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets and liabilities;

] Level 2:  inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset
or lability, either directly or indirectly; and

] Level 3:  unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Financial assets and liabilities that are not carried at fair value but which carrying amounts approximate that

of fair value
The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables (Note 15), cash and bank balances (Note 17), trade and

other payables (Note 23) and current borrowings (Note 21) are reasonable approximation of fair values due
to their short term nature.

The carrying amounts of non-current trade and other payables (Note 23) and non-current borrowings
(Note 21) are reasonable approximation of fair values as their interest rate approximate the market lending

rate.

42 Events occurring after the reporting period

) As of 31 December 2020, the Company had 12,500,000 convertible notes on issue with Hanwa Co.
Lid, due on 6 March 2021 (Note 21.2). In March 2021, the 12,500,000 convertible notes were fully
redeemed by the Company for A$13,900,000 (approximately equivalent to US$10,700,000).

()  The Group’s subsidiary company, OM Materials (Sarawak) Sdn. Bhd., requested for additional
capttal contribution from its shareholders for the amount of A$11,700,000 (approximately equivalent
ro US$9,119,000). Accordingly, in March 2021, the Group has contributed its 75% proportionate
share of this capital contribution.
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14.1

14.2

SHARE CAPITAL

(i)

(vi)

(vii)

No future offering of new securities will be allotted or issued on the basis of this
Prospectus.

As at the LPD, we have only one class of shares in our Company, namely ordinary
shares, all of which rank equally with one another. There are no special rights attached
to our Shares.

Save as disclosed in Section 6.1.2 of this Prospectus, our Company has not issued or
proposed to issue any shares, stocks or debentures as fully or partly paid-up in cash or
otherwise, within the two years immediately preceding the date of this Prospectus.

As at the date of this Prospectus, there is currently no scheme involving our employees
and Directors in the share capital of our Company or any of our subsidiaries.

We have not agreed, conditionally or unconditionally, to put the share capital of our
Company or any of our subsidiaries under any option that is currently outstanding.

Save as disclosed in Section 6.3.2 of this Prospectus, as at the date of this Prospectus,
neither we nor our subsidiaries have any outstanding warrants, options, convertible
securities or uncalled capital.

Save as provided for under our Bye-laws, of which a summary of certain provisions are
set out in Section 14.2.2 below, and the BCA, there are no other restrictions upon the
holding or voting or transfer of our Shares or the interests in any of our Company or our
subsidiaries or upon the declaration or payment of any dividend or distribution thereon.

SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF OUR MEMORANDUM OF ASSOCIATION AND
SELECTED BYE-LAWS

The following provides information about certain provisions of our Memorandum of Association
and Bye-laws. The description below is only a summary and is qualified in its entirety by
reference to our Memorandum of Association and Bye-laws and the BCA:-

14.21

Memorandum of Association

Our Memorandum of Association states, inter alia, that the liability of the members
of our Company is limited to the amount (if any) for the time being unpaid on the
shares respectively held by them and that our Company is to be an exempted
company as defined by the BCA.

The Memorandum of Association of our Company provides that our Company shall,
pursuant to section 42 of the BCA, have the power to issue preference shares which
are, at the option of the holder, liable to be redeemed. The Memorandum of
Association of our Company also provides that our Company shall, pursuant to
Section 42A of the BCA, have the power to purchase its own shares. Pursuant to
Bye-law 3(2) of our Bye-laws, subject to the BCA, our Memorandum of Association
and, where applicable, the rules of any Designated Stock Exchange and/or
Secondary Stock Exchange and/or any competent regulatory authority, any power
of our Company to purchase its own shares for cancellation or otherwise acquire its
own shares as treasury shares in accordance with the BCA, shall be exercisable by
the Board of Directors upon such terms and subject to such conditions as it thinks
fit.
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14.2.2

Bye-laws

The words, terms and expressions appearing in the following provisions shall have
the same meanings used in our Bye-laws unless they are otherwise defined herein
or the context otherwise requires:-

| Word Meaning
“Act” the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda as amended from time to
time
“Applicable Law” means the Act, the Corporations Act (only as it relates to foreign
incorporated companies), the listing rules of the Designated Stock
Exchange and the ASX Settliement Operating Rules
“associate” the meaning attributed to it in the Corporations Act
“ASX Settlement” the ASX Settlement Pty Ltd (ACN 008 504 532)
“ASX Settlement | the operating rules of ASX Settlement
Operating Rules”
“ASX Settlement | a transfer of quoted securities or quoted rights effected in:-
Transfer” (a) accordance with the ASX Settlement Operating Rules; or
(b) substantial accordance with the ASX Settlement Operating
Rules and determined by ASX Settlement to be an effective
transfer
“"Board” the board of directors of the Company appointed or elected

pursuant to the Bye-laws and acting by resolution in accordance
with the Act and the Bye-laws or the directors present at a meeting
of directors at which there is a quorum

“Business Day”

has the meaning which it bears in the listing rules of the
Designated Stock Exchange

“Bye-laws” the Bye-laws in their present form or as supplemented or
amended or substituted from time to time.
“capital” the share capital from time to time of the Company
“Central Depositories | means the Securities Industry (Central Depositories) Act 1991 of
Act’ Malaysia and regulations made thereunder, as amended or re-
enacted from time to time.
“CHESS Approved | securities of the Company for which CHESS System approval has
Securities” been given in accordance with the ASX Settlement Operating

Rules, or such amended definition as may be prescribed by the
listing rules of the Designated Stock Exchange from time to time

“CHESS System”

the Clearing House Electronic Subregister System operated by
ASX Settlement or such other securities clearing house as is
approved pursuant to the Corporations Act from time to time and
to which the listing rules of the Designated Stock Exchange apply

“clearing house”

a clearing house recognised by the laws of the jurisdiction in which
the shares of the Company are listed or quoted on a stock
exchange in such jurisdiction

“Company”

OM Holdings Limited (ARBN 081 028 337)

“Corporations Act”

means the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) of Australia and
associated regulations, as may be in force in Australia from time
to time

“debenture” and
“debenture holder”

include debenture stock and debenture stockholder respectively

“Deposited Security”

means shares in the Company standing to the credit of a
Securities Account and includes securities in a Securities Account
that is in suspense subject to the provisions of the Central
Depositories Act.
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Word Meaning

“Depositor” means a person being a holder of a Securities Account maintained
with the Depository.

“Depository” means Bursa Malaysia Depository Sdn Bhd. (Malaysia Company

Registration No. 198701006854 (165570-W)) and its successors-
in-title.

“Designated Stock
Exchange”

The ASX Limited (ACN 008 624 691) or the Australian Securities
Exchange, as the context requires, for so long as the Company is
admitted to the official list of that exchange or such other stock
exchange which is an appointed stock exchange for the purposes
of the Act in respect of which the securities of the Company are
listed or quoted and where such appointed stock exchange deems
such listing or quotation to be the primary listing or quotation of
the shares of the Company

“Director”

a director of the Company and shall include an alternate director

“electronic meeting”

a general meeting held and conducted wholly and exclusively by
virtual attendance and participation by Members and/or proxies by
means of electronic facilities

“Escrow Period”

has the meaning given in the listing rules of the Designated Stock
Exchange

“hybrid meeting”

a general meeting convened for the (i) physical attendance by
Members and/or proxies at the Principal Meeting Place and where
applicable, one or more Meeting Locations and (ii) virtual
attendance and participation by Members and/or proxies by
means of electronic facilities

“Listing Requirements”

means Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Securities,
including any amendment that may be made from time to time

“Meeting Location”

has the meaning given to it in Bye-law 61A ]

“Member” or

a duly registered holder from time to time of the shares in the

“shareholder” capital of the Company
“MCA” means the Companies Act 2016 of Malaysia, as amended,
substituted or re-enacted from time to time
“month” a calendar month
“Notice” written notice unless otherwise specifically stated and as further
defined in the Bye-laws
“Office” the registered office of the Company for the time being

“physical meeting”

a general meeting held and conducted by physical attendance and
participation by Members and/or proxies at the Principal Meeting
Place and/or where applicable, one or more Meeting Locations

“Principal Meeting
Place”

shall have the meaning given to it in Bye-law 60(2)

“Record of Depositors”

means a record provided by the Depository to the Company under
Chapter 24.0 of the Rules

“‘Register”

the principal register and where applicable, any branch register of
Members to be kept pursuant to the provision of the Act

“Registration Office”

in respect of any class of share capital such place as the Board
may from time to time determine to keep a branch register of
Members in respect of that class of share capital and where
(except in cases where the Board otherwise directs) the transfers
or other documents of title for such class of share capital are to be
lodged for registration and are to be registered

“Representative”

any person authorised to act as a representative of a body
corporate pursuant to the Corporations Act

“Restricted Securities”

has the meaning given in the listing rules of the Designated Stock
Exchange
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Word Meanihg
“Restriction means, in relation to a Restricted Security, the restriction
Agreement” agreement entered into by the Company under the listing rules of

the Designated Stock Exchange in respect of that Restricted
Security

“Rules” means the Rules of the Depository, as may be amended from time
to time

“Secondary Stock | Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad

Exchange” or “Bursa
Securities”

“Secretary”

any person, firm or corporation appointed by the Board to perform

any of the duties of secretary of the Company and includes any
assistant, deputy, temporary or acting secretary

“Securities Account”

means the securities account maintained by a Depositor with the
Depository

“year”

a calendar year

(i)

Remuneration, voting and borrowing powers of our Directors

Certain provisions of our Bye-laws in relation to the remuneration, voting and
borrowing powers of our Directors, including voting powers in relation to
proposals, arrangements or contracts in which they are interested, are set out
below:-

(a)

Ability of interested directors to vote (Bye-laws 104 and 104A)

A Director who to his knowledge is in any way, whether directly or
indirectly, interested in a contract or arrangement or proposed contract
or arrangement with the Company shall declare the nature of his
interest at the meeting of the Board at which the question of entering
into the contract or arrangement is first considered, if he knows his
interest then exists, orin any other case at the first meeting of the Board
after he knows that he is or has become so interested.

A Director shall not vote (nor be counted in the quorum) on any
resolution of the Board approving any contract or arrangement or any
other proposal in which he or any of his associates is materially
interested, but this prohibition shall not apply to any of the following
matters namely:-

(A)  any contract or arrangement for the giving to such Director or his
associate(s) any security or indemnity in respect of money lent
by him or any of his associates or obligations incurred or
undertaken by him or any of his associates at the request of or
for the benefit of the Company or any of its subsidiaries;

(B) any contract or arrangement for the giving of any security or
indemnity to a third party in respect of a debt or obligation of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries for which the Director or his
associate(s) has himself/themselves assumed responsibility in
whole or in part whether alone or jointly under a guarantee or
indemnity or by the giving of security;
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(b)

(C) any contract or arrangement concerning an offer of shares or
debentures or other securities of or by the Company or any other
company which the Company may promote or be interested in
for subscription or purchase, where the Director or his
associate(s) is/are or is/are to be interested as a participant in
the underwriting or sub-underwriting of the offer;

(D) any contract or arrangement in which the Director or his
associate(s) is/are interested in the same manner as other
holders of shares or debentures or other securities of the
Company by virtue only of his/their interest in shares or
debentures or other securities of the Company;

(E) any contract or arrangement concerning any other company in
which the Director or his associate(s) is/are interested only,
whether directly or indirectly, as an officer or executive or a
member or in which the Director and any of his associates are
not in aggregate beneficially interested in five per cent or more
of the issued shares or of the voting rights of any class of shares
of such company (or of any third company through which his
interest or that of any of his associates is derived); or

(Fy any proposal or arrangement concerning the adoption,
modification or operation of a share option scheme, a pension
fund or retirement, death or disability benefits scheme or other
arrangement which relates both to directors, his associates and
employees of the Company or of any of its subsidiaries and does
not provide in respect of any Director, or his associate(s), as
such any privilege or advantage not accorded generally to the
class of persons to which such scheme or fund relates.

Remuneration (Bye-laws 92, 97, 98, 99 and 100)

The ordinary remuneration of the non-executive Directors shall from
time to time be determined by the Company in general meeting and
shall (unless otherwise directed by the resolution by which it is voted)
be divided amongst the Board in such proportions and in such manner
as the Board may agree or, failing agreement, equalily, except that any
non-executive Director who shall hold office for part only of the period
in respect of which such remuneration is payable shall be entitled only
to rank in such division for a proportion of remuneration related to the
period during which he has held office. Such remuneration shall be
deemed to accrue from day to day.

Each non-executive Director shall be entitled to be repaid or prepaid all
travelling, hotel and incidental expenses reasonably incurred or
expected to be incurred by him in attending meetings of the Board or
committees of the Board or general meetings or separate meetings of
any class of shares or of debentures of the Company or otherwise in
connection with the discharge of his duties as a non-executive Director.

Any non-executive Director who, by request, goes or resides abroad
for any purpose of the Company or who performs services which in the
opinion of the Board go beyond the ordinary duties of a non-executive
Director may be paid such extra remuneration (whether by way of
salary, commission, participation in profits or otherwise) as the Board
may determine and such extra remuneration shall be in addition to or
in substitution for any ordinary remuneration provided for by or
pursuant to any other Bye-law.
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(c)

Subject to the listing rules of the Designated Stock Exchange and
where applicable the Secondary Stock Exchange, the Board shall
obtain the approval of the Members in general meeting before making
any payment to any Director or past Director of the Company by way
of compensation for loss of office, or as consideration for or in
connection with his retirement from office (not being payment to which
the Director is contractually entitled).

Notwithstanding Bye-laws 97, 98, 99 and 100 as stated above, an
executive director appointed to an office under Bye-law 91 shall receive
such remuneration (whether by way of salary, commission,
participation in profits or otherwise or by all or any of those modes) and
such other benefits (including pension and/or gratuity and/or other
benefits on retirement) and allowances as the Board may from time to
time determine, and either in addition to or in lieu of his remuneration
as a Director.

Borrowing powers (Bye-law 111)

The Board may exercise all the powers of the Company to raise or
borrow money and to mortgage or charge all or any part of the
undertaking, property and assets (present and future) and uncalled
capital of the Company and, subject to the Act, to issue debentures,
bonds and other securities, whether outright or as collateral security for
any debt, liability or obligation of the Company or of any third party.

(ii)  Share rights and restrictions

(a)

Dividends and distributions (Bye-laws 19(2), 55A and 138 to
147(1))

Where a share stands in the names of two or more persons, the person
first named in the Register shall as regards service of Notices and,
subject to the provisions of the Bye-laws, all or any other matters
connected with the Company, except the transfer of the shares, be
deemed the sole holder thereof, save that in respect of any Deposited
Security which is jointly held by the Depository and a Depositor, the
Depositor named in the Register as the joint holder of the Deposited
Security shall as regards service of notices and, subject to the
provisions of the Bye-laws, all or any other matters connected with the
Company, be deemed to be the sole holder thereof,

The Board may, subject to the Bye-laws and in accordance with the
Act and the listing rules of the Designated Stock Exchange and where
applicable the Secondary Stock Exchange, declare a dividend in any
currency to be paid to the Members and such dividend may be paid in
cash or wholly or partly in specie in which case the Board may fix the
value for distribution in specie of any assets. The Board may declare
and make such other distributions (in cash or in specie) to the Members
as may be lawfully made out of the assets of the Company. The
Company in general meeting may also, subject to the Bye-laws and in
accordance with the Act and the listing rules of the Designated Stock
Exchange and where applicable the Secondary Stock Exchange,
declare a dividend or such other distribution to be paid to the Members
but no dividend or distribution shall be declared by the Company in
general meeting in excess of the amount recommended by the Board.
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No dividend shall be paid or distribution made if to do so would render
the Company unable to pay its liabilities as they become due or the
realisable value of its assets would thereby become less than its
liabilities.

Except in so far as the rights attaching to, or the terms of issue of, any
share otherwise provide: (A) all dividends shall be declared and paid
according to the amounts paid up on the shares in respect of which the
dividend is paid, but no amount paid up on a share in advance of calls
shall be treated for the purposes of Bye-law 140 as paid up on the
share; and (B) all dividends shall be apportioned and paid pro rata
according to the amounts paid up on the shares during any portion or
portions of the period in respect of which the dividend is paid.

The Board may from time to time pay to the Members such interim
dividends as appear to the Board to be justified by the profits of the
Company and in particular (but without prejudice to the generality of
the foregoing) if at any time the share capital of the Company is divided
into different classes, the Board may pay such interim dividends in
respect of those shares in the capital of the Company which confer on
the holders thereof deferred or non-preferential rights as well as in
respect of those shares which confer on the holders thereof preferential
rights with regard to dividend and provided that the Board acts bona
fide the Board shall not incur any responsibility to the holders of shares
conferring any preference for any damage that they may suffer by
reason of the payment of an interim dividend on any shares having
deferred or non-preferential rights and may also pay any fixed dividend
which is payable on any shares of the Company half-yearly or on any
other dates, whenever such profits, in the opinion of the Board, justifies
such payment.

The Board may deduct from any dividend or other moneys payable to
a Member by the Company on or in respect of any shares all sums of
money (if any) presently payable by him to the Company on account of
calls or otherwise.

No unpaid dividend or distribution or other moneys payable by the
Company shall bear interest as against the Company.

Any dividend, interest or other sum payable in cash to the holder of
shares may be paid by cheque or warrant sent through the post
addressed to the holder at his registered address or, in the case of joint
holders, addressed to the holder whose name stands first in the
Register in respect of the shares at his address as appearing in the
Register or addressed to such person and at such address as the
holder or joint holders may in writing direct. Every such cheque or
warrant shall, unless the holder or joint holders otherwise direct, be
made payable to the order of the holder or, in the case of joint holders,
to the order of the holder whose name stands first on the Register in
respect of such shares, and shall be sent at his or their risk and
payment of the cheque or warrant by the bank on which it is drawn shall
constitute a good discharge to the Company notwithstanding that it
may subsequently appear that the same has been stolen or that any
endorsement thereon has been forged. Any one of two or more joint
holders may give effectual receipts for any dividends or other moneys
payable or property distributable in respect of the shares held by such
joint holders.
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All dividends or bonuses unclaimed for one year after having been
declared may be invested or otherwise made use of by the Board for
the benefit of the Company until claimed. Any dividend or bonuses
unclaimed after a period of six years from the date of declaration shall
be forfeited and shall revert to the Company. The payment by the
Board of any unclaimed dividend or other sums payable on or in
respect of a share into a separate account shall not constitute the
Company a trustee in respect thereof.

Whenever the Board or the Company in general meeting has resolved
that a dividend be paid or declared, the Board may further resolve that
such dividend be satisfied wholly or in part by the distribution of specific
assets of any kind and in particular of paid up shares, debentures or
warrants to subscribe securities of the Company or any other company,
or in any one or more of such ways, and where any difficulty arises in
regard to the distribution the Board may settle the same as it thinks
expedient, and in particular may issue certificates in respect of fractions
of shares, disregard fractional entitlements or round the same up or
down, and may fix the value for distribution of such specific assets, or
any part thereof, and may determine that cash payments shall be made
to any Members upon the footing of the value so fixed in order to adjust
the rights of all parties, and may vest any such specific assets in
trustees as may seem expedient to the Board and may appoint any
person to sign any requisite instruments of transfer and other
documents on behalf of the persons entitled to the dividend, and such
appointment shall be effective and binding on the Members. The Board
may resolve that no such assets shall be made available to Members
with registered addresses in any particular territory or territories where,
in the absence of a registration statement or other special formalities,
such distribution of assets would or might, in the opinion of the Board,
be unlawful or impracticable and in such event the only entitlement of
the Members aforesaid shall be to receive cash payments as aforesaid.
Members affected as a result of the foregoing sentence shall not be or
be deemed to be a separate class of Members for any purpose
whatsoever.

Any resolution declaring a dividend on shares of any class, whether a
resolution of the Company in general meeting or a resolution of the
Board, may specify that the same shall be payable or distributable to
the persons registered as the holders of such shares at the close of
business on a particular date, notwithstanding that it may be a date
prior to that on which the resolution is passed, and thereupon the
dividend shall be payable or distributable to them in accordance with
their respective holdings so registered, but without prejudice to the
rights inter se in respect of such dividend of transferors and transferees
of any such shares. The provisions of Bye-law 146A shall mutatis
mutandis apply to bonuses, capitalisation issues, distributions of
realised capital profits or offers or grants made by the Company to the
Members.
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Whenever the Board or the Company in general meeting has resolved
that a dividend be paid or declared on any class of the share capital of
the Company, the Board may further resolve either (A) that such
dividend be satisfied wholly or in part in the form of an allotment of
shares credited as fully paid up, provided that the Members entitled
thereto will be entitled to elect to receive such dividend (or part thereof
if the Board so determines) in cash in lieu of such allotment; or (B) that
the Members entitled to such dividend shall be entitled to elect to
receive an allotment of shares credited as fully paid up in lieu of the
whole or such part of the dividend as the Board may think fit.

Without prejudice to the rights of the Company under the paragraph
below, the Company may cease sending cheques for dividend
entitlements or dividend warrants by post if such cheques or warrants
have been left uncashed on two consecutive occasions. However, the
Company may exercise the power to cease sending cheques for
dividend entitlements or dividend warrants after the first occasion on
which such a cheque or warrant is returned undelivered.

The Company shall have the power to sell, in such manner as the
Board thinks fit, any shares of a Member who is untraceable, but no
such sale shall be made unless:-

(A) all cheques or warrants in respect of dividends of the shares in
question, being not less than three in total number, for any sum
payable in cash to the holder of such shares in respect of them
sent during the relevant period in the manner authorised by the
Bye-laws of the Company have remained uncashed;

(B) so far as it is aware at the end of the relevant period, the
Company has not at any time during the relevant period
received any indication of the existence of the Member who is
the holder of such shares or of a person entitled to such shares
by death, bankruptcy or operation of law; and

(C) the Company, if so required by the rules governing the listing
of shares on the Designated Stock Exchange and where
applicable the Secondary Stock Exchange, has given Notice
to, and caused advertisement in newspapers in accordance
with the requirements of, the Designated Stock Exchange and
where applicable the Secondary Stock Exchange to be made
of its intention to sell such shares in the manner required by
the Designated Stock Exchange and where applicable the
Secondary Stock Exchange, and a period of three (3) months
or such shorter period as may be allowed by the Designated
Stock Exchange and where applicable the Secondary Stock
Exchange has elapsed since the date of such advertisement.

For the purpose of the foregoing, the “relevant period” means
the period commencing twelve years before the date of
publication of the advertisement referred to in paragraph (C)
and ending at the expiry of the period referred to in that
paragraph.
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(b)

To give effect to any such sale the Board may authorise some person
to transfer the said shares and an instrument of transfer signed or
otherwise executed by or on behalf of such person shall be as effective
as if it had been executed by the registered holder or the person entitled
by transmission to such shares, and the purchaser shall not be bound
to see to the application of the purchase money nor shall his title to the
shares be affected by any irregularity or invalidity in the proceedings
relating to the sale. The net proceeds of the sale will belong to the
Company and upon receipt by the Company of such net proceeds it
shall become indebted to the former Member for an amount equal to
such net proceeds. No trust shail be created in respect of such debt
and no interest shall be payable in respect of it and the Company shall
not be required to account for any money earned from the net proceeds
which may be employed in the business of the Company or as it thinks
fit.

Any sale under Bye-law 55A shall be valid and effective
notwithstanding that the Member holding the shares sold is dead,
bankrupt or otherwise under any legal disability or incapacity.

Voting rights (Bye-laws 17B(1), 17B(2), 31, 47(2), 67, 75,77 and 79)

Subject to the Listing Requirements (if applicable), for so long as the
Company is listed on the Secondary Stock Exchange and the shares
of the Company are deposited with the Depository, all Deposited
Securities of a Depositor shall be held jointly by the Depository and the
Depositor. The Depositor shall be named in the Register as the first
holder and the Depository named as the second or junior holder (as
the case may be) thereof.

Notwithstanding any provision in the Bye-laws to the contrary, a
Depositor whose name appears in the Register shall be entitled to all
rights (including voting and other rights), benefits, powers and
privileges and be subject to all liabilities, duties and obligations in
respect of, or arising from, such Deposited Security registered in the
Depositor's name (whether conferred or imposed by the Act, the
memorandum of association of the Company or the Bye-laws, or
otherwise) as if such Depositor is the sole holder of such Deposited
Security. Notwithstanding that the Depository is named in the Register
as the joint holder of any Deposited Security, the Depository shall not
be entitled to any rights (including voting and other rights), benefits,
powers and privileges in respect of, or arising from, such Deposited
Security and nor shall the Depository be subject to any liabilities, duties
and obligations in respect of, or arising from, such Deposited Security.

No Member shall be entitled to receive any dividend or bonus or to be
present and vote (save as proxy for another Member) at any general
meeting either personally or by proxy, or be reckoned in a quorum, or
exercise any other privilege as a Member until all calls or instalments
due by him to the Company, whether alone or jointly with any other
person, together with interest and expenses (if any) shall have been
paid.
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For so long as the Company is listed on the Secondary Stock
Exchange and the shares of the Company are deposited with the
Depository, in accordance with the Rules, the Company shall inform
the Depository of the dates of general meetings of the Company and
the Company shall request the Depository to issue a Record of
Depositors to whom notices of general meetings shall be given by the
Company. In addition, in respect of each general meeting, the
Company shall request the Depository in accordance with the Rules,
to issue a Record of Depositors as at the latest date which is
reasonably practicable which shall in any event be not less than three
(3) clear market days before that general meeting (“General Meeting
Record of Depositors”). Subject to the Securities Industry (Central
Depositories) (Foreign Ownership) Regulations 1996 of Malaysia as
amended from time to time, notwithstanding any other provision of the
Bye-laws, a Depositor shall not be entitied to attend any general
meeting and to speak and vote thereat unless his name appears in the
relevant General Meeting Record of Depositors.

Subject to any special rights or restrictions as to voting for the time
being attached to any shares by or in accordance with the Bye-laws, at
any general meeting on a show of hands every Member present in
person (or being a corporation, is present by a Representative duly
authorised under Section 78 of the Act), or by proxy shall have one vote
and on a poll every Member present in person or by proxy or, in the
case of a Member being a corporation by its duly authorised
Representative or by proxy shall have one vote for every fully paid
share of which he is the holder but so that no amount paid up or credited
as paid up on a share in advance of calls or instalments is treated for
the foregoing purposes as paid up on the share. Notwithstanding
anything contained in the Bye-laws, where more than one proxy is
appointed by a Member which is a clearing house (or its nominee(s)),
each such proxy shall have one vote on a show of hands. Votes may
be cast by such means, electronic or otherwise, as the Directors or the
chairman of the meeting may determine. A resolution put to the vote of
a physical meeting shall be decided on a show of hands unless voting
by way of a poll is required by the listing rules of the Designated Stock
Exchange or (before or on the declaration of the result of the show of
hands or on the withdrawal of any other demand for a poll) a poll is
demanded:-

(A) by the chairman of such meeting; or

(B) by at least five Members present in person or in the case of a
Member being a corporation by its duly authorised
Representative or by proxy for the time being entitled to vote
at the meeting; or

(C) by a Member or Members present in person or in the case of a
Member being a corporation by its duly authorised
Representative or by proxy and representing not less than one-
tenth of the total voting rights of all Members having the right
to vote at the meeting; or

(D) by a Member or Members present in person or in the case of a
Member being a corporation by its duly authorised
Representative or by proxy and holding shares in the Company
conferring a right to vote at the meeting being shares on which
an aggregate sum has been paid up equal to not less than one-
tenth of the total sum paid up on all shares conferring that right.
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(c)

A demand by a person as proxy for a Member or in the case of a
Member being a corporation by its duly authorised Representative shall
be deemed to be the same as a demand by a Member.

Where there are joint holders of any share any one of such joint holder
may vote, either in person or by proxy, in respect of such share as if he
were solely entitled thereto, but if more than one of such joint holders
be present at any meeting the vote of the senior who tenders a vote,
whether in person or by proxy, shall be accepted to the exclusion of the
votes of the other joint holders, and for this purpose seniority shall be
determined by the order in which the names stand in the Register in
respect of the joint holding. Several executors or administrators of a
deceased Member in whose name any share stands shall for the
purposes of Bye-law 75 be deemed joint holders thereof.

No Member shall, unless the Board otherwise determines, be entitled
to attend and vote and to be reckoned in a quorum at any general
meeting unless he is duly registered and ali calls or other sums
presently payable by him in respect of shares in the Company have
been paid. Where the Company has knowledge that any Member is,
under the listing rules of the Designated Stock Exchange and where
applicable the Secondary Stock Exchange, required to abstain from
voting on any particular resolution of the Company or restricted to
voting only for or only against any particular resolution of the Company,
any votes cast by or on behalf of such Member in contravention of such
requirement or restriction shall not be counted.

Any Member entitled to attend and vote at a meeting of the Company
shall be entitled to appoint another person as his proxy to attend and
vote instead of him. A Member who is the holder of two or more shares
may appoint more than one proxy or attorney to represent him and vote
on his behalf at a general meeting of the Company or at a class
meeting. A proxy or attorney need not be a Member. In addition, a
proxy or proxies representing either a Member who is an individual or
a Member which is a corporation shall be entitled to exercise the same
powers on behalf of the Member which he or they represent as such
Member could exercise.

Variation of rights of existing shares or classes of shares (Bye-
laws 9, 12 and 13)

Subject to any special rights conferred on the holders of any shares or
class of shares, any share in the Company (whether forming part of the
present capital or not) may be issued with or have attached thereto
such rights or restrictions whether in regard to dividend, voting, return
of capital or otherwise as the Company may by ordinary resolution
determine or, if there has not been any such determination or so far as
the same shall not make specific provision, as the Board may
determine.
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(d)

Subject to the Act and without prejudice to the paragraph stated above,
all or any of the special rights for the time being attached to the shares
or any class of shares may, unless otherwise provided by the terms of
issue of the shares of that class, from time to time (whether or not the
Company is being wound up) be varied, modified or abrogated either
with the consent in writing of the holders of not less than three-fourths
of the issued shares of that class or with the sanction of a special
resolution passed at a separate general meeting of the holders of the
shares of that class. To every such separate general meeting all the
provisions of the Bye-laws relating to general meetings of the Company
shall, mutatis mutandis, apply, but so that:-

(A)  the necessary quorum (other than at an adjourned meeting) shall
be two persons (or in the case of a Member being a corporation,
its duly authorised Representative) holding or representing by
proxy not less than one-third in nominal value of the issued
shares of that class and at any adjourned meeting of such
holders, two holders present in person (or in the case of a
Member being a corporation, its duly authorised Representative)
or by proxy (whatever the number of shares held by them) shall
be a quorum:;

(B) every holder of shares of the class shall be entitled on a poll to
one vote for every such share held by him; and

(C) any holder of shares of the class present in person or by proxy
may demand a poll.

The special rights conferred upon the holders of any shares or class of
shares shall not, unless otherwise expressly provided in the rights
attaching to or the terms of issue of such shares, be deemed to be
varied, modified or abrogated by the creation or issue of further shares
ranking pari passu therewith.

General meetings (Bye-laws 56, 57, 58, 59, 60(1), 60(2) and 61A(3))

An annual general meeting of the Company shall be held in each year
other than the year in which its statutory meeting is convened at such
time (within a period of not more than 15 months after the holding of
the last preceding annual general meeting unless a longer period would
not infringe the listing rules of the Designated Stock Exchange and
where applicable the Secondary Stock Exchange) and place (if
applicable) as may be determined by the Board.

Each general meeting, other than an annual general meeting, shall be
called a special general meeting. Subject to the listing rules of the
Designated Stock Exchange (if applicable), general meetings
(including an annual general meeting, any adjourned meeting or
postponed meeting) may be held as a physical meeting in any part of
the world and at one or more locations as provided in Bye-law 61A, as
a hybrid meeting or as an electronic meeting as may be determined by
the Board in its absolute discretion. For so long as the shares of the
Company are listed on the Secondary Stock Exchange, general
meetings of the Company may be held at more than one venue using
any technology that allows all Members a reasonable opportunity to
participate in the meeting and at such time, day and place as may be
determined by the Board.
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The Board may whenever it thinks fit call special general meetings, and
Members holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the
right, by written requisition to the Board or the Secretary of the
Company, to require a special general meeting to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition;
and such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of
such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionists themselves may
do so in accordance with the provisions of Section 74(3) of the Act.

The Company shall notify the Designated Stock Exchange and where
applicable the Secondary Stock Exchange of any meeting at which
Directors are to be elected at least five Business Days before the
closing day for receipt of nominations for Directors, and in any other
case, on the Business Day that the Notice of general meeting is
dispatched to Members.

As soon as is practicable the Company shall notify the Designated
Stock Exchange and where applicable the Secondary Stock Exchange
after any general meeting in the case of special business as to whether
or not the resolutions were carried and in the case of ordinary business
as to which of those resolutions were not carried or were amended or
were withdrawn.

An annual general meeting and any special general meeting at which
the passing of a special resolution is to be considered shall be called
by not less than twenty-one (21) clear days' Notice. All other special
general meetings may be called by not less than fourteen (14) clear
days’ Notice but a general meeting may be called by shorter notice if it
is s0 agreed: (A) in the case of a meeting called as an annual general
meeting, by all the Members entitled to attend and vote thereat; and
(B) in the case of any other meeting, by a majority in number of the
Members having the right to attend and vote at the meeting, being a
majority together holding not less than ninety-five per cent. (95%) in
nominal value of the issued shares giving that right.

The period of notice shall be exclusive of the day on which it is served
or deemed to be served and exclusive of the day on which the meeting
is to be held, and the Notice shall specify (a) the date and time of the
meeting, (b) save for an electronic meeting, the place of the meeting
and if there is more than one meeting location as determined by the
Board pursuant to Bye-law 61A, the principal place of the meeting (the
“Principal Meeting Place”), (c) if the general meeting is to be a hybrid
meeting or an electronic meeting, the notice shall include a statement
to that effect and with details of the electronic facilities for attendance
and participation by electronic means at the meeting or where such
details will be made available by the Company prior to the meeting, and
(d) in the case of special business, the general nature of the business
to be transacted at the meeting. Any Notice of a general meeting to
consider special business shall be accompanied by a statement
regarding the effect of any proposed resolution on the Company in
respect of such special business.
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(e)

The Notice convening an annual general meeting shall specify the
meeting as such. Notice of every general meeting shall be given to all
Members other than to such Members as, under the provisions of the
Bye-laws or the terms of issue of the shares they hold, are not entitled
to receive such Notices from the Company, to all persons entitled to a
share in consequence of the death or bankruptcy or winding-up of a
Member and to each of the Directors and the Auditors and if the
Company has issued and there are currently any listed securities, the
home branch of the Designated Stock Exchange and where applicable
the Secondary Stock Exchange. If the Company is included in the
official list of the Designated Stock Exchange and where applicable the
Secondary Stock Exchange the Notice must specify a place and fax
number for the purpose of receipt of proxy appointments (and may
specify an electronic address for such purposes) and comply with the
listing rules of the Designated Stock Exchange and where applicable
the Secondary Stock Exchange.

The Board may, at its absolute discretion, arrange for persons entitled
to attend a general meeting to do so by simultaneous attendance and
participation by means of electronic facilities at such location or
locations (“Meeting Location(s)”) determined by the Board at its
absolute discretion. Any Member or any proxy attending and
participating in such way or any Member participating in and/or logged-
in to an electronic meeting or a hybrid meeting by means of electronic
facilities is deemed to be present at and shall be counted in the quorum
of the meeting.

Changes in capital (Bye-laws 4 to 7)

The Company may from time to time by ordinary resolution in any
manner permitted by law and (for so long as the shares of the Company
are listed on the Designated Stock Exchange) the listing rules of the
Designated Stock Exchange and in accordance with Section 45 of the
Act:-

(A) increase its capital by such sum, to be divided into shares of
such amounts, as the resolution shall prescribe;

(B) consolidate and divide all or any of its capital into shares of larger
or smaller amount than its existing shares;

(C) divide its shares into several classes and without prejudice to
any special rights previously conferred on the holders of existing
shares attach thereto respectively any preferential, deferred,
qualified or special rights, privileges, conditions or such
restrictions which in the absence of any such determination by
the Company in general meeting, as the Directors may
determine provided always that where the Company issues
shares which do not carry voting rights, the words "non-voting"
shall appear in the designation of such shares and where the
equity capital includes shares with different voting rights, the
designation of each class of shares, other than those with the
most favourable voting rights, must include the words "restricted
voting" or "limited voting™;
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(D) sub-divide its shares, or any of them, into shares of smaller
amount than is fixed by the memorandum of association
(subject, nevertheless, to the Act), and may by such resolution
determine that, as between the holders of the shares resulting
from such sub-division, one or more of the shares may have any
such preferred rights or be subject to any such restrictions as
compared with the other or others as the Company has power
to attach to unissued or new shares;

(E) change the currency denomination of its share capital;

(F)  make provision for the issue and allotment of shares which do
not carry any voting rights; and

(G) cancel any shares which, at the date of the passing of the
resolution, have not been taken, or agreed to be taken, by any
person, and diminish the amount of its capital by the amount of
the shares so cancelled.

The Board may settle as it considers expedient any difficulty which
arises in relation to any consolidation and division under the Bye-law
4 and in particular but without prejudice to the generality of the
foregoing may issue certificates in respect of fractions of shares or
arrange for the sale of the shares representing fractions and the
distribution of the net proceeds of sale (after deduction of the expenses
of such sale) in due proportion amongst the Members who would have
been entitled to the fractions, and for this purpose the Board may
authorise some person to transfer the shares representing fractions to
their purchaser or resolve that such net proceeds be paid to the
Company for the Company's benefit. Such purchaser will not be bound
to see to the application of the purchase money nor will his title to the
shares be affected by any irregularity or invalidity in the proceedings
relating to the sale.

The Company may from time to time by special resolution, subject to
any confirmation or consent required by law, reduce its authorised or
issued share capital or any share premium account or other
undistributable reserve in any manner permitted by law.

Subject to the Act, the Memorandum of Association and the Bye-laws,
the Company may: (A) reduce its share capital; and (B) repurchase its
shares, on any terms and at any time.

The distribution made from any reduction or repurchase in respect of
the share capital of the Company may include any or all of the payment
of cash, the issue of shares or other securities, the grant of options and
the transfer of assets. If the distribution of any reduction or repurchase
in respect of the share capital of the Company includes an issue or
transfer of shares in a body corporate, each Member: (A) agrees to
become a member of that body corporate; and (B) in the case of a
transfer, appoints the Company and each Director as its agent to
execute an instrument of transfer or other document required to
transfer the relevant shares to that Member.
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(f)

Except so far as otherwise provided by the conditions of issue, or by
the Bye-laws, any capital raised by the creation of new shares shall be
treated as if it formed part of the original capital of the Company, and
such shares shall be subject to the provisions contained in the Bye-
laws with reference to the payment of calls and instalments, transfer
and transmission, forfeiture, lien, cancellation, surrender, voting and
otherwise.

Transfer of shares (Bye-laws 48 to 52A)

Subject to the Bye-laws, any Member may transfer all or any of his
shares by an instrument of transfer in the usual or common form or in
a form prescribed by the Designated Stock Exchange and where
applicable the Secondary Stock Exchange or in any other form
approved by the Board and may be under hand or, if the transferor or
transferee is a clearing house or its nominee(s), by hand or by machine
imprinted signature or by such other manner of execution as the Board
may approve from time to time. Subject to the Applicable Law, the
Board may do anything they consider necessary or desirable to
facilitate participation by the Company in the CHESS System or any
other computerised or electronic share transfer registration or stock
market settlement system introduced by, or acceptable to, the
Designated Stock Exchange and where applicable the Secondary
Stock Exchange in respect of transfers of, or dealings in, marketable
securities.

The Company must comply with all obligations imposed on it under the
Applicable Law in respect of an ASX Settlement Transfer or any other
transfer of fully paid shares.

If permitted to do so by the listing rules of the Designated Stock
Exchange or the ASX Settlement Operating Rules, the Directors may:
(A) request ASX Settlement to apply a holding lock to prevent a transfer
of CHESS Approved Securities; or (B) decline to register a transfer of
shares in the Company.

The Directors must: (A) request ASX Settlement to apply a holding lock
to prevent a transfer of CHESS Approved Securities; or (B) decline to
register any transfer of other shares if: (aa) the listing rules of the
Designated Stock Exchange and where applicable the Secondary
Stock Exchange require the Company to do so; or (bb) the transfer is
in breach of the listing rules of the Designated Stock Exchange and
where applicable the Secondary Stock Exchange or a Restriction
Agreement.

if in the exercise of their powers under Bye-laws 48A(2) or (3), the
Directors request the application of a holding lock to prevent a transfer
of CHESS Approved Securities or refuse to register a transfer of a
security, they must give written Notice to the holder of the security and
the broker lodging the transfer, if any, of the refusal to transfer. Failure
to give such Notice does not invalidate the decision of the Directors.

Subject to Bye-laws 48(A) to (4), the Company must not prevent, delay

or interfere with the registration of an ASX Settlement Transfer or any
other transfer of shares.
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In addition to the provisions above, for so long as the shares of the
Company are listed on the Secondary Stock Exchange, the Company
shall at all times comply with the requirements of the Secondary Stock
Exchange relating to the transfer of shares and transmission of shares
as set out below:-

(A)  The transfer of any Deposited Security or class of Deposited
Security of the Company, shall be by way of book entry by the
Depository in accordance with the Rules of the Depository, and,
notwithstanding Sections 105, 106 or 110 of the MCA, but
subject to Section 148(2) of the MCA and any exemption that
may be made from compliance with Section 148(1) of the MCA,
the Company shall be precluded from effecting any transfer of
the Deposited Securities other than through the Depository in
accordance with the Rules. Instruments of transfer of any
Deposited Security may be in the form of electronic records of
the Depository relating to such transfers. For so long as the
Company is listed on the Secondary Stock Exchange and the
shares of the Company are deposited with the Depository, the
Company shall procure from the Depository a copy of the Record
of Depositors as at the close of each market day and such
Record of Depositors shall be entered in the Company's
Register upon receipt of the same.

(B) Where:-

(@a)  for so long as the shares of the Company are listed on
the Designated Stock Exchange; and

(bb)  the Company is exempted from compliance with Section
14 of the Central Depositories Act or Section 29 of the
Securities Industry (Central Depositories) (Amendment)
Act 1998 of Malaysia, as the case may be, under the
Rules of the Depository in respect of such securities,

the Company shall, upon request of a securities holder, permit a
transmission of securities held by such securities holder from the
register of holders maintained by the share registrar of the Company in
the jurisdiction of the Designated Stock Exchange, to the register of
holders maintained by the share registrar of the Company in Malaysia
and vice versa provided that there shall be no change in the ownership
of such securities (save for the Depository being a joint holder of
Deposited Securities).

The procedures for the transmission of the shares of the Company
between the Secondary Stock Exchange and the Designated Stock
Exchange shall be determined by the Directors from time to time
subject to and in accordance with the relevant rules and regulations of
the Designated Stock Exchange and the Secondary Stock Exchange.
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The instrument of transfer shall be executed by or on behalf of the
transferor and the transferee provided that the Board may dispense
with the execution of the instrument of transfer by the transferee in any
case which it thinks fit in its discretion to do so. Without prejudice to
Bye-law 48, the Board may also resolve, either generally or in any
particular case, upon request by either the transferor or transferee, to
accept mechanically executed transfers. The transferor shall be
deemed to remain the holder of the share until the name of the
transferee is entered in the Register in respect thereof. Nothing in the
Bye-laws shall preclude the Board from recognising a renunciation of
the allotment or provisional allotment of any share by the aliottee in
favour of some other person.

No transfer shall be made to an infant or to a person of unsound mind
or under other legal disability. The Board may refuse to register a
transfer of any share to more than four joint holders.

The Board in so far as permitted by any Applicable Law may, in its
absolute discretion, at any time and from time to time transfer any
share upon the Register to any branch register or any share on any
branch register to the Register or any other branch register. In the
event of any such transfer, the Member requesting such transfer shall
bear the cost of effecting the transfer unless the Board otherwise
determines.

Unless the Board otherwise agrees (which agreement may be on such
terms and subject to such conditions as the Board in its absolute
discretion may from time to time determine, and which agreement the
Board shall, without giving any reason therefore, be entitled in its
absolute discretion to give or withhold), no shares upon the Register
shall be transferred to any branch register nor shall shares on any
branch register be transferred to the Register or any other branch
register and all transfers and other documents of title shall be lodged
for registration, and registered, in the case of any shares on a branch
register, at the relevant Registration Office, and, in the case of any
shares on the Register, at the Office or such other place in Bermuda at
which the Register is kept in accordance with the Act.

Without limiting the generality of the Bye-laws 48A, 48B, 49 and 50 as
stated above, the Board may decline to recognise any instrument of
transfer unless:-

(A) afee of such maximum sum as the Designated Stock Exchange
and where applicable the Secondary Stock Exchange may
determine to be payable or such lesser sum as the Board may
from time to time require is paid to the Company in respect
thereof;

(B) theinstrument of transfer is in respect of only one class of share;

(C) the instrument of transfer is lodged at the Office or such other
place in Bermuda at which the Register is kept in accordance
with the Act or the Registration Office (as the case may be)
accompanied by the relevant share certificate(s) and such other
evidence as the Board may reasonably require to show the right
of the transferor to make the transfer (and, if the instrument of
transfer is executed by some other person on his behalf, the
authority of that person so to do); and
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(D) if applicable, the instrument of transfer is duly and properly
stamped.

Notwithstanding any other provision of the Bye-laws, the Company
must not prevent or interfere with the registration of a transfer of shares
in a manner which is contrary to the listing rules of the Designated
Stock Exchange or the ASX Settlement Operating Rules and where
applicable the Secondary Stock Exchange.

If the Board refuses to register a transfer of any share, it shall, within
two months after the date on which the transfer was lodged with the
Company, send to each of the transferor and transferee Notice of the
refusal.

The registration of transfers of shares or of any class of shares may,
after Notice has been given by advertisement in an appointed
newspaper and, where applicable, any other newspapers in
accordance with the requirements of any Designated Stock Exchange
and the ASX Settlement Operating Rules and where applicable the
Secondary Stock Exchange or by any means in such manner as may
be accepted by the Designated Stock Exchange and where applicable
the Secondary Stock Exchange to that effect be suspended at such
times and for such periods (not exceeding in the whole 30 days in any
year or any one period of more than five consecutive Business Days)
as the Board may determine.

Except as permitted by the listing rules of the Designated Stock
Exchange, and where applicable, the Secondary Stock Exchange:

(A)  the holder of a Restricted Security will not dispose of, or enter
into any agreement to dispose of, such a Restricted Security
during the Escrow Period; and

(B) the Company will refuse to acknowledge an assignment or
disposal (including registering a transfer) of Restricted
Securities during the Escrow Period; and

(C) the holder of a Restricted Security is not entitled to participate in
any return of capital in respect of the Restricted Securities during
the Escrow Period; and

(D) during a breach of the listing rules of the Designated Stock
Exchange and where applicable the Secondary Stock Exchange
relating to Restricted Securities or a breach of any Restriction
Agreement, the holder of the Restricted Securities is not entitled
to any dividend or distribution, or voting rights, in respect of the
Restricted Securities.

If a Restricted Security is in the same class as the Company's shares
quoted on the Designated Stock Exchange, the Designated Stock
Exchange will apply a holding lock to the Restricted Security for the
duration of the Escrow Period.
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(g) Liquidation (Bye-laws 165 and 166)

Subject to the Act and any rights or restrictions attached to a class of
shares, the Board shall have power in the name and on behalf of the
Company to present a petition to the court for the Company to be
wound up. A resolution that the Company be wound up by the court or
be wound up voluntarily shall be a special resolution.

If the Company shall be wound up (whether the liquidation is voluntary
or by the court) the liquidator may, with the authority of a special
resolution and any other sanction required by the Act, divide among
the Members in specie or kind the whole or any part of the assets of
the Company and whether or not the assets shall consist of properties
of one kind or shall consist of properties to be divided as aforesaid of
different kinds, and may for such purpose set such value as he deems
fair upon any one or more class or classes of property and may
determine how such division shall be carried out as between the
Members or different classes of Members. The liquidator may, with the
like authority, vest any part of the assets in trustees upon such trusts
for the benefit of the Members as the liquidator with the like authority
shall think fit, and the liquidation of the Company may be closed and
the Company dissolved, but so that no contributory shall be compelled
to accept any shares or other property in respect of which there is a
liability.

14.3 LIMITATION ON THE RIGHT TO HOLD SECURITIES AND/OR EXERCISE VOTING RIGHTS

()

(ii)

Quotation on the ASX

Our Shares listed on the ASX are presently held on the Australian register in
uncertificated form. Our Company, through our Australian Share Registrar,
Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited, operates an issuer sponsored sub-
register. In addition, our Company participates in the Australian electronic security
transfer and settlement system known as CHESS. Shareholders whose shares are
held on the Australian register and who elect to have their shareholding managed by a
broker will have their holding recorded on the CHESS sub-register. All other
shareholders whose shares are held on the Australian register will have their holding
recorded on the issuer sponsored sub-register.

Quotation on the Official List

As our Shares are proposed for quotation on the Official List of Bursa Securities, such
Shares must be prescribed as shares required to be deposited with Bursa Depository.
If holders whose Shares are trading on ASX wish to trade their Shares on Bursa
Securities, they must submit a request for removal of their Shares from the Australian
register to the Malaysian register, for deposit into Bursa Depository.

Dealing in Shares deposited with Bursa Depository may only be effected by a person
having a securities account (i.e. CDS account) with Bursa Depository ("Depositor”) by
means of entries in the securities account of that Depositor.

Depositors (holding shares jointly with Bursa Depository) will be recognised as
members of our Company by virtue of their names being contained in the Record of
Depositors entered in the register of members of our Company at our registered office
in Bermuda and in the branch register of members of our Company in Malaysia and
will be entitled to all rights, benefits, powers and privileges and be subject to all
liabilities, duties and obligations in respect of, or arising from, such Shares.
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Subject to the above, there is no limitation on the right to our Shares, including any limitation
on the right of a resident or Malaysian shareholder to hold or exercise voting rights on our
Shares, which is imposed by the Bermuda law or by our Memorandum of Association and Bye-
laws.

144 REPATRIATION OF CAPITAL, REMITTANCE OF PROFIT AND TAXATION

The relevant government laws, decrees, regulations and/or other requirements which may
affect the repatriation of capital and remittance of profit by or to our Company are set out below.

(i)

(i)

Australia

The vast majority of the manganese ore sold by OMM, an Australian tax resident, is to
OMS, a Singaporean tax resident. Both OMM and OMS are wholly owned by our
Company, making them related parties for Australian tax purposes. Australia has strict
transfer pricing laws that operate to ensure that cross border related party transactions
are priced in a manner comparable to that of unrelated parties, with the intent of
eliminating contrived profit shifting between countries. Tax assessments may be
amended and penalties imposed where the transfer pricing rules are breached.

The Australian transfer pricing legislation is primarily contained in Subdivision 815-B of
the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997 (Cth).

OMM has undertaken significant work to ensure that the pricing used by OMM for the
sale of manganese ore to OMS is comparable to that of the pricing for unrelated parties
under comparable circumstances. Importantly, OMM has sought for their pricing to be
reviewed by independent transfer pricing specialists who have concluded that the
pricing used by OMM is reasonable, as documented in OMM's formal Transfer Pricing
Policy.

Bermuda

The BCA provides that a company shall not declare or pay a dividend or make a
distribution out of contributed surplus, if there are reasonable grounds for believing that
(a) the company is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as they
become due; or (b) the realisable value of the company’s assets would thereby be less
than its liabilities. For this purpose, “contributed surplus” is defined in the BCA to
include proceeds arising from donated shares, credits resulting from the redemption or
conversion of shares at less than the amount set up as nominal capital and donations
of cash and other assets to the company.

Taxation

Under present Bermuda law, no Bermuda withholding tax on dividends or other
distributions, or any Bermuda tax computed on profits or income or on any capital
asset, gain or appreciation will be payable by an exempted company or its operations,
and there is no Bermuda tax in the nature of estate duty or inheritance tax applicable
to shares, debentures or other obligations of the company held by non-residents of
Bermuda. Furthermore, a company may apply to the Minister of Finance of Bermuda
for an assurance, under the Exempted Undertakings Tax Protection Act 1966 of
Bermuda, that no such taxes shall be so applicable to it or any of its operations until 31
March 2035, although this assurance will not prevent the imposition of any Bermuda
tax payable in relation to any land in Bermuda leased or let to the company or to
persons ordinarily resident in Bermuda.
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(iif)

(iv)

Exchange control

Exchange control is operated under the Exchange Control Act 1972 of Bermuda (and
the regulations made thereunder) and is administered by the Bermuda Monetary
Authority. Generally, any payment by a person resident in Bermuda to or for the credit
of a person resident outside Bermuda will require prior approval from the Bermuda
Monetary Authority.

Exempted companies are usually designated non-resident for Bermuda exchange
control purposes and are able to conduct their day-to-day operations free of exchange
control formalities. Such companies are able to pay dividends, distribute capital, open
and maintain bank accounts in any foreign currency and to acquire assets and meet all
liabilities without reference to the Bermuda Monetary Authority.

Issues and transfers of securities in exempted companies involving hon-residents for
exchange control purposes must receive prior approval from the Bermuda Monetary
Authority. However, the Bermuda Monetary Authority has granted to all Bermuda
companies with voting shares listed on an appointed stock exchange a general
permission for the issue and subsequent transfer of any securities of such companies
from and/or to a non-resident of Bermuda for so long as any voting shares of such
companies remain so listed.

Malaysia

There are foreign exchange control policies in Malaysia which support the monitoring
of capital flows into and out of the country in order to preserve its financial and
economic stability. The foreign exchange control framework in Malaysia is governed by
the Financial Services Act 2013, Islamic Financial Services Act 2013 and FE Notices.
These regulations regulate both residents and non-residents of Malaysia. Under the
current FE Notices issued by BNM, non-residents are free to repatriate capital, profits,
dividends, rental, fees and interest arising from investments in Malaysia, provided that
such repatriation is made in foreign currency except in the currency of Israel. The
repatriation of funds is subject to the applicable reporting requirements and any
withholding tax.

PRC

The foreign exchange system has been established and reformed gradually with the
modernisation and marketisation of the PRC. The fundamental regulation relating to
foreign currency exchange of PRC is the Regulations on the Foreign Exchange which
became effective as of 5 August 2008. In general, RMB is convertible for current
account transactions, whereas capital account transactions require the approval or
registration from the State Administration of Foreign Exchange; all foreign debt is
subject to planning and monitoring at the macroeconomic level. The foreign investor of
the foreign-invested enterprises may remit abroad its dividend and other capital
obtained by ways of reduction of registered capital, share transfer and liquidation.

Pursuant to the Circular on Reforming the Management Approach regarding the
Foreign Exchange Capital Settlement of Foreign-invested Enterprise (*“SAFE Circular
19") promulgated by the State Administration of Foreign Exchange, foreign-invested
enterprises are allowed to settle their foreign exchange capital at their discretion. The
RMB converted from the foreign exchange capital will be kept in a designated account
and if a foreign-invested enterprise needs to make further payment from such account,
it still needs to provide supporting documents and proceed with the review process with
the banks. Furthermore, SAFE Circular 19 stipulates that the use of capital by foreign-
invested enterprises shall follow the principles of authenticity and self-use within the
business scope of enterprises.
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(v) Singapore
As at the LPD, there are no exchange control restrictions in effect in Singapore which
may affect the repatriation of capital and remittance of profits by or to our Company.
14.5 MATERIAL CONTRACTS
Our Group has not entered into any material contracts that are not in the ordinary course of our
Group’s business within the period covered by the historical financial information as disclosed
in this Prospectus up to the date of this Prospectus.
14.6 MATERIAL LITIGATION
As at the LPD, we are not engaged in any governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings,
including those relating to bankruptcy, receivership or similar proceedings which may have or
have had, material or significant effects on our financial position or profitability, in the 12 months
immediately preceding the date of this Prospectus.
14.7 CONSENTS

The written consents of the Principal Adviser, the Legal Advisers, the Company Secretaries,
the Assistant Company Secretary, the Australian Agent, the Malaysian Agent, the Australian
Share Registrar and the Malaysian Share Registrar as listed in the Corporate Directory of this
Prospectus for the inclusion in this Prospectus of their names in the form and context in which
such names appear have been given before the issue of this Prospectus and have not
subsequently been withdrawn.

The written consent of Foo Kon Tan LLP for the inclusion of its name and the Accountants’
Report, and all references thereto in the form and context in which they are contained in this
Prospectus has been given before the issue of this Prospectus and has not subsequently been
withdrawn.

The written consent of AlloyConsult for the inclusion of its name, the Industry Overview and all
references thereto in the form and context in which they are contained in this Prospectus has
been given before the issue of this Prospectus and has not subsequently been withdrawn.

THE REST OF THIS PAGE HAS BEEN INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK —‘

325



14.

Bermuda Company No.: EC 24140
ARBN: 081 028 337
Malaysia Foreign Company Registration No.: 202002000012 (995782-P)

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION (Cont'd)

14.8

DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE FOR INSPECTION

Copies of the following documents may be inspected at our Malaysian Agent's office at Unit
30-01, Level 30, Tower A, Vertical Business Suite, Avenue 3, Bangsar South, No. 8, Jalan
Kerinchi, 59200 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia during office hours for a period of 6 months from the
date of this Prospectus:-

(i) our Memorandum of Association and Bye-laws;

(i) the service contract of our Chief Executive Officer, Low Ngee Tong, as referred to in
Section 9.2.6 of this Prospectus;

(iii) our audited consolidated financial statements for the past 4 FYEs 31 December 2017,
31 December 2018, 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2020;

(iv) the audited financial statements of each of our subsidiaries for the past 4 FYEs 31
December 2017, 31 December 2018, 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2020;

(v) the Accountants’ Report as included in Section 13 of this Prospectus;
(vi) the Industry Overview as included in Section 8 of this Prospectus; and

(vii) the letters of consent referred to in Section 14.7 of this Prospectus.

THE REST OF THIS PAGE HAS BEEN INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK
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ANNEXURE A: SUMMARY OF RELEVANT BNM RULES ON INVESTMENT IN FOREIGN
CURRENCY ASSETS

The removal of Shares from the Malaysian register to the Australian register is regarded as an
investment in foreign currency assets that would require shareholders to comply with the FE Notices
issued by BNM. Shareholders who wish to remove their Shares from the Malaysian register to the
Australian register for trading on the ASX at any time after the Secondary Listing are reminded to comply
with the FE Notices and thus may be required to seek the prior approval of BNM. There is no restriction
for a non-resident of Malaysia to subscribe for or purchase securities in Malaysia.

The prevailing rules on investment in foreign currency assets (which include OMH Shares) applicable
to a resident of Malaysia are as follows:

Sources of Pua@éx |  Investment in Foreign Currency Assets*

Investment funded through conversion of ringgit to | ¢ A resident without domestic ringgit borrowing
foreign currency. is free to invest any amount in foreign currency
assets onshore and abroad.

o A resident with domestic ringgit borrowing is
free to invest:

o Up to RM1 million equivalent in aggregate
per calendar year for resident individuals; or

° Up to RM50 million equivalent per calendar
year in aggregate on corporate group basis
for resident entities (include resident entities
within the group with parent-
subsidiary relationship),

sourced from conversion of ringgit into foreign
currency, trade foreign currency account, a
borrowing in foreign currency from a licensed
onshore bank for purposes other than direct
investment abroad and swapping of a ringgit-
denominated financial asset in Malaysia for a
financial asset outside Malaysia.

Investment using foreign currency fund. Residents with or without domestic ringgit borrowing
are allowed to invest in foreign currency assets up to
any amount using (i) foreign currency funds sourced
from abroad; (ii) approved borrowing from foreign
currency*; and (iii) foreign currency funds sourced from
a borrowing in foreign currency from a licenced
onshore bank for direct investment abroad.

Note:

*  Aresidentis allowed to borrow in foreign currency
up to RM100 million equivalent in aggregate from
a non-resident outside the resident entity’s group.

Notes:

* Subject to the requirements of the FE Notices where applicable also to resident individuals and resident
entities.

o “Borrowing” includes credit facility or financing facility, redeemable preference share, Islamic redeemable

preference share, corporate bond or sukuk and "domestic ringgit borrowing” includes borrowing in ninggit
obtained by a resident from another resident.
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